









University of Cagliari

PhD Degree in Neuroscience Cycle XXXII

Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's Disease: role in neuropathology and L-DOPA-induced motor complications.

BIO/14 PHARMACOLOGY

PhD Student:

Dr. Laura Boi

Coordinator of the PhD Programme:

Prof. Paola Fadda

Supervisor:

Prof. Anna Rosa Carta

Final exam. Academic Year 2018 – 2019 Thesis defence: January-February 2020 Session

ABSTRACT

Background: Parkinson Disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by the progressive dopaminergic loss in the Substantia Nigra (SN) and the presence of intracellular Lewy Bodies (LB) containing deposits of the protein α -synuclein (α -syn). Several studies identified the neuroinflammatory processes as important factors in the neuropathology of PD, involving mainly microglia cells. Indeed, in PD microglia lose their ability to autoregulate, sustaining a chronic pro-inflammatory environment in dopaminergic areas which exacerbates the neurodegenerative process. Moreover, recent pre-clinical studies have suggested a role of neuroinflammation in the pathophysiology of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia, showing that the chronic administration of L-DOPA exacerbates the pre-existing inflammatory environment which may contribute to the altered neurotransmission associated with dyskinesia.

The main component of LB is α -synuclein in its fibrillar form, but recent evidence suggests that the most toxic strain of α -synuclein are small soluble α -synuclein oligomers. Moreover, structure-based features have been suggested to mediate the toxicity of highly toxic α -synuclein oligomers. While the central role of α -synuclein in PD is generally acknowledged, the mechanisms underlying the neurotoxicity of α -synuclein oligomers, and their pathological interaction with Central Nervous System (CNS) immune-cells within PD-related neuroinflammation is still largely unknown.

In the first part of our project (part I), we tested the neurotoxicity *in vivo* of α -synuclein oligomers previously recognized to hold a structure that confers high toxicity in *in vitro* models, and we focused on the inflammatory response elicited by these toxic α -synuclein oligomers and on their interaction with microglial cells.

Thereafter, in the second part of our project (part II) we addressed the role of neuroinflammation in L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. L-DOPA therapy is the gold standard for PD, however long-term administration leads to the onset of L-DOPA-induced abnormal involuntary movements named dyskinesia. Recent studies have suggested that neuroinflammatory processes play a pivotal role in dyskinesia, and the proinflammatory cytokine Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)- α may be a key player being also involved in synaptic strength mechanisms and in angiogenesis, another important component in the neuropathology of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia (LID). Here, we tested whether the immunomodulatory drugs thalidomide (TLD) and its more potent derivative 3,6-dithiothalidomide (DTT), which specifically inhibit the synthesis of TNF- α , were effective in alleviating the L-DOPA-induced dyskinetic outcome in a rat model of PD.

Methods I: α -synuclein oligomers (0,5 mg/ml) were unilaterally infused in the rat SN. One, three and five months after the infusion, rats were subjected to the Beam Challenging Test in order

evaluate motor performance. Then, brains were collected for immunohistochemical analysis of tyrosine hydroxylase in the SN, and measure of dopamine levels in striatal tissue by HPLC. Microglia reactivity, inflammatory markers and phosphorylated α -synuclein (p- α syn) were analyzed in the SN pars compacta (SNpc) by confocal microscopy.

Methods II: Rats were stereotaxically infused with 6-OHDA into the left medial forebrain bundle. Three weeks after 6-OHDA infusion, rats received ten days treatment with L-DOPA plus benserazide (6 mg/kg each) and thalidomide (70 mg/kg) or 3,6'-dithiothalidomide (56 mg/kg), and Abnormal Involuntary Movements (AIMs) as well as contralateral turning were evaluated daily. Rats were euthanized 1 hour after the last L-DOPA injection, and levels of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines, microglia and angiogenesis markers were quantified in their striatum (Str) and SN pars reticulata (SNpr) to evaluate neuroinflammation and angiogenesis. We also evaluated GLUR1 levels in Str as a marker of post-synaptic changes.

Results I: oligomer infusion caused a gradual development of PD neuropathology. Microgliosis and increased levels of inflammatory cytokines were measured one month after oligomers-infusion, without any evidence of neurodegeneration and behavioral deficits. Notably, three months after the injection, rats displayed motor impairment, associated with 40% loss of dopaminergic neurons in the oligomers-treated SN, reaching a 50% cell loss after five months. Dopamine levels were significantly reduced by 40% in the striatum homolateral to α -synuclein infusion. An intense inflammatory response with reactive microglia and high levels of TNF- α immunoreactivity were detected in SNpc. Large deposits of p- α syn were found within microglial cells three and five months post-infusion.

Results II: TLD and DTT significantly reduced the severity of AIMs while not affecting the contralateral turning. Both drugs inhibited the L-DOPA-induced microgliosis and excessive TNF- α in the Str and SNpr, while restoring control levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukine (IL)-10 at striatal level. DTT inhibited L-DOPA-induced angiogenesis in SNpr and Str. GLUR1 analysis revealed that L-DOPA-induced an overexpression of this GLUR1 subunit in the Str, that was restored to normal levels by DTT

Discussion I: we showed that particularly structured α -synuclein oligomers trigger a neurotoxic process accompanied by a neuroinflammatory response that precedes cell death, and by the development of PD-related motor symptoms. Reactive microglia acquired a proinflammatory phenotype, and the presence of deposits of p- α syn suggest an intense phagocytosis of the protein. These data indicate that the local intracerebral infusion of α -synuclein oligomers model the α -

synuclein-induced neuropathology in PD, and suggest that the aberrant activation of microglial cells as a mechanism of α -synuclein oligomers-induced- neurotoxicity.

Discussion II: data from the second part of our study showed that the inhibition of TNF- α production by TLD and its analogue DTT attenuated the severity of LID by breaking the chronic inflammatory cycle induced by L-DOPA, restoring the cytokines to near physiological levels and inhibiting angiogenesis. TLD and the more recently synthetized analogues are FDA-approved drugs for several chronic inflammatory treatments. The present study suggest that thalidomide and more potent analogues may represent an effective therapeutic strategy to alleviate LID.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acronyms and abbreviations	1
Background	3
1. Neuroinflammation in PD neuropathology	5
1.1 Microglial cells: the immunocompetent cells in our brain	5
1.2 The role of microglia in Parkinson's disease neuropathology	8
1.3 Microglia phenotypes in PD	11
2. α-synuclein and PD	13
2.1 Structure and physiological function	13
2.2 Pathological α-syn	16
2.3 α-syn oligomers-mediated toxicity	18
2.3.1 Synaptic impairment	18
2.3.2 Toxicity against structural elements of the cells	19
2.3.3 Clearance impairment	19
2.3.4 Mitochondrial dysfunction	20
2.3.5 Neuroinflammation	21
2.4 Spreading and prion-like behavior of α -synuclein	23
2.5 α-synuclein-based models of PD	25
2.5.1 Transgenic models	25
2.5.2 Virus-based models	26
2.5.3 Exogenous α-syn injection	26
3. Neuroinflammation in LID	27
4. Angiogenesis	30
5. TLD and derivatives	31

Aim of the study

33

Methods	36
1. Methods I	37
1.1 Oligomer synthesis	37
1.2 Animals and stereotaxical surgery	37
1.3 Beam Challenging Test	38
1.4 Immunohistochemistry	38
1.5 Stereological counting of TH immunoreactivity	39
1.6 Microscopy analysis	39
1.7 HPLC	40
1.8 Phagocytosis assay	40
1.9 Statistical analysis	41
2. Methods II	42
2.1 Drugs	42
2.2 Animals and pharmacological treatments	43
2.3 Behavioral studies	43
2.4 Immunohistochemistry	44
2.5 Confocal microscopy analysis	44
2.6 ELISA assay	45
2.7 Statistical analysis	46
Results	47
1. Results I	48
1.1 The intranigral infusion of α -syn oligomers induced progressive motor deficits	48
1.2 The α -syn oligomers infusion reduced TH+ neurons in SNpc and reduced striatal dopa	mine
levels	49
1.3 The infusion of α -syn oligomers in SNpc caused a decrease in striatal dopamine content	51
1.4 The infusion of α -syn oligomers in SNpc induced prolonged microglial reactivity and	

1.5 Microglial cells in the oligomer-injected SNpc were positive for phosphorylated

52

increase of TNF- α in the SNpc

α-synuclein	54
1.6 Pre-exposure to α -syn oligomers reduced the phagocytic activity of microglia in vitro	55
2. Results II	57
2.1 Motor responses	57
2.2 Neuroinflammation	59
2.3 Angiogenesis	64
2.4 Striatal GLUR1 Protein Levels	64
Discussion	68
1. Discussion I	69
2. Discussion II	74
Conclusions	79
References	81
Acknowledgments	112

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AAV adeno-associated virus
ALP autophagy-lysosomal pathway
AMPA (S)-a-amino-3-hydroxy- 5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
BBB blood-brain barrier
CNS Central Nervous System
COX cyclooxygenase
DARPP-32 DA- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein, Mr 32 kDa
DAT dopamine transporter
DTT 3,6-dithiothalidomide
ER Endoplasmic Reticulum
ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinases
GWAS genome-wide association studies
HLA human leucocyte antigen
IL interleukine
IMIDs immunomodulatory drugs
iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase
KO knockout
LB Lewy Bodies
LID L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia
LPS lipopolysaccharide
LRRK2 leucine-rich repeat kinase 2
MHC II major histocompatibility complex II
write-ii major mstocompationity complex-ii
MPTP 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
MPTP 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine MSNs medium spiny neurons
MPTP 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine MSNs medium spiny neurons NF-kB Nuclear Factor kappaB

NOX2 PHOX NADPH Oxidase

PD Parkinson Disease PDGFB human platelet-derived growth factor subunit B PFF preformed fibrils PLD2 phospholipase D2 p- α syn phosphorylated α -synuclein p- α syn phosphorylated α -synuclein RNS reactive nitrogen species ROS reactive oxygen species SN Substantia Nigra SNARE N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor SNpc Substantia Nigra pars compacta SNpr Substantia Nigra pars reticulata TH Tyrosine Hydroxylase Thy11 mouse thymus cell antigen TLD thalidomide TLRs toll-like receptors TNF-α Tumor Necrosis Factor UPS ubiquitin-proteasome system **VEGF Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor** VMAT2 vesicular transporter of monoamines WT wild-type α -syn α -synuclein

BACKGROUND

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease, identified for the first time by James Parkinson in 1817 (Parkinson (2002). Neuropathological traits of PD are the progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in the SN (Substantia Nigra) (Dauer & Przedborski 2003, Erkkinen et al 2018, Lees et al 2009) and the presence in the brain of LB (Lewy Bodies), which are deposits containing fibrillar α -synuclein (α -syn) (Baba et al 1998, Spillantini et al 1997) and other proteins such as ubiquitin, tau, parkin, heat shock proteins, oxidized/nitrated proteins, cytoskeletal proteins, proteasomal and lysosomal components and others (Xia et al 2008). Dopaminergic loss in the SN leads to motor dysfunctions, such as bradykinesia, resting tremors, rigidity and postural instability. Furthermore, PD patients show non-motor symptoms, such as anxiety, depression, sleep disorders and cognitive impairments (Chaudhuri & Odin 2010, Chaudhuri & Schapira 2009), which are probably related to the degeneration in other nondopaminergic areas (Braak et al 2003)

The treatment with L-DOPA represents the gold standard for PD (Carlsson et al 1957, Rascol 2000). Unfortunately, long-term L-DOPA therapy leads to the onset of motor complications, such as motor fluctuations and L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia (LID) (Jankovic & Aguilar 2008). Conventionally, LID is a peak-dose dyskinesia which manifests with involuntary monophasic, dystonic, choreiform, and non-rhythmic movements of facial muscles, neck, limbs, and body axis, typically on the side of the body more severely affected by PD. The onset and intensity of dyskinetic movements involves several factors, such as the severity of dopaminergic degeneration and the L-DOPA dosage, administration route and regimen (Rascol et al 2015).

On the last two decades a growing amount of evidence suggested that neuroinflammation is a common trademark in different aspects of PD. While the role of a chronic and unremitting neuroinflammatory response in the neuropathology of PD is largely ascertained, the detrimental relationship with toxic forms of α -syn is becoming to be elucidated. Moreover, more recently studies point to the involvement of inflammatory mediators in the development of L-DOPA induced motor complications.

1. Neuroinflammation in PD neuropatholgy

An important histopathological marker of PD is neuroinflammation. In literature, lots of evidences show that neuroinflammation, and specifically microglia-mediated processes, play a key role in the development of PD (Hirsch & Hunot 2009, Hunot & Hirsch 2003, Joers et al 2017, Tansey & Goldberg 2010). Indeed, activated microglia, high levels of cytokines, Nuclear Factor kappaB (NF-kB) pathway activation, and oxidative damage have been reported in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and brains of PD-affected patients, post-mortem PD brains at autopsy (Hirsch & Hunot 2009, Hunot & Hirsch 2003, McGeer & McGeer 1998) and in most experimental models of PD (Castano et al 1998, Czlonkowska et al 1996, Gao et al 2002, Herrera et al 2000, Kohutnicka et al 1998, Mogi et al 2000).

1.1 Microglial cells: the immunocompetent cells in our brain

Microglial cells represent the main immunocompetent macrophagic cells in the brain, in charge of immune surveillance and defense as well as maintenance of Central Nervous System (CNS) homeostasis (Streit 2002). The origin of microglial cells has been discussed for a long time: someone claimed that they derive from mononuclear cells in blood or perivascular cells and others believed that they derive from the neuroectoderm as the other glial cells (Davies et al 2013, Ginhoux et al 2010, Greter & Merad 2013, Mizutani et al 2012); but, the current hypothesis is that microglia derive from the yolk sac during embryogenesis (Alliot et al 1999, Ginhoux & Prinz 2015, Li & Barres 2018).

As a component of the immune innate system, microglia regularly assay the surrounding environment through surface receptors, searching for signals of external insults, such as pathogens (Davalos et al 2005, Lehnardt 2010, Nimmerjahn et al 2005), as well as internal signals due to damaged or dying cells (Bessis et al 2007, Hanisch & Kettenmann 2007). If some of these signals is detected, microglial cells activate to protect the CNS, solve the damage and to promote tissue repair (Goldmann & Prinz 2013, Minghetti & Levi 1998). Microglial activation entails rapid changes in cell morphology, represented by the transition from a stellate aspect, with small cell body and long ramified processes, to an ameboid aspect, with large cell body and short processes, and variations in phagocytic activity and release of cytotoxic and neuroprotective signaling molecules (Hanisch & Kettenmann 2007, Ransohoff & Perry 2009). As mentioned, microglial cells oversee phagocytosis in the brain. Similar to peripheral macrophages, microglia-mediated phagocytosis includes the three steps "find-me", "eat-me" and "digest-me" (Sierra et al 2013, Wolf et al 2017). Different classes of surface receptors directly recognize specific molecules, as phosphatidylserine and oligosaccharides, expressed in the surface of their targets (pathogens, dead cells or protein aggregates) and initiate the process. An important role in recognition of targets, including α -syn, is played by the toll-like receptors (TLRs) (Stefanova et al 2011).

Beyond the immune surveillance, microglial cells contribute to CNS homeostasis regulating neuronal proliferation and differentiation and affecting the formation, remodeling and deletion of synaptic connections in the healthy brain (Bialas & Stevens 2013, Blank & Prinz 2013, Hughes 2012, Lawson et al 1990, Perry et al 2007, Perry & O'Connor 2010, Tremblay et al 2010). In literature, there are clear evidences that microglia can influence neuronal membrane properties and synaptic connectivity releasing soluble signaling factors (Ferrini & De Koninck 2013, Lewitus et al 2016, Parkhurst et al 2013) or interacting with synaptic elements (Hong et al 2016, Schafer et al 2013, Sipe et al 2016, Tremblay et al 2010). Traditionally, cytokines released by microglia have been considered as a component of central immune system, but growing evidences are indicating that these microglia-released factors cover a prominent role as neuromodulatory molecules in the CNS (Marin & Kipnis 2013, Salter & Beggs 2014, York et al 2018). Of note, several studies identified Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-α as an important regulator of neuronal function and synaptic plasticity (Beattie et al 2002, Leonoudakis et al 2004, Stellwagen & Malenka 2006). On one hand, microglia can sense neuronal activity and modulate synaptic function through the expression of numerous receptors for neurotransmitters and neuromodulators (Carta et al 2017, Pocock & Kettenmann 2007, Tremblay et al 2010); on the other hand, microglia release cytokines which can bind to receptors located in neurons or in the same microglial cells, providing paracrine as well as autocrine communication. Squarzoni et al., showed that during prenatal phase, microglia impact on synaptic circuitries in the forebrain (Squarzoni et al 2014); while the postnatal phase is characterized by a microglia-mediated pruning, necessary to remodel neural networks (Paolicelli et al 2011, Schafer et al 2013).

Conventionally, activated peripheral macrophages can assume two different phenotypes named M1 and M2 which correspond to a pro-inflammatory and to an anti-inflammatory profile, respectively (Mantovani et al 2004, Verreck et al 2004). Hence, the former is associated with

cytotoxicity and the other with repair and restoring (Mackaness 1962, Mills et al 2000). M1 activation state is associated with the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-6, IL-12, and IL-1 β and the upregulation of cell surface markers such as major histocompatibility complex-II (MHC-II) and CD86 (Martinez et al 2006, Nau et al 2002). M2 activation state includes three subtypes, named M2a, associated with the suppression of inflammation; M2b, related to phagocytosis; and M2c, implicated in tissue remodeling and immunoregulation (Biswas & Mantovani 2010, Edwards et al 2006, Martinez & Gordon 2014, Stout et al 2005). Each phenotype is activated by different stimuli: M2a is stimulated by IL-4, M2b by TLR ligands and M2c by the cytokine IL-10. However, following studies showed that this classification is not realistic, because different pathways overlap, indicating that the states of activation are dynamic and not so polarized (Martinez & Gordon 2014, Murray et al 2014, Zhu & Paul 2010). The duration of the inflammatory response depends on the stimulus; persistent inflammatory stimuli lead to a chronic state of inflammation.

When an insult occurs in the CNS, the immune response, can be acute or chronic. The acute response is transitory and during this process microglia proliferate, switch the morphology from resting to activated and act with the aim to limit the damage, promote the repair process as well as improve neuronal survival. When the insult persists, the response becomes chronic and microglial cells change the expression of surface markers toward a chronic activation profile. It is not clear if this response, named microgliosis, is protective and beneficial or if it is detrimental and worsen the degenerative process. In addition, whether in PD it is a pathogenic response or a disease-initiating factor is not understood (Joers et al 2017).

Similar to peripheral macrophages, microglia can acquire different phenotypes and accomplish specific effector functions depending on the type, intensity and duration of the stimulus (Olah et al 2011, Perry et al 2007, Tansey & Goldberg 2010). Once activated, microglia begin to synthesize various cytokines, growth factors and cell surface molecules. Based on similarities between microglia and macrophages, the microglial responses have been classified with the same M1 and M2 system utilized for macrophages. However, this system is oversimplified and, remarkably, microglial phenotypes are heterogeneous and can exist as a continuum of intermediates between pro- and anti-inflammatory functions. Furthermore, several evidences demonstrate that not always microglia and macrophages respond similarly to the same stimuli

(Melief et al 2012, Zeiner et al 2015). To make even more complex this scenarious, anatomical regional differences have been reported in microglia distribution and phenotypes. Indeed, microglia population is denser in the telencephalon and, within the same region, myelinated regions have more microglia density than no-myelinated regions (Lawson et al 1990, Mittelbronn et al 2001). Notably, within the mesencephalon, the area with the highest microglia density is the SN, especially in the pars reticulata (Lawson et al 1990, Perry 1998).

Moreover, gene expression analysis and immunohistochemical studies found an heterogeneity within the mature microglial population in different areas of the brain (de Haas et al 2008, Doorn et al 2015, Grabert et al 2016, Lawson et al 1990, Sharaf et al 2013, Yang et al 2013); and De Biase et al. demonstrated that local regulatory cues determine the region-specific phenotype of microglial cells (De Biase et al 2017). These differences between areas can contribute to regional vulnerability in a diseased state; for instance, the expression of TNF- α mRNA is higher in rat microglia isolated from the SN, as compared to microglia isolated from hippocampus (Doorn et al 2015), suggesting that a region-related susceptibility may exist. This idea is also supported by the different gene expression profile among young and aged microglia across brain regions (Grabert et al 2016).

1.2 The role of microglia in Parkinson's disease neuropathology

Markers of inflammation, including pro-inflammatory cytokines, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and as well as excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) production, were found in the brain, CSF and blood of PD patients, and in experimental models of PD (Joers et al 2017, Lopez Gonzalez et al 2016, Mogi et al 2007, Sawada et al 2006). First evidences for a role of neuroinflammation in PD came from post-mortem studies, which revealed microglial and complement activation, T-lymphocyte infiltration, and increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the SN and striatum (Str) of PD patients compared to healthy controls (Hirsch & Hunot 2009, Hunot et al 1999, Loeffler et al 2006, McGeer et al 1988) and in patients accidentally exposed to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) (Langston et al 1999). These microglial cells were localized near the remaining dopaminergic neurons and exhibited morphologies suggestive of activated and phagocytic cells, comparable to those ones reported in aging (Jyothi et al 2015). Furthermore, neuroimaging analysis

demonstrated microglial activation in the brainstem, basal ganglia, and frontotemporal cortex in PD patients (Edison et al 2013, Gerhard et al 2006).

Initially, activation of the immune central system was considered as an event secondary to the pathology; however, subsequent studies showed that neuroinflammatory response can contribute to pathogenic processes. Experiments performed with rodent models demonstrated that the suppression of microglial activation ameliorated dopaminergic cell death in the SN, suggesting that microglial activation may trigger the neurodegeneration (He et al 2001, Wu et al 2002). Microglial cells can also be activated by α -syn (Su et al 2008). Furthermore, genetic findings supported the involvement of neuroinflammatory responses in PD: genotyping studies associated the human leucocyte antigen (HLA) class II region (a key constituent of the immune system) and the risk of developing PD (Saiki et al 2010) and this finding has been confirmed with genomewide association studies (GWAS), (Nalls et al 2014). Additionally, epidemiological surveys suggested an involvement of inflammatory mechanisms in the development of PD (Chen et al 2005, Chen et al 2003, McGeer & McGeer 1998): pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α have been correlated with PD, and particularly with non-motor symptoms (Chen et al 2008, Menza et al 2010). A minor risk of developing PD correlated with the regular assumption of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (Gao et al 2011b), probably due to the inhibition of the cyclooxygenase (COX)-mediated oxidation of dopamine (Chen et al 2003, Samii et al 2009, Teismann et al 2003) and suppression of toxic mediators synthesis (Chen et al 2005, Chen et al 2003). However, other studies affirmed that the protective effect of these drugs is inconsistent (Hancock et al 2007, Hernan et al 2006). Other data showed that PD patients presenting a marked proinflammatory profile in the serum showed a faster progression of motor and cognitive symptoms (Williams-Gray et al 2016). Moreover, the neurodegenerative process occurs earlier and more severely in the lateral part than in the medial part of SN; a microarray study comparing PD vs healthy brain tissue found an increased expression of genes encoding pro-inflammatory cytokines and subunits of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, and a reduced expression of several glutathione-related genes, in the lateral part of the SN (Duke et al 2007), consistent with an involvement of neuroinflammatory-mediated oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in PD neuropathology.

A body of of evidence also came from studies on cells and animal models: Gayle et al. (Gayle et al 2002) showed that IL-1 β and TNF- α mediate 50 per cent of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced dopaminergic neuronal cell death in primary cultures of rat midbrain using antibodies against these two cytokines (Gayle et al 2002). Ferrari et al. displayed that chronic expression of IL-1 β in the rat SN induced by adenovirus injection resulted in dopaminergic degeneration after three weeks (Ferrari et al 2006). *In vivo*, direct LPS administration into the SN or peripheral administration, activated microglial cells and led to release of pro-inflammatory factors that preceded the degeneration of nigrostriatal pathway (Castano et al 1998, Dutta et al 2008). Depending on the regimen and dose administered, LPS induced a rapid or delayed and progressive neurodegeneration (Arai et al 2004, Gao et al 2002, Herrera et al 2000, McCoy et al 2006, Tanaka et al 2013). Remarkably, results from the LPS model indicate that neuroinflammation may be both an initiating stimulus and a driving mechanism of progressive neurodegeneration.

All the most common models of PD reported signs of microglial activation. Acute administration of MPTP caused an early and transient microgliosis in the SN, which preceded neurodegeneration and disappeared after few weeks following the toxin injection. Chronic administration of MPTP, which better mimics the progressive neurodegeneration and symptoms development observed in PD neuropathology, caused an early microglial activation in the SN which preceded nigral cell loss and persisted at least six months after MPTP interruption (Rodriguez et al 2007, Schintu et al 2009).

Microglial activation in the SN and Striatum has been observed after 6-OHDA inoculation and, depending on the injection site, the activation appeared early, concurrent or delayed with respect to DA degeneration (Marinova-Mutafchieva et al 2009, Sanchez-Pernaute et al 2004, Walsh et al 2011). Generally, studies performed in toxin-based models suggested and early and persisting microglial activation with respect to dopaminergic degeneration (Armentero et al 2006, Maia et al 2012, Walsh et al 2011).

The involvement of neuroinflammation in PD neuropthology has also been demonstrated in α syn-based models: α -syn overexpression induced a progressive increase of activated microglia and pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α in the Str and SN preceding neurodegeneration (Su et al 2008, Watson et al 2012). Several studies indicated that mutated α -syn can affect microglial activation and modulate the microglial phenotype (Barkholt et al 2012, Gao et al 2011a, Sanchez-Guajardo et al 2010).

Studies based on genetic models strongly corroborated the role of neuroinflammatory process in PD and dopaminergic degeneration. Mutations in the leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) gene are responsible for genetic and idiopathic PD (Healy et al 2008). LRRK2 knockout (KO) rats did not show midbrain degeneration after LPS infusion or α -syn overexpression, while LRRK2 overexpression exacerbated the advancement of the neuropathology in A53T α -syn transgenic mice (Daher et al 2014, Lin et al 2009). At the same time, LRRK2 levels were upregulated in activated microglia under pathological conditions, while LRRK2 ablation or inhibition blunted the inflammatory response induced by LPS stimulation (Kim et al 2012, Marker et al 2012, Moehle et al 2012). These evidences suggest that neuroinflammatory responses play a pivotal role in neurodegeneration in these models.

All together, evidences from human and animal models firmly support the involvement of microglia-mediated neuroinflammation in PD. However, PET imaging studies in human patients revealed that the progression of clinical symptoms does not always correlate with microglia activation (Gerhard et al 2006, Ouchi et al 2009). Similarly, both subacute and chronic MPTP treatment in monkey elicited the same level of microglia activation, which appeared independent from the lesion extent in the SN (Hurley et al 2003, Vazquez-Claverie et al 2009). These findings may suggest that the progressive degeneration of nigrostriatal pathway might not be solely ascribed to microglia proliferation, but rather to changes in microglia phenotype (Joers et al 2017). Hence, in PD microglia lose their ability to self-regulate, leading to a disbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes, in favor of a chronic pro-inflammatory reactive state that contributes to neurotoxicity and dopaminergic degeneration (Carta et al 2011, Hirsch & Hunot 2009).

1.3 Microglia phenotypes in PD

Aiming at clarifying whether and how microglia phenotypes change during the progression of PD, numerous studies investigated the expression of microglial surface markers and soluble factors, as chemokines and cytokines, in various PD models. Overall, results from these studies suggest that microglia phenotypes are regulated depending on the extent of dopaminergic damage/degeneration in their microenvironment. Since high levels of MHC-I, MHC-II, ICAM-I

and OX-42 have been detected in the early stages of the pathological process (Cebrian et al 2014, Kurkowska-Jastrzebska et al 1999, Marinova-Mutafchieva et al 2009, Yasuda et al 2007), the early stages of injury might be characterized by an antigen-presentation effector function, followed by the induction of a strong pro-inflammatory phenotype characterized by high levels of pro-inflammatory factors such as TNF- α , interferon- γ , IL-6 and iNOS (Barcia et al 2011, Bian et al 2009, Liberatore et al 1999, Lofrumento et al 2011, Nagatsu et al 2000, Pattarini et al 2007, Pisanu et al 2014, Yasuda et al 2007). Notably, TNF- α seems to play a pivotal role in driving the degeneration: indeed, inhibition of soluble TNF- α protected dopaminergic neurons from 6-OHDA toxicity (Harms et al 2011, McCoy et al 2006, McCoy & Tansey 2008), and transgenic mice with nonfunctional TNF- α receptors or lacking TNF- α were preserved from MPTP toxicity. The increase of pro-inflammatory markers is accompanied by a decrease in anti-inflammatory markers in the SN, including surface markers such as CD206, YM-1, Arg-1 and FIZZ-1, as well as cytokines (Pisanu et al 2014, Rojo et al 2010), confirming the hypothesis of a prevalence of the pro-inflammatory phenotype with respect to the anti-inflammatory phenotype.

Apparently, in the late stages of degeneration, microglial cells switch to a phagocytic phenotype, with high levels of CD68 expression (Cho et al 2006, Kurkowska-Jastrzebska et al 1999, Marinova-Mutafchieva et al 2009, Sanchez-Guajardo et al 2010). Increased levels of CD68 have been found in a microglia subpopulation located near dopaminergic dying neurons, leading to the suggestion that phagocytic mechanisms, which are upregulated in presence of strong tissue damage, may be responsible for microglia-mediated secondary neurodegeneration. However, the role of microglia-mediated phagocytosis in PD remains debated. In physiological conditions, phagocytic activity is beneficial, but a dysregulation of phagocytosis together with a prominent pro-inflammatory activity may become detrimental and contribute to neuronal death (Joers et al 2017).

Furthermore, while the upregulation of pro-inflammatory markers appeared early and persisted during the chronic MPTP administration in mice, it was accompanied by a delayed downregulation of anti-inflammatory markers concurrent with the onset of motor symptoms and extended neuronal loss in SN (Pisanu et al 2014). Hence, both pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes of microglia co-existed in the early phase of the disease, while a prevalence of pro-inflammatory microglia occurred in the late stages of degeneration.

Inflammatory cytokines, chemokines and enzymes are codified by genes which have the DNA binding site for the transcription factor NFkB in their promoter region, indicating that NFkB is an important player in the neuroinflammatory responses (Grinberg-Bleyer et al 2015, Hayden & Ghosh 2004, O'Neill & Kaltschmidt 1997, Tansey & Goldberg 2010). Glial cells in SN of PD patients and MPTP-treated monkeys and mice showed high levels of p65, a subunit of NFkB, in the nucleus and cytoplasm (Ghosh et al 2007, Hunot et al 1997, Mondal et al 2012), and KO mice for c-Rel, a regulator subunit of NFkB, develop an age-dependent progressive neurodegeneration accompanied by accumulation of aggregated α -synuclein with activation of microglial cells in the SN, supporting the involvement of NFkB-mediated microglial activation in PD (Baiguera et al 2012).

All together, current evidences suggest that manipulation of the immune system and particularly of microglia polarization represents a potential target for neuroprotective strategies (Lecca et al 2018, Martinez & Peplow 2018, Pisanu et al 2014, Sanchez-Guajardo et al 2013, Tansey & Goldberg 2010). A plethora of studies identified several drugs and compounds with anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects which protected dopaminergic neurons from degeneration in animal models of PD and ameliorated motor deficits (Jing et al 2016, Wang et al 2015, Zhao et al 2017).

2. α-synuclein and PD

Aggregated α -syn has been identified as a component of LB in patients with both sporadic and familial forms of PD (Baba et al 1998, Spillantini et al 1997). Moreover, α -syn has been related to PD by genetic evidences, since several mutations in the SNCA gene (A53T, A30P, E46K, H50Q, G51D and A53E) have been associated with PD and dementia with Lewy bodies (Appel-Cresswell et al 2013, Kruger et al 1998, Lesage et al 2013, Pasanen et al 2014, Polymeropoulos et al 1997, Proukakis et al 2013, Zarranz et al 2004).

2.1 Structure and physiological function α -syn is a small protein of 140 amminoacids encoded by the gene SNCA (Shibasaki et al 1995) and highly expressed in neurons (Jakes et al 1994, Maroteaux et al 1988). The primary structure of α -syn can be divided in three main domains:

- the N-terminal domain (1-60), which is highly conserved and consists of a repeated sequence which gives alpha-helical propensity to this domain. Through this domain, α-syn can interact with membranes (Breydo et al 2012, Vamvaca et al 2009);
- the central domain (61-95), which is hydrophobic and seems to be the domain involved in α-syn aggregation when it acquires the β-sheet structure (Breydo et al 2012);
- the C-terminal domain (96-140), which is acidic and contains several phosphorylation sites on Tyr-125, 133, 136 and Ser-129. Through this domain, α-syn can interact with proteins (Burre et al 2012, Burre et al 2010, Woods et al 2007).

a-syn can undergo post-translational modifications as acetylation, serine and tyrosine phosphorylation, lysine ubiquitination and tyrosine nitration which affect the activity of the protein and may be relevant for its pathological function (Barrett & Timothy Greenamyre 2015, Oueslati et al 2010). In physiological conditions, only about the 4 per cent of α -syn is phosphorylated, while the 90 per cent of aggregated α -syn in LBs appears phosphorylated (Anderson et al 2006, Fujiwara et al 2002, Kahle et al 2002, Tenreiro et al 2014). The major site of α -syn phosphorylation is Ser-129 and notably, α -syn phosphorylated in Ser-129 (pS129 α -syn) has been found in LBs in the SN and other areas of patients suffering from PD and other synucleinopathies (Anderson et al 2006, Fujiwara et al 2002, Kahle et al 2002, Nishie et al 2004, Saito et al 2003, Waxman & Giasson 2008). Furthermore, pS129 a-syn has been identified in transgenic mice expressing human mutant A30P, A53T, or overexpressing wild-type (WT) α-syn (Freichel et al 2007, Kahle et al 2002, Wakamatsu et al 2007). Further studies showed that phosphorylation at Ser-129 promotes oligomer accumulation (Anderson et al 2006) and exacerbates the formation of inclusions (Smith et al 2005, Sugeno et al 2008). Another common site of phosphorylation is Ser-87, which has been associated with synucleinopathies (Paleologou et al 2010).

 α -syn is naturally unfolded, but can acquire an α -helical conformation through the N-terminal when it interacts with phospholipidic membranes (Chandra et al 2003, Davidson et al 1998, Fauvet et al 2012, McLean et al 2000, Theillet et al 2016, Weinreb et al 1996).

Although the tertiary structure has not been clearly established yet, the physiological state of α syn seems in a dynamic equilibrium between a monomer apt to aggregation (Burre et al 2013, Theillet et al 2016, Weinreb et al 1996) and a stable tetramer which resists aggregation (Bartels et al 2011, Wang et al 2011, Xu et al 2019). The different conformations adopted by α -syn have a lifespan that depends on intramolecular interactions between amino acid residues (Alam et al 2019).

The physiological function of α -syn is still under debate. According to α -syn localization in presynaptic terminals and its association with synaptic vesicles (Larsen et al 2006, Maroteaux et al 1988, Nemani et al 2010), this protein is thought to be involved in synaptic vesicle trafficking and release (Diao et al 2013). α -syn may play a prominent role in the cycling of synaptic vesicles in different ways, from modulating the vesicle pool size to mobilization and endocytosis (Bendor et al 2013, Vargas et al 2014). Indeed α -syn is able to interact with synaptic proteins at presynaptic level, such as the phospholipase D2 (PLD2) (Gorbatyuk et al 2010, Jenco et al 1998, Payton et al 2004, Rappley et al 2009) and the proteins of the soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor (SNARE)-complex, promoting its assembly and leading to synaptic release of neurotransmitters (Burre et al 2010).

In the presynaptic compartment α -syn can also interact with the vesicular transporter of monoamines (VMAT2) (Butler et al 2015, Guo et al 2008, Swant et al 2011, Wersinger et al 2006), but this function is not well understood. It has been shown that in SH-SY5Y cell lines, overexpression of WT α -syn inhibits VMAT2 and increases the level of cytosolic dopamine (Guo et al 2008), while in vivo the absence of α -syn decreased the reuptake of dopamine at striatal level (Chadchankar et al 2011) and caused functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopaminergic system (Abeliovich et al 2000). Furthermore, α -syn is able to inhibit the dopamine synthesis with a Tyrosine Hydroxylase (TH)-related mechanism (Baptista et al 2003, Perez et al 2002, Yu et al 2004). All these evidences support the hypothesis that α -syn plays a key role in the regulation of dopaminergic transmission at presynaptic level.

There are evidences displaying that α -syn can perform chaperone-activity; indeed, it shares structural and functional homology with a family of cytoplasmic chaperones and can bind these proteins affecting their activity inducing oxidative stress and neuronal death (Chandra et al 2005,

da Costa et al 2000, Kanda et al 2000, Ostrerova et al 1999). α -syn is also involved in apoptosis, by affecting the MAPK pathway (Iwata et al 2001, Menges et al 2017).

Besides the presynaptic terminal, α -syn has been identified in other cellular compartments, such as endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus (Cooper et al 2006, Thayanidhi et al 2010), mitochondria (Devi et al 2008, Li et al 2007, Nakamura 2013) and nucleus (Goncalves & Outeiro 2013, Kontopoulos et al 2006, Maroteaux et al 1988, Mori et al 2002). Inside the nucleus, α -syn can regulate the expression of genes related to DNA repair, increasing levels of phosphorylated p53 and decreasing levels of acetylated histone 3 (Paiva et al 2017). Notably, in condition of oxidative stress, the amount of α -syn localized in the nucleus increases and impacts on the expression of genes involved in metabolism and mitochondrial biogenesis (Siddiqui et al 2012). In this way, it may contribute to mitochondrial dysfunction. In mitochondria, α -syn is physiologically involved as a regulator of the respiratory chain and the synthesis of ATP by interacting with the ATP synthase subunit α (Ludtmann et al 2016).

2.2 Pathological α -syn. Pathological α -syn is misfolded with a β -sheet enriched structure and a strong propensity to aggregation. Several events may be responsible for the conformational changes and subsequent aggregation of α -syn in PD, including mutations, modifications of the environment, and as well as post-translational modifications (Barrett & Timothy Greenamyre 2015, Fujiwara et al 2002, Kruger et al 1998, Lesage et al 2013, Polymeropoulos et al 1997, Proukakis et al 2013, Singleton et al 2003, Uversky et al 2001, Zarranz et al 2004). The aberrant reshaping from α -helical to β -sheet structure is a remarkable pathological feature which α -syn shares with prion proteins (Pan et al 1993, Wood et al 1999, Yonetani et al 2009). α-syn aggregation occurs through a multistep process which follows a nucleation-dependent model, where monomers first assemble to generate the aggregation nuclei (Buell et al 2014). Monomers assemble to form oligomers, which are converted into protofibrils and then to mature amyloid fibrils. Finally, in the elongation phase monomers are added at the fibrils terminal resulting in rapid growth (Buell et al 2014, Invernizzi et al 2012). Importantly, a dynamic equilibrium exists between all the different conformations, and in the PD brain different species and states of aggregation of α -syn have been detected, including unfolded monomers, soluble oligomers, protofibrils, and high molecular weight insoluble fibrils (Baba et al 1998).

Although LBs contain α -syn in its fibrillar form, recent evidence suggested that the toxic species is represented by small soluble oligomers (Karpinar et al 2009, Winner et al 2011), while LBs

may represent a protective mechanism by sequestering the toxic oligomers from the cytoplasm (Bengoa-Vergniory et al 2017, Bucciantini et al 2002, Muchowski 2002, Soto & Estrada 2008). Notably, LBs have been found in the brain of neurologically healthy subjects (Frigerio et al 2011, Parkkinen et al 2005) and the amount of LBs in the PD brain did not reflect the severity of symptoms such as dementia and cognitive deficits (Colosimo et al 2003, Parkkinen et al 2008). Ultimately, patients affected by familial forms of PD displayed neurodegeneration without LBs accumulation (Cookson et al 2008, Gaig et al 2007).

Oligomers toxicity was first suggested by their presence in degenerating areas in the PD brain (Sharon et al 2003, Tofaris et al 2003), and their toxicity has been demonstrated both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. α -syn oligomers induced cell death *in vitro* through various mechanisms including inhibition of tubulin polymerization, mitochondrial dysfunction, morphological alterations as well as calcium dysregulation (Chen et al 2007, Danzer et al 2007, Nasstrom et al 2011, Theillet et al 2016). Of note, α -syn mutants generated with a resistance to form fibrils and a major propensity to form oligomers have toxic effects in cell lines, rat primary neurons and in dopaminergic neurons of C. Elegans and Drosophila (Karpinar et al 2009).

Winner et al. elegantly demonstrated for the first time *in vivo* that oligomers are the main toxic α -syn species (Lo Bianco et al 2002), by using a rat model of synucleinopathies based on the injection of lentivirus expressing α -syn mutants which differed on their ability to generate fibrils. Their data showed that the expression of the oligomer-prone mutants E35K and E57K caused a higher loss of dopaminergic neurons as compared to the overexpression of WT α -syn. Conversely, the expression of fibril-prone variants only induced a mild dopaminergic loss, supporting the hypothesis that oligomer-forming mutants are the most toxic forms. Interestingly, Winner et al. showed that α -syn oligomers might interact and potentially damage the lipidic membranes (Winner et al 2011).

A wide variety of α -syn oligomers exist, which may differ in molecular weight, β -sheet content and tertiary structure which determine hydrophobic properties. Generally, the term oligomer includes all α -syn aggregates which have not acquired a fibrillary structure. Pieri et al. showed that large stable α -syn oligomers with an elongated shape seed the aggregation of soluble α -syn more efficiently as compared to low-molecular weight α -syn oligomers *in vitro* (Pieri et al 2016). SNCA mutations bring to the formation of oligomers with variable structure, with the A30P mutant generating annular pore-like oligomers, while A53T mutant tubular oligomers (Lashuel et al 2002). To this regard, Danzer et al. showed that small annular oligomers affect calcium signaling and cause caspase activation and cell death *in vitro* but have low seeding activity, while larger oligomers do not have these toxic effects but show seeding properties (Danzer et al 2007). More recently, Fusco et al., characterized two α -syn oligomers with different structure-based toxicity. These namely type A and type B shared structural and biological properties with other forms of α -syn oligomers previously identified, obtained from non-toxic and toxic α -syn variants (Cremades et al 2012, Fusco et al 2017). They showed that the oligomer toxicity was strictly dependent on their structure, and particularly on the presence of a core β -sheet-folded region together with a dynamic and accessible N-terminal region, which conferred toxicity to the oligomer type B, while were absent in the no-toxic oligomer A.

Fusco et al. further demonstrated that type A and B oligomers have different ability to damage lipidic membranes *in vitro*. Upon incubation with lipidic vesicles, both oligomers bound to membrane, however type B displayed a more stable binding and was able to insert within the membrane by the rigid core region. This resulted in oligomer-B induced toxicity when incubated with human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells and rat primary cortical neurons (Fusco et al 2017). Interestingly, neurotoxic effects were similar to cells carrying a triplication in the SNCA gene (Angelova et al 2016, Deas et al 2016, Devine et al 2011).

2.3 α -syn oligomers-mediated toxicity. Although several evidences suggest that soluble oligomers of α -syn are the main neurotoxic strain, the underlying mechanisms of neurotoxicity are still largely unknown. A main gap in this regard is the poor availability of animal models of synucleinopathies that replicate cellular and behavioral changes and the progressive nature of the neurodegeneration with a pathologically relevant mechanism (Villar-Pique et al 2016). Toxic mechanisms may involve both a direct interaction with neuronal membranes or subcellular organelles or the interaction with glial cells, such as microglia and astroglia, as discussed below.

2.3.1 Synaptic impairment. On account of the key role that α -syn has in the SNARE-complex assembly at synaptic level, it has been proposed that oligomers may affect its function generating a synaptotoxic effect (Choi et al 2013). Diogenes et al. demonstrated that oligomers can impact in a negative way on neuronal signaling; they observed a suppression of long-term potentiation when exposing hippocampal slices to oligomers but not to monomers and fibrils (Diogenes et al 2012). Moreover, the toxic effect might depend on the N-methyl-d-aspartate (NMDA) receptors

since their blockade inhibited it (Diogenes et al 2012). Oligomers have been shown to decrease the excitability of pyramidal neurons (Kaufmann et al 2016). *In vivo* experiments have shown that expression of the oligomer-prone variant E57K induced a strong synaptic and dendritic loss and a decrease in synapsin I and synaptic vesicles, suggesting that oligomers may affect synaptic activity through the disruption of presynaptic vesicles (Rockenstein et al 2014). Recently, Wegrzynowicz et al. reported that dopaminergic dysfunction was associated with an increased formation of oligomers in the synaptic compartment and that pharmacologically modulating the aggregation of α -syn the dopaminergic release was restored (Wegrzynowicz et al 2019).

2.3.2 Toxicity against structural elements of the cells. One of the most common hypotheses to explain the toxic effect of oligomeric species of α -syn is the disruption of the membrane integrity and consequent loss of cell homeostasis. Toxic oligomers have the ability to permeabilize the lipidic bilayer, leading to an increase in the influx of ions into the cytoplasm (Danzer et al 2007, Lashuel et al 2002, van Rooijen et al 2010, Volles & Lansbury 2002, Volles et al 2001). Indeed, α -syn oligomers may cause cytotoxicity increasing the calcium influx (Danzer et al 2007), while another study showed that depleting calcium from the extracellular space counteracted the oligomer-induced cell death (Angelova et al 2016). Hydrophobic oligomers may insert into the membrane and promote the flux of hydrophilic molecules (Stockl et al 2012, van Rooijen et al 2010). Moreover, tubular-shaped oligomers may integrate into membranes inducing the poreformation and acting as pathological membrane channels (Tosatto et al 2012, Volles & Lansbury 2002).

 α -syn oligomers may also stabilize pre-existing membrane defects and accelerate membrane disruption (Chaudhary et al 2016), and may affect membrane properties such as input resistance, reducing neuronal excitability (Kaufmann et al 2016).

Notably, targeting the interplay between membranes and oligomers seems to improve deficits and protect from neurotoxicity (Wrasidlo et al 2016, Ysselstein et al 2017).

Toxic effects of α -syn have been observed in several cellular compartments, including the cytoskeleton where oligomers inhibit tubulin polymerization (Chen et al 2007), and the Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER), where aggregates accumulation leads to oxidative stress (Colla et al 2012).

All these evidences indicate that α -syn oligomers disrupt lipidic membranes and damage subcellular components, exerting a toxic effect on the cell.

2.3.3 Clearance impairment. Cells can exert a quality control and delete misfolded proteins mainly through two systems of clearance: autophagy-lysosomal pathway (ALP), which is directly responsible for oligomers deletion, and the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS). Both systems are impaired in synucleinopathies (Xilouri et al 2013). Lysosomal depletion and decreased lysosomal markers have been detected in nigral neurons positive for α -syn inclusions (Chu et al 2009, Dehay et al 2010). Lysosomal and autophagy malfunctioning dysfunction can trigger aggregation and accumulation of pathologic α -syn, that in turn can affect the ALP (Cuervo et al 2004, Tanik et al 2013, Winslow et al 2010, Xilouri et al 2009).

Reduced proteasome activities and structural alteration have been recorded in PD indicating UPS dysfunction and α -syn pathology may favor such proteasomal impairment (Furukawa et al 2002, McNaught & Jenner 2001, McNaught et al 2002). *In vitro*, overexpression of α -syn blocked proteasomal activity (Outeiro & Lindquist 2003, Tanaka et al 2001) and induced accumulation of ubiquitin-positive deposits and cellular damage (Stefanis et al 2001). Several evidences suggested that α -syn can inhibit UPS by the steric blocking of the proteasome machinery (Lindersson et al 2004, Snyder et al 2003). The 20S proteasome component was detected in LBs and in a-syn aggregates *in vitro* (Lindersson et al 2004, Tanik et al 2013). Notably, another component of the proteasome, the 26S, was isolated together with α -syn oligomers (Emmanouilidou et al 2010b).

2.3.4 Mitochondrial dysfunction. Generally, mitochondrial dysfunction has been reported as a distinctive trait of synucleinopathies (Nakamura 2013). Dopaminergic neurons are more sensitive to mitochondrial dysfunction than others, probably because of their high energy needs and elevated oxidative stress (Ryan et al 2015).

a-syn can fragment mitochondria through the N-terminal region, alter their permeability and membrane potential, increase levels of ROS and alter mitochondrial autophagy (Chen et al 2015a, Nakamura et al 2011, Sarafian et al 2013, Shen et al 2014). Particularly, a-syn aggregates have been found in the mitochondria of SN and Striatum from PD patients and correlated with complex I dysfunction (Devi et al 2008). Moreover, Plotegher et al demonstrated *in vitro* that oligomeric species altered mitochondria morphology (Plotegher et al 2014).

a-syn aggregates have been identified in the mitochondrial membranes of neuroblastoma cells expressing variants A53T and A30P and showing reduced mitochondrial transmembrane potentials and impaired respiratory activity (Parihar et al 2009). Importantly, oligomers but not

the other α -syn strains, can inhibit the mitochondrial protein influx, which was found impaired in PD brains (Di Maio et al 2016). A recent study showed that oligomers disrupt axonal mitochondrial transport and axonal integrity in human neurons derived from a Parkinson's disease patient affected by α -syn gene duplication (Prots et al 2018). The inhibition of oligomers synthesis restored the axonal impairment (Prots et al 2018).

a-syn oligomers have been identified not only in neuronal mitochondria, but also in astrocytic mitochondria. Astrocytes cover an important role in sequestering a-syn oligomers from the extracellular space and digesting them via the lysosomal pathway. Prolonged exposure to oligomers provoked incomplete digestion and deposition of the aggregates by astrocytes, leading to mitochondria damage (Lindstrom et al 2017).

2.3.5 Neuroinflammation. α -syn is released from neurons in a calcium-dependent manner (Emmanouilidou et al 2016, Yamada & Iwatsubo 2018) and may spread in the brain. In this context, microglia function might be extremely relevant. Firstly, a-syn is a chemoattractant for microglia: *in vitro* studies showed that a-syn induced microglia migration by up-regulating the adhesion molecule CD44 and cell surface protease membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase MT1-MMP (Kim et al 2009). Moreover, interaction between a-syn and CD11b activate PHOX NADPH Oxidase (NOX2), leading to an increase in H₂O₂ levels, which stimulate microglia migration (Wang et al 2015). According to this, post-mortem studies found activated microglia in close contact with neurons showing α -syn deposits (Croisier et al 2005).

Several studies demonstrated that pathologic α -syn stimulates proinflammatory responses in microglial cells, with elevated production of cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF-a (Klegeris et al 2008, Lee et al 2010, Lee et al 2009, Su et al 2008), increased COX-2 and iNOS (Lee et al 2009, Su et al 2009, Su et al 2008), production of free radicals (Lee et al 2010, Su et al 2008). Microglia stimulation preceded the neuronal death (Barkholt et al 2012, Emmer et al 2011, Gomez-Isla et al 2003, Miller et al 2007, Sanchez-Guajardo et al 2010, Su et al 2009, Su et al 2008, Theodore et al 2008, Tofaris et al 2006, Watson et al 2012).

In literature, there are evidences that oligomers of α -syn can activate proinflammatory responses in vitro and in vivo, by TLRs and MAP kinase activation (Kim et al 2013, Wilms et al 2009). Moreover, oligomeric preparations activate glial cells and stimulate the production of ROS (Zhang et al 2005). One of the main candidates as mediator of α -syn effects on microglia is represented by TLRs, which seems to be involved both in inflammatory responses and phagocytosis (Janda et al 2018, Kim et al 2012, Stefanova et al 2011). In fact, oligomeric α -syn activate microglial cells by stimulating TLR2, leading to the synthesis of inflammatory mediators (Kim et al 2013), while activation of TLR4 would activate α -syn phagocytosis (Stefanova et al 2011). The interaction between TLRs and oligomeric α -syn may activate the traslocation of NFkB, leading to an increase in TNF- α and IL-1 β levels (Daniele et al 2015, Fellner et al 2013).

Human and rodent studies found high levels of both the TLR2 and TLR4 associated with α -syn deposition, in peripheral immune cells and in the Striatum as well as SN microglia (Doorn et al 2014, Drouin-Ouellet et al 2014), suggesting that α -syn may activate both pathways in PD. Microglial cells are mainly in charge for clearing the extracellular α -syn in the brain by phagocytosis (Ferreira & Romero-Ramos 2018, Lee et al 2008b).

This process seems to depend upon levels and type of α -syn (Lee et al 2008b, Park et al 2008) although results are sometime controversial. Microglia incubated with A53T mutant α -syn displayed a pro-inflammatory profile which was associated with impaired phagocytic function (Rojanathammanee et al 2011). In contrast, Roodvelt et al., 2010 showed that both WT and A53T α -syn promoted phagocytosis in microglial cells, while the A30P and E46K α -syn induced opposite effect. These studies clearly highlighted the importance of the different α -syn variants on the induced microglial phenotype and aberrant phagocytosis. Interestingly, WT α -syn was associated with a mild inflammatory response, with presence of pro-inflammatory as well as phagocytic microglia, suggesting the coexistence of mixed phenotypes (Roodveldt et al 2010).

Interestingly, microglia from mice lacking α -syn displayed an exaggerated response to LPS, with activated morphology, increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and expression of CD68, impaired phagocytic function, suggesting that physiological levels of α -syn may prevent inflammation and promote phagocytosis (Austin et al 2006).

A study from Park et al., clearly showed that α -syn conformation impacts on microglia phagocytic activity, demonstrating that monomeric α -syn stimulated while oligomeric α -syn inhibited both basal and LPS-stimulated phagocytosis (Park et al 2008). Additionally, an increased microglial phagocytic activity was observed after exposure to soluble or fibrillar α -syn, together with increased production of ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokines, confirming that microglia may acquire mixed phenotypes in pathological conditions (Fellner et al 2013).

Importantly, aging is a factor involved in the interaction between α -syn and microglia, since microglia-mediated phagocytosis of oligomeric α -syn decreases with age (Bliederhaeuser et al 2016). According to this, telomerase shortening, normally associated with aging, exacerbated α -syn pathology and altered microglial response (Scheffold et al 2016).

Therefore, these studies indicate a specificity of function for α -syn conformations. Of note, the coexistence of multiple α -syn conformations has been detected in extracellular fluids of PD patients, with prevalence of oligomeric α -syn which is uniquely formed in the pathological state (Majbour et al 2016, Tokuda et al 2010).

2.4 Spreading and prion-like behavior of α-synuclein

Recent evidence suggests that α -syn pathology can spread cell-to-cell. This implies that aberrant species can induce misfolding and aggregation of monomeric α -syn and α -syn oligomers have been implicated on this seeding effect. First evidences for cell-to-cell propagation emerged about twenty years ago, when researchers found the presence of LBs in fetal dopaminergic graft implanted in a PD brain 15 years earlier as an experimental therapeutic strategy. Here, pathologic α -syn spread from the endogenous to the implanted tissue (Kordower et al 2008, Li et al 2008). These studies, in addition to the Braak staging hypothesis, were considered strong proof of the prion-like spreading of α -syn pathology in the brain (Olanow & Prusiner 2009). Subsequent studies confirmed that α -syn can propagate from the host to the graft tissue (Angot et al 2012, Desplats et al 2009, Reyes et al 2014).

Further studies *in vitro* and *in vivo* further suggested that the oligomeric forms may play a pivotal role in the spreading process, inducing intracellular α -syn aggregation and promoting spreading (Danzer et al 2009, Hansen et al 2011). Interestingly, human-derived material led to disease in different species. The ability to transmit between different species is one of the chief features of prion proteins, suggesting that pathologic α -syn can acquire prion-like properties. Moreover, as prion proteins, aberrant α -syn is able to induce misfolded conformations in the endogenous proteins (Breydo et al 2012, Guo et al 2013, Peelaerts et al 2015).

Generally, abnormal α -syn within the cell is degraded by the ALP and/or UPS systems, depending on the conformation (Shin et al 2005). When the degradation fails, α -syn may deposit in intracellular inclusions or be released in the extra-cellular space. Once released, α -syn can spread among other cells.

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the cell-to-cell propagation, including passive diffusion (Ahn et al 2006, Chandra et al 2003, Grozdanov & Danzer 2018), membrane pores (Stockl et al 2013), exosomal transport (Emmanouilidou et al 2010a), tunneling nanotubes (Abounit et al 2016a, Abounit et al 2016b, Dieriks et al 2017), and the possibility of transport through carrier proteins (Sung et al 2001, Yang et al 2017). Passive release occurs by diffusion or leakage through the damaged cell membrane. Diffusion is only possible for monomeric species, not aggregated strains (Ahn et al 2006, Lee et al 2008a), can be bidirectional and probably requires an unidentified translocator (Lee et al 2005, Lee et al 2008a). Moreover, α -syn may cross membranes by pore-like structures, which may act as non-selective channels for the release (Hoogerheide et al 2017, Stockl et al 2013, Vasili et al 2019). In addition, mechanisms of exocytosis (Lee et al 2005) or via exosomes from the cell soma or from the synaptic button (Emmanouilidou et al 2010a), have been reported (Yamada & Iwatsubo 2018, Yang et al 2017). α -syn mutants and oligomers seem to be more prone to exosomal release than the WT form (Danzer et al 2012), supporting the hypothesis that oligomeric strains may mainly drive the propagation of α -syn pathology. Finally, α -syn can spread among cells by tunneling nanotubes, which are membranous bridges that connect the cytoplasmic compartments of cells (Abounit & Zurzolo 2012, Dieriks et al 2017).

Factors including intracellular concentration and conformation of the protein seem to determine the release process and function (Grozdanov & Danzer 2018). For instance, the release of monomers or small protein oligomers may have a physiological function for improvement of vesicle recycling or to protect from protein aggregation (Chandra et al 2005). Conversely, release of aggregated forms may have the aim to prevent neurotoxicity and recruit other cell types for clearance, as astrocytes and microglia (Grozdanov & Danzer 2018).

The uptake from the extracellular space plays a pivotal role in cell-to-cell propagation of pathologic α -syn and results in toxicity and seeding of aggregation of endogenous α -syn. Similar to release, the uptake of α -syn from the extracellular space can be passive or occur by diffusion or endocytosis, either pinocytosis and phagocytosis (Lee et al 2005, Mao et al 2016). While all mammalian cells can perform pinocytosis, only professional phagocytes such as microglia perform phagocytosis. Inside the cell, the endosome/phagosome should be driven to the phagolysosome for degradation. However, failure in the degradation process leads to the release

of α -syn in the cytoplasm, where it may directly seed the aggregation of the α -syn from the physiological pool (Flavin et al 2017, Freeman et al 2013, Grozdanov & Danzer 2018).

2.5 α-synuclein-based models of PD

In the last decade much effort has been spent in order to develop preclinical models of PD with neuropathological relevance, focusing on the pivotal role of α -syn aggregates on neurotoxic mechanisms. Most information about α -syn aggregation and toxicity came first from cellular models, which are useful to study the involvement of single pathways in pathological processes, but clearly cannot reproduce the *in vivo* physiology, which involves a crosstalk between different cell types and also the involvement of the surrounding tissue and vasculature (Alberio et al 2012, Astashkina et al 2012). Thereafter, different strategies have been used to reproduce α -syn pathology in *in vivo*:

- transgenic models;
- viral vector delivery;
- exogenous α-syn injection.

2.5.1 Transgenic models. Most of the transgenic models overexpress human WT α -syn (modelling SNCA multiplications), or human A53T, A30P mutant α -syn (modelling SNCA missense mutations), and two models overexpress mouse α -syn (Koprich et al 2017, Rieker et al 2011). In the most common models, transgene expression is controlled by the human platelet-derived growth factor subunit B (PDGFB) promoter, mouse thymus cell antigen 1 (Thy1) promoter and Th promoter (Fleming et al 2004, Manning-Bog et al 2003, Matsuoka et al 2001, Richfield et al 2002), using mostly transgenic mouse strains, but also rats (Nuber et al 2013). Generally, rats display some advantages as compared to mice, since they are able to perform more complex behavioral tasks and their brain is easier to image (Dehay et al 2016).

Some α -syn transgenic models exhibit representative features of PD such as α -syn deposits, nigrostriatal dysfunction, motor phenotype and non-motor features, but some of these models display minimal expression of the transgene in SN but often fail to reproduce DA degeneration (Daher et al 2009, Gispert et al 2003, Janezic et al 2013, Matsuoka et al 2001, Richfield et al 2002, Wakamatsu et al 2008, Yavich et al 2005). Interestingly, transgenic models without SN cell death show anomalies at striatal level, such as reduced TH immunoreactivity, decreased

dopamine levels or release, and increased dopamine transporter (DAT) expression, which are markers of an early nigrostriatal dysfunction (Clark et al 2010, Daher et al 2009, Hansen et al 2013, Kim et al 2015, Kurz et al 2010, Richfield et al 2002, Tofaris et al 2006). Motor impairment has been variably described regardless of the presence of α -syn inclusions or nigrostriatal dysfunction (Gomez-Isla et al 2003). Moreover, only a mild inflammatory response has been described in transgenic models (Sekiyama et al 2012).

2.5.2 Virus-based models. First virus models employed lentivirus to overexpress α -syn into the SN (Lo Bianco et al 2002, Winner et al 2011), however adeno-associated virus (AAV) allow to target more specifically neurons (Decressac et al 2012, Low & Aebischer 2012, Ulusoy et al 2010), becoming the most common vector for virus-based models which cause the overexpression of WT or A53T α -syn (Kirik et al 2002). These models exhibit progressive dopaminergic neurodegeneration with presence of α -syn inclusions and aggregates within neurons and motor symptoms (Decressac et al 2012). However, the AAV– α -syn models also present limitations. In fact, high expression of the protein, about four- to five fold above the normal and much higher than in human disease, is required to induce a dopaminergic cell loss (Decressac et al 2012). Moreover, the inflammatory response, which is a hallmark of Parkinson's disease, is transient and usually of modest magnitude (Chung et al 2009, Sanchez-Guajardo et al 2010, Theodore et al 2008).

2.5.3 Exogenous *a*-syn injection. These models are based on the unilateral injection of preformed fibrils (PFFs) of α -syn or human LB-containing homogenate into the SN, leading to a seeding process from the injection site (Abdelmotilib et al 2017, Luk et al 2012a, Mougenot et al 2011). The spreading process may involve endogenous α -syn and lead to extensive diffusion of pathological α -syn (as demonstrated by pSer129 immunoreactivity) in both hemispheres (Luk et al 2012a, Mougenot et al 2011). A significant spreading of pathological α -syn was detected 1-month post-injection and increased after 3 months (Luk et al 2012a, Luk et al 2012b, Masuda-Suzukake et al 2013). Dopaminergic neuron loss (Luk et al 2012a) as well as decrease in striatal dopamine levels were observed after six months (Paumier et al 2015).

These models are useful to evaluate approaches interfering with α -syn accumulation and aggregation. While brain-extract models show high variability, synthetic preparations, such as PFF, allow a more standardized model. Limitations of these models may be the long time to develop the neuropathology the motor symptomatology.

On the last years, the AAV-induced human α -syn expression has been combined with the injection of PFF in SN, leading to formation of α -syn aggregates, dopaminergic degeneration associated with motor deficits and a prominent inflammatory reaction (Thakur et al 2017). Moreover, in order to reproduce the non-motor symptomatology of PD, a similar model has been recently developed by injecting the AAV and the fibrils into the prefrontal cortex, leading to significant behavioral deficits in working memory, attention, and inhibitory control (Espa et al 2019). Despite the long and complex methodological procedure, the combined AAV/PFF-based approach has been successful in reproducing both neuropathological and symptomatic features of PD .

3. Neuroinflammation in LID

As mentioned above, recent evidence point to a physiopathological role of neuroinflammation in the development of LID. The physiopathology of dyskinesia is complex and includes neuronal and non-neuronal mechanisms which have been extensively characterized and investigated in the rat model of LID. In the rat bearing a unilateral lesion of the nigrostriatal pathway obtained by infusion of the neurotoxin 6-OHDA, repeated L-DOPA treatment induces abnormal involuntary movements named AIMs, which are considered a valid preclinical model of LID (Lundblad et al 2002). Classical neuronal mechanisms involve basal ganglia circuits, where L-DOPA affects signal transduction and neurotransmission. The nigrostriatal degeneration and the lack of dopamine lead to a hypersensitization of D1 receptors in the dorsolateral striatum and to a subsequent up-regulation of the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) pathway (Feyder et al 2011, Picconi et al 2003, Santini et al 2007), up-regulation of the cAMP dependent proteins protein kinase A (PKA) and DA- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein, Mr 32 kDa (DARPP-32). Consequently, other signalling cascades are activated including the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) associated with gene expression regulation (Fasano et al 2010, Santini et al 2009). These maladaptive responses to L-DOPA impact on the expression and composition of synaptic receptors, affecting the excitability of medium spiny neurons (MSNs). Particularly, modifications in receptor subunits and post-translational changes of NMDA and the (S)-a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) glutamate receptor drive abnormal synaptic plasticity at corticostriatal synapses (Ba et al 2006, Gardoni et al 2006, Santini et al 2007, Silverdale et al 2010). These pathological changes in MSN are exacerbated by the pulsatile stimulation of D1 receptors. Moreover, as the dopaminergic degeneration progresses, a more consistent amount of L-DOPA is metabolized by serotonergic neurons, which do not have the machinery to modulate the release of dopamine properly. This process strongly aggravates the intermittent release of DA and pulsatile stimulation of DA post-synaptic receptors, which play a key role in the onset of dyskinesia (Carta & Bezard 2011).

During the last decade growing evidence suggested a role of neuroinflammation in the development of LID. Although the mechanism underlying L-DOPA-induced inflammatory response are still elusive, the increased dopamine metabolism and associated oxidative load may likely contribute (Carta et al 2017). As discussed above, microglia-mediated responses play a pivotal role in the neurodegenerative process associated with PD and, moreover, data from preclinical studies support the involvement of neuroinflammatory responses in the motor complications associated with L-DOPA therapy. Results from rodent models of PD reported an inflammatory response to a L-DOPA dyskinetic treatment in the DA-denervated striatum, which is the main area where the modifications related to dyskinesia occur (Barnum et al 2008, Bortolanza et al 2015a, Bortolanza et al 2015b, Mulas et al 2016). Mulas et al., comparing the motor complications and neuroinflammation induced by a pulsatile or continuous administration of L-DOPA in 6-OHDA injected rats, found that the pharmacokinetic and delivery mode of L-DOPA, which are critical factors for the onset of LID, are also relevant for the development of inflammatory responses. Indeed, increased levels of markes of inflammation, such as OX-42 and TNF-α, have been detected in the dorsolateral striatum of pulsatile L-DOPA treated dyskinetic rats, while no signs of inflammation have been found in the dorsolateral striatum of rats treated with continuous L-DOPA which did not exhibit dyskinetic movements (Mulas et al 2016). Additionally, the administration of anti-inflammatory compounds such as corticosterone, nitric oxide synthase inhibitors and PPAR- γ agonists, significantly attenuates the dyskinetic outcome (Barnum et al 2008, Bortolanza et al 2015a, Bortolanza et al 2015b, Martinez et al 2015), while administration of LPS worsen the intensity of LID in hemiparkinsonian rats (Mulas et al 2016), corroborating the link between LID and neuroinflammation. Therefore, LID have been related to an increased inflammatory response in the CNS but not peripherally (Mulas et al 2016), according with the results from Barnum et al., who demonstrated that intrastriatal administration of an IL-1β receptor antagonist attenuated dyskinetic movements (Barnum et al 2008).
All these data suggest that a local action of cytokines may affect the onset of dyskinesia. Hence, preclinical evidence suggest that the neuroinflammatory mechanisms contributing to LID involve microglia-secreted cytokines. As said above, an intense crosstalk between neurons and microglial cells exists and chronically activated microglia can participate in the development of synaptic maladaptive responses driving the onset of LID. Specifically relevant to LID is the interplay between glutamatergic system and microglia. Clark et al. showed that the activation of CX3CR1 receptor located in microglia leads to the release of IL-1β, which acts on postsynaptic NMDA and ultimately brings to an increased release of neurotransmitter (Clark et al 2015). Notably, besides being an important player in immune response, the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α can regulate synaptic plasticity interacting with the glutamatergic system (Balosso et al 2005, Balosso et al 2009, Beattie et al 2002) by both TNFR1 and the TNFR2 receptors, which mediate opposite effects on neuronal excitability (Balosso et al 2005). Interestingly, the application of cerebrospinal fluid from multiple sclerosis patients, containing pathological levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β and TNF- α), enhanced glutamate transmission in corticostriatal slices (Rossi et al 2012a, Rossi et al 2012b). The study from Beattie et al. showed that TNF- α promoted synaptic efficacy in hippocampal slices by increasing AMPA receptors expression in neuron surface, while blocking TNF- α caused the opposite effect. These data indicate that the persistent presence of TNF- α is necessary to preserve synaptic function at excitatory synapses (Beattie et al 2002).

Differently, a reduction in synaptic strength due to the TNF- α -mediated modulation of AMPA receptor trafficking has been observed in the MSNs (Lewitus et al 2014). Lewitus et al. observed decreased levels of surface AMPA receptors and reduced phosphorylation of DARPP32 in mouse striatal slices after exposure to TNF- α and proposed that TNF- α might play an adaptive role during the early stages of striatal dysfunction, inducing the internalization of AMPA receptor and, in this way, reducing synaptic strength at corticostriatal level (Lewitus et al 2014). Generally, available data indicate that the TNF- α -mediated control of synaptic strength is region specific and dependent on the type of the synapse and especially on the type of post-synaptic element which can drive different responses after TNF- α stimulation. Moreover, data corroborate the involvement of TNF- α in a fine regulation of glutamatergic synapses.

Clinical and preclinical studies showed that dysfunction of plasticity at corticostriatal synapses and alterations in the AMPA receptor are strongly associated with LID (Calabresi et al 2010, Calon et al 2003, Kobylecki et al 2010, Ouattara et al 2010, Picconi et al 2003). According to these findings, the blockade of AMPA receptor attenuates dyskinetic movements in MPTP-treated monkeys (Konitsiotis et al 2000).

Among the different AMPA receptor subunits, GLUR1 is considered relevant for the TNF- α mediated strengthening of synapses (Centonze et al 2010, Stellwagen et al 2005). Of note, not only the up-regulated expression but also the phosphorylation state of GLUR1 subunit seems to correlate with dyskinesia (Santini et al 2007). Indeed, LID is associated with an abnormal activation of the PKA/DARPP32 pathway, which in turn induces excessive GLUR1 phosphorylation and enhances glutamate transmission (Santini et al 2007).

These clues suggest that chronic elevated levels of TNF- α in the L-DOPA treated striatum might play a primary role in dysfunctional synaptic plasticity by modulating AMPA receptors and specifically GLUR1 subunit, contributing to LID.

4. Angiogenesis

Another important recognized mechanism in dyskinesia neuropathology is represented by angiogenesis. The proangiogenic activity of L-DOPA has been elegantly characterized in the parkinsonian brain and in animal models of LID (Janelidze et al 2015, Lerner et al 2017, Munoz et al 2014, Ohlin et al 2012, Teema et al 2016, Westin et al 2006). Microvascular changes, endothelial proliferation and increased levels of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) have been reported in striatum and its output nucleus, especially in the Substantia Nigra pars reticulata (SNpr) of L-DOPA treated dyskinetic rats (Ohlin et al 2011, Westin et al 2006). Angiogenic activity and up-regulation of VEGF have also been observed post-mortem in brains from dyskinetic PD patients (Ohlin et al 2011). Of note, treatment with antiangiogenic compounds such as vandetanib and candesartan reduced the intensity of AIMs (Munoz et al 2014, Ohlin et al 2011).

In the adult brain, angiogenic processes can occur to supply local increased metabolic needs (Swain et al 2003). Since an increased energy use is thought to contribute to dyskinesia (Konradi et al 2004), L-DOPA-induced angiogenesis can be seen as a plastic response to provide oxygen and nutrients to the affected brain regions. Nevertheless, the extent of this angiogenic response is positively correlated with the severity of the dyskinetic movements induced by the treatment

(Westin et al., 2006), suggesting that the angiogenesis in this situation represents a maladaptive response (Lindgren et al 2009).

Angiogenesis and neuroinflammation are two events strictly related and modulate each other (Szade et al 2015). The majority of angiogenic processes are related to inflammation both in physiological conditions and pathological situations, such as in tumor growth or cardiovascular diseases. According to this, treatment with anti-inflammatory drugs inhibit blood vessel formation (Monnier et al 2005). Inflammatory stimuli can activate endothelial cells and increase microvascular permeability, leading to extravasation of immune cells, which release proangiogenic factors such as VEGF, TNF- α , basic FGF, IL-8, or insulin-like growth factor 1, and activate angiogenic responses (Bates et al 2002, Muller 2014, Sunderkotter et al 1994, Szade et al 2015).

5. TLD and derivatives

Despite many drugs are under evaluation in clinical trials for the treatment of LID, amantadine is currently the only drug in use to attenuate these motor complications following L-DOPA long-term treatment (Fox et al 2011). Therefore, LIDs treatment is an unmet urgent therapeutic need (Johnston et al 2018). To this regard, repurposing drugs represent an useful strategy to shorten the testing of new therapies. Indeed, repurposing FDA-approved drugs which are already in use for other pathologies, and have past pharmacokinetic and toxicological tests in human, can be a faster and less costly approach to move drugs to clinical testing in PD (Johnston et al 2018). Of note, amantadine itself represents a repurposed drug for LID (Rajput et al 1998, Verhagen Metman et al 1998).

The infamous drug thalidomide (TLD) belongs to the class of immunomodulatory drugs (IMIDs) and is now recognized as a compound with interesting therapeutic properties. Indeed, considering its immunomodulatory and antiangiogenic capacities, TLD is a good candidate for the treatment of many inflammatory diseases and cancer (D'Amato et al 1994, Franks et al 2004, Millrine & Kishimoto 2017). Moreover, safer and more potent TLD derivatives have been recently synthetized and are under investigation for neurological disorders (Frankola et al 2011). TLD and derivatives act inhibiting the synthesis of TNF- α by increasing the degradation of TNF α -mRNA. This dampens the inflammatory cascade by preventing the activation of NF-kB and by decreasing the synthesis of factors involved in inflammatory processes (Deng et al 2013,

Mercurio et al 2017, Moreira et al 1993, Sampaio et al 1991, Tweedie et al 2011). Moreover, recent studies established that the antiangiogenic properties of TLD are also based on TNF- α inhibition (Mercurio et al 2017, Zhu et al 2018).

As said, more potent and selective derivatives have been synthesized (Frankola et al 2011). Among them, 3,6 dithiothalidomide (DTT) is a TLD derivative with higher selectivity and more potent TNF- α -inhibiting activity than the parent compound, while maintaining comparable blood–brain barrier (BBB) permeability (Tweedie et al 2011). Previous studies reported that DTT can attenuate memory deficits and the synthesis of inflammatory mediators in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of Alzheimer's Disease (Russo et al 2012, Tweedie et al 2012).

AIM

Microglia-mediated neuroinflammatory processes play a pivotal role in the neuropathology of PD and in the physiopathology of LID. We further addressed both these issues in the present study, in order to better investigate the interplay between neuroinflammation and α -syn as a neuropathological mechanism of PD, and in order to investigate the potential use of immunomodulatory drugs to treat LIDs.

Project I

 α -syn pathology represents an important hallmark of PD. As reported, several studies are indicating that the most toxic α -syn specie is represented by oligomers, which can exert their toxic effects in different ways. Among these effects, the interaction with the immune central system seems to be relevant. Particularly, it is conceivable that α -syn oligomers affect the effector function of microglial cells, which are the immunocompetent cells of our brain and in charge for phagocytosis of α -syn oligomers.

The study from Fusco et al., identified a toxic oligomeric specie relevant for PD (Fusco et al, 2017). *In vitro* experiments showed that these oligomers strongly interact with biological membranes, disrupting their integrity. Based on these evidences, we evaluated the neurotoxic effects of α -syn oligomers *in vivo*, in order to evaluate if they can reproduce the neuropathologic and symptomatic traits of PD and in order to study the α -syn-induced neuroinflammatory response and specifically the interaction between α -syn oligomers and microglia.

Firstly, we performed a dose finding experiment testing different doses of α -syn oligomers. Once established the optimal dose, we investigated at progressive time points the behavioral and neurotoxic effects induced by the inoculation of α -syn oligomers in the rat SNc. Moreover, we investigated the neuroinflammatory response to α -syn oligomers in the SN focusing on microglial cells. Finally, we assessed the presence of pathologic phosphorylated α -syn and its interaction with microglia.

Project II

Besides the classical neuronal mechanisms, LID involves non-conventional mechanisms such as neuroinflammation and angiogenesis. Both these events involve TNF- α , which is a potent proinflammatory cytokine but also affects neuronal excitability. As said, repurposing FDA-approved drugs can accelerate the process toward clinical testing. Here, we hypothesized that TLD and DTT, which are immunomodulatory drugs and inhibitors of TNF- α , may attenuate dyskinetic movements in a rat model of PD. Hence, we tested the efficacy of these drugs in ameliorating AIMs induced by a chronic treatment with L-DOPA in 6-OHDA injected rats. Moreover, we investigated the effect of TLD and DTT on L-DOPA-induced neuroinflammation and angiogenesis in the SNpr and Str. Finally, based on the evidence that LID involves changes in glutamatergic receptor subunits, which in turn are under TNF- α modulation, we assessed levels of GLUR1 subunit in the dorsolateral Str.

METHODS

All experimental procedures met the guidelines and protocols approved by the European Community (2010/63 UE L 276 20/10/2010), by the Ethical Commission for Animal Care and Use at the University of Cagliari and Italian Ministry of Health (pr. # 1293/2015-PR).

1. Methods I

1.1 Oligomer synthesis

Oligomers were synthetized from α -syn previously expressed and purified in E. coli using the plasmid pT7-7 encoding for the protein (Aprile et al 2017, Fusco et al 2017). All α -syn fractions containing the monomeric protein were pooled together and concentrated by using Vivaspin filter devices (Sartorius Stedim Biotech, Gottingen, Germany). The protein purity was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and the protein concentration was determined spectrophotometrically.

One week before the intranigral injection, oligomeric species were prepared. Shortly, 6 mg of lyophilized protein was resuspended in PBS buffer at a pH of 7.4 and at a concentration of 12 mg/ml. The solution was filtered passed through a 0.22 μ m cut-off filter and subsequently incubated at 37 °C for 24 h in stationary mode and without agitation in order to avoid acceleration of fibril formation (Chen et al 2015b). Despite this precaution, small numbers of fibrillar species were formed during this incubation period and removed by ultracentrifugation for 1 h at 90,000 rpm (using a TLA-120.2 Beckman rotor; 288,000g). The excess of monomers and small oligomers in the sample was then removed by means of several filtration steps using 100 kDa cutoff membranes, which resulted in the enrichment of the oligomeric species (Fusco et al., 2017)

1.2 Animals and stereotaxical surgery

In order to find the proper volume and concentration of α -syn oligomers, male Sprague Dawley rats weighting 275-300g were deeply anesthetized with Fentanyl (3 mg/Kg) and injected with 5, 10 and 20 µl of fluorescent oligomers at two different concentrations (1 mg/ml and 0,50 mg/ml). Three days after the surgery, animals were transcardially perfused with PFA 4% and brains

collected and vibratome cut in 40 μ m slices. Slices were observed with a Fluorescence microscope (Zeiss, 5X) to detect any mechanical damage, excessive diffusion in the SN or along the injector-trace, or large deposits of aggregates that may reduce their ability to interact with membranes. Considering all these factors, we chose a final volume of 5 μ l with 0,5 mg/ml concentration.

Rats (n=96) were stereotaxically injected in the left SNc (anteroposterior: -5,4; mediolateral: - 1,9; dorsoventral: -7,2) with the established dose of oligomer (n=48) or vehicle (n=48). In order to test the toxicity of α -syn oligomers at three different time points after infusion, animals were randomly divided in groups of 16 for each time point (8 vehicle + 8 oligomer).

1.3 Beam Challenging Test

After one, three and five months post-surgery, rats were tested by the Beam Challenging Test to assess motor deficits, adapted from a protocol previously developed (Drucker-Colin & Garcia-Hernandez 1991). The testing apparatus consisted of 2 m-long wooden beam placed between a starting platform and the home cage with an slope of 15°. The beam width was 15, 10 and 5 mm. Rats were trained for three days to walk along the beam. The test day rats were videotaped. Rats were placed at the lower end of the beam and allowed to traverse the full length to reach to home cage, and the number of stepping errors was counted. The same procedure was repeated for the three different width beams. When the animal was not able to complete the task in 120 s or if it fell off the beam, the error score was assigned.

1.4 Immunohistochemistry

After the behavioural assessments, rats were anesthetized and transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde. Brains were post-fixed and 40 μ m thick coronal sections were vibratome-cut. Midbrain sections (Bregma -4,4 mm) were pre-incubated with a blocking solution with normal serum/BSA and then immunoreacted with primary antibodies for single or double immunolabelling: polyclonal rabbit anti-TH (1:1000, Millipore); goat anti Iba-1 (1:1000; Novus Biologicals); polyclonal rabbit anti-TNF- α (1:500, Novus Biologicals); phosphorylated α -syn

(1:800, Abcam). Control slices were incubated without primary antibodies, and all slices were thereafter incubated with the appropriate fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies. TH-positive cells were visualized using the classic avidin-peroxidase complex (ABC, Vector, UK) protocol was applied, using 3,30- diaminobenzidine (Sigma) as a chromogen. For fluorescence visualization of Iba-1 a two-step indirect labeling protocol was used, while a three-step detection was performed to increase the signal of TNF- α and phosphorylated α -syn, as previously described (Mulas et al 2016).

1.5 Stereological counting of TH immunoreactivity

All immunohistochemical reactions were analyzed by an operator blind to experimental groups, and different from the experimenter that performed the behavioral tests and histology. TH-immunoreactive neurons were counted bilaterally in the SNc as previously described (Lecca et al 2015). A dedicated software was used (Stereologer, System Planning and Analysis, Inc., VA) linked to a motorized stage on the BX-60 Olympus light microscope (Olympus). The total number of TH-stained cells was estimated by means of Optical Fractionator method, which combines the optical dissector with the fractionator sampling scheme, giving a direct estimation of the number of 3-D objects unbiased by shape, size and orientation (Mouton et al 2002). A systematic random sampling of cells within the area of interest was achieved by "Stereologer" program. Equidistant counting frames (frame area=50 μ m2) were obtained. Sampling fraction was delimited at low power and cells were sampled with a ×40 oil immersion objective through a defined depth with a 2 μ m guard zone. The coefficient of error (CE) for each estimation and animal ranged from 0.05 to 0.1.

1.6 Microscopy analysis

Qualitative and quantitative analysis for markers of neuroinflammation was performed using a spinning disk confocal microscope (Crisel Instruments) with a 63X oil objective. Qualitative analysis for p- α syn was performed using a laser scanning confocal microscope Zeiss with a 63X oil objective. Each frame was acquired eight times and then averaged to obtain noise-free

images. Surface rendering, maximum intensity, colocalization, and simulated fluorescence process algorithms were used (ImageJ and Imaris 7.0).

Volumes occupied by Iba-1 and TNF- α /Iba-1 colocalization were determined. For colocalization analysis, a colocalization channel was automatically generated by Imaris 7.3. A stack was obtained from each dataset (20–40 images). In the resulting stacks, ten regions of interest in each acquired area and for each animal (x =700 µm; y = 700 µm; z = 40 µm) were randomly chosen, and volume of the elements of interest was calculated. Values were expressed as a volume. The uninjected sides of brains were utilized as inner controls across studies.

1.7 HPLC

Striatal tissue was sonicated in 250 μ l of 0.2 M perchloric acid, then centrifuged at 9391×g for 15 min at 4°C. Supernatant was filtered (0.6 μ m) and diluted to a ratio 1:200. Twenty microliters were injected into an HPLC apparatus, equipped with a reverse-phase column (LC-18 DB, 15 cm, 5 μ m particle size; Supelco, Milano, Italy) and coulometric detector (ESA Coulochem IIm, Bedford) to quantitate DA. Electrodes were set at +150 mV (oxidation) and -200 mV (reduction). The mobile phase (in mM: CH3COONa, 0.23 M; Citric acid, 0.15 M; Na2EDTA, 100 mg/ml; pH: 5.5) was pumped (Jasco Europe, Italy) at 1 ml/min flow rate. The assay sensitivity for DA was 5 and 10 fmol/sample, respectively.

1.8 Phagocytosis assay

The murine microglial cell line MMGT12 was used. Cells were cultured in DF culture medium comprising DMEM/F12 (1:1, vol/vol), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) without antibiotics, grown in humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2 at 37°C, harvested and seeded twice a week. MMGT12 cells were seeded on 24-well plates at the density 5 x 104 cells per well, incubated in DF culture medium with α -syn oligomers (0.6 µm) for 6, 24 or 48 hours. The whole experiment was repeated three times, with an N=3 of independent samples in each experimental group. Upon verification of the homogeneity of the data, results from three experimental group.

Cells were washed in PBS, trypsinized in 0.05% trypsin for 3 min and re-plated in the same wells, using the same medium for one hour. Fluoresbrite Carboxy YG 6.0 micron Microspheres (Polysciences Inc., Warrington, PA, USA, cat#18141) were resuspended in PBS with 5.5 mM glucose, 1.5 mM Magnesium and 1 mM Calcium, and pre-opsonized by addition of 50% FBS and incubation for 30 min in 5% CO2 at 37 °C. 12 x 106 pre-opsonized microspheres were resuspended in 12 ml of DF culture medium without FBS, distributed on cells (around 10 beads/cell) and incubated for 2 hours. Cells were washed with PBS, trypsinized for 5 min and collected with 0.5 ml of culture medium in conical tubes (for flow cytometry), centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 min, PBS washed and centrifuged for 3 min. Cell pellet was suspended in 0.3 ml PBS containing 1% FBS. Cells were acquired in the green channel (502 nm) by FACSCanto II (BD Biosciences, Erenbodgem, Belgium). The percentage of green cells was determined on the single cell population by BD FACSDiva software.

1.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out by Statistica 8 (Stat Soft Inc., Tulsa, OK, US). Behavioral, himmunohistochemical and HPLC data were statistically compared by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post-hoc test, while in vitro data were compared by t-test. Level of significance was set at p<0.05.

2. Methods II

2.1 Drugs

L-DOPA methyl ester and benserazide (Sigma Aldrich, Milan) were dissolved in saline and administered subcutaneously (s.c.). TLD (70 mg/kg body weight, Sigma Aldrich, Milan) and DTT (56 mg/kg body weight) synthesized and chemically characterized to >99% purity, were suspended in 0.5 % carboxymethylcellulose and administered intraperitoneally (i.p.). The drug dose for DTT was chosen based on prior in vivo studies in rodents where drug benefits were observed using this dose (Belarbi et al 2012, Gabbita et al 2012, Yoon et al 2013, Zhu et al 2003). Due to the more potent anti-inflammatory actions of DTT over TLD, a higher TLD dose was used in order to compare similar activities. A pilot dose-finding study revealed that doses higher than 100 mg/kg acutely induced some sedation in the rats, while the dose of 70 mg/kg was devoid of such effect, as also confirmed by the contralateral turning behavior recorded in rats treated with TLD in association with L-DOPA. Therefore, the dose of 70 mg/kg was used for all further studies. Rats receiving these drug doses in the chronic regimen did not show signs of sufferance or altered general behaviors, except for some abdominal discomfort in the first 5 min after i.p. TLD administration. DTT is not an FDA approved compound and has not been tested in the clinic. TLD is currently a first line treatment for multiple myeloma with escalating doses from 200 mg/d to 400 mg/d (Kropff et al 2012), and similar doses were used in a clinical trial in Alzheimer disease patients (Breitkreutz et al 2007, Decourt et al 2017). Therefore, the TLD dose used in the present study, although on the high side, owns a clinical translatability significance.

2.2 Animals and pharmacological treatments

In order to achieve a full nigrostriatal lesion, male Sprague Dawley rats (Harlan, Italy) weighting 275-300 g were deeply anesthetized with fentanyl (3 mg/kg i.p.), and stereotaxically injected with 6-OHDA into the left medial forebrain bundle, as previously described (Fenu et al 2016, Mulas et al 2016).

The cylinder test and TH (tyrosine-hydroxylase) immunohistochemistry in the Substantia Nigra pars compacta (SNc) were performed to assess dopamine depletion. Only animals showing an

asymmetry score (n. of affected limb wall touches/n. of unaffected limb touches) <0.25 and a nigrostriatal degeneration above 95% were included in the experiments (representative SNpc lesion in Fig. 1A).

Three weeks after 6-OHDA lesioning rats were treated for ten days as follows: vehicle (Veh) rats received saline plus 0.5% carboxymethylcellulose (n=11), Veh+DOPA rats received vehicle and 6 mg/kg each of L-DOPA+benserazide(n=16), TLD+DOPA rats received TLD (70 mg/kg) and L-DOPA+benserazide (6 mg/kg each) (n=11), DTT+DOPA rats received DTT (56 mg/kg)and L-DOPA+benserazide (6mg/kg) (n=7), TLD+Veh and DTT+Veh rats received TLD (70 mg/kg) or DTT (56 mg/kg), respectively, and vehicle (n=4). TLD and DTT were administered daily 30 minutes before L-DOPA. The ten days administration regimen of L-DOPA is a widely used protocol for assessing LIDs in rats, and was chosen based on previous studies showing that after a daily drug treatment for 7-8 days the severity of AIMs reaches a plateau, as shown in supp. fig 1. In a second experiment TLD was tested in the expression of AIMs. One group of rats received daily for fifteen days vehicle+L-DOPA+benserazide (Veh+DOPA, 6 mg/kg each, N=5), one other group received the same treatment for 10 days, followed by daily TLD (70 mg/kg) + L-DOPA+benserazide (N= 5) for additional 5 days.

2.3 Behavioral studies

Limb and axial abnormal involuntary movements (AIMs) were recorded as a rodent model of LID daily during the 10 days treatment, together with contralateral turning behavior. One hour before drugs administration, rats were placed in separate cages. Individual dyskinetic behaviors were recorded for 1 min every 20 min, over a 120 min period. Dyskinetic behaviors were classified into three subtypes: limb AIMs (horizontal purposeless movement of the anterior limb contralateral to the lesion side), axial AIMs (dystonic posture of neck and trunk, toward the side contralateral to the lesion), and contralateral turning (tight turns toward the side contralateral to the lesion). The seconds spent by the animal doing each individual AIM and the number of contralateral turns over the 1 min monitoring period were assessed.

2.4 Immunohistochemistry

On the last day of pharmacological treatments, rats were anesthetized and transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde 1 hour after L-DOPA administration, when rats show the peak of AIMs response. Brains were post-fixed and 40 μ m thick coronal sections were vibratome-cut. Striatal (Bregma +1,28 mm) or midbrain sections (Bregma -4,4 mm) were pre-incubated with a blocking solution with normal serum/BSA and then immunoreacted with primary antibodies for single or double immunolabelling: polyclonal rabbit anti-TH (1:1000, Millipore); monoclonal mouse anti-GluR1 (1:1000, Novus Biologicals); monoclonal mouse anti-OX-42 (1:400, Serotec-Oxford); polyclonal rabbit anti-TNF- α (1:500, Novus Biologicals); polyclonal rabbit anti-IL-10 (1:200, Abbiotec); polyclonal rabbit anti-GFAP (1:1000, Novus Biologicals); monoclonal mouse anti-VEGF (1:200, Novus Biologicals) and monoclonal mouse anti-VEGF (1:200, Novus Biologicals). Control slices were incubated without primary antibodies, and all slices were thereafter incubated with the appropriate fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibodies. For fluorescence visualization of TH, OX-42, GFAP and vimentin a two-step indirect labeling protocol was used, while a three-step detection was performed to increase the signal of cytokines.

2.5 Confocal microscopy analysis

Qualitative and quantitative analysis for GLUR1 expression, all markers of neuroinflammation and angiogenesis immunoreactivity (IR) was performed using a Leica 4D confocal laser scanning microscope, equipped with an argon-krypton laser. Confocal images were generated using PL Fluotar, 40 oil (na. 1.00) lens, as previously described (Mulas et al 2016). Each frame was acquired eight times and then averaged to obtain noise-free images. Surface rendering, maximum intensity, colocalization, and simulated fluorescence process algorithms were used (ImageJ and Imaris 7.0).

Volumes occupied by GLUR1, cytokines/OX-42 colocalization, vimentin and VEGF were determined. For colocalization analysis, a colocalization channel was automatically generated by Imaris 7.3. A stack was obtained from each dataset (20–40 images). In the resulting stacks, ten regions of interest in each acquired area and for each animal ($x = 200 \mu m$; $y = 200 \mu m$; z = 20

 μ m) were randomly chosen, and volume of the elements of interest was calculated. Values were expressed as a volume. The unlesioned side of Veh-treated brains was utilized as the inner control across studies.

2.6 ELISA assay

For multiplex enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) the tissues were homogenized in a Tris based lysis buffer with 3 x protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Halt Protease & Phosphatase inhibitor Single-Use Cocktail, Thermo Scientific), then the samples were centrifuged (10,000g, 4oC, 10 minutes) and the supernatant placed into a new set of tubes. The protein concentrations were measured by use of the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Pierce BCA Protein Assay kit, Thermo Scientific). Equal protein loading concentrations (150 µg/well) were assessed in duplicate on the Mesoscale Discovery (MSD) V-PLEX Proinflammatory Panel 2 for rat. The protocol suggested by manufacturer was used. Samples were briefly centrifuged (10,000g, 4oC, 60 s) to remove any particulate material, and a multiplex standard and tissues were added to the plate. The plates were incubated for 2 hr, washed, and incubated for 2 hr with a multiplex detection antibody solution. After washing, the Read Buffer was added and the electrochemiluminescence (ECL) signal levels were measured (MESO QuickPlex SQ 120). The MSD Discovery Workbench software was used to determine the tissue cytokine protein levels by comparing the rat tissue ECL signals to those of the appropriate protein standard curve. Protein concentrations were expressed as $pg/150 \mu g$ of tissue. Data points were assessed to identify any statistical outliers (Grubb's Test), if any were identified they were excluded from further analysis. Data are expressed as mean±SEM.

2.7 Statistical analysis

All data were statistically analyzed by Statistica 8 (Stat Soft Inc., Tulsa, OK, US). Data from behavioral studies (AIMs and contralateral turning) were analyzed by Two-way ANOVA with repeated measures or One-way ANOVA, followed by Newman-Keuls post-hoc tests. Linear regression was calculated to assess development of AIMs. Immunohistochemistry data were

analyzed by One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD post-hoc test. Significance was set at p<0.05.

RESULTS

1. Results I

We firstly investigated the effect produced by the α -syn oligomer infusion into the SN in terms of motor impairment, neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation in the SN.

In a preliminary study, in order to select the optimal oligomer dose and concentration that did not induce mechanical damage in the injection site, local deposits or diffused staining, we performed a dose-finding experiment by using fluorescent α -syn oligomers. Results showed that an oligomer dose of 1 mg/ml induced a mechanical damage to the tissue when injected in infusion volumes of 10 and 20 µl, and large fluorescent deposits in the infusion site when the infusion volume was 5 µl (Fig.1), according with the notion that highly concentrated α -syn oligomers rapidly aggregate and precipitate. In contrast, the dose of 0.5 mg/ml in 5 µl was void of damaging effects, did not form large local deposits and did not diffuse in the tissue and along the injector-trace (Fig. 1). This dose was therefore used for all subsequent studies.



Fig.1 Representative images of the SNpc three days after the infusion of different concentrations/volumes of fluorescent α -syn oligomers.

1.1 The intranigral infusion of α-syn oligomers induced progressive motor deficits.

Motor performance was evaluated at progressive time points by mean of the beam challenging walking test. One month post-infusion of α -syn oligomers, rats did not display any motor impairment as compared with vehicle-infused rats in any of the three beams used (15-10-5 mm widths) (Fig. 2A). Conversely, three and five months post-infusion, α -syn oligomer-injected rats displayed a significant increase of errors per step when traversing the beams of 10 and 5 mm width as compared with vehicle-injected rats (p<0.05 by Tukey's post-hoc test; Fig. 2A). When

comparing the errors made in the same beam at progressive time points, we found a significant increase in the number of errors made by rats injected 5 months earlier as compared to rats injected 1 month earlier, suggesting that the development of motor deficits was progressive (p<0.05 by Tukey's post-hoc test; Fig.2B).



Beam challenging test

Fig.2. *a*-syn oligomer-infused rats developed progressive motor impairment. Motor deficits measured in Vehicle and Oligomer-infused animals in the three different beam widths (15, 10 and 5 mm) at each time point (one, three and five months post-infusion) (A). Scatter plots displaying the development of motor impairments through the different time points in the different beam widths (B). Motor impairment is expressed as errors per step. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05 vs Vehicle, ^p<0.05 vs 1 month by Tukey post-hoc test (n=8).

1.2 The α -syn oligomers infusion reduced TH+ neurons in SNpc and reduced striatal dopamine levels.

Stereological analysis of TH IR in the SNpc showed that one month post-infusion of α -syn oligomers the density of TH+ neurons was similar to controls (Fig.3). Conversely, the density of TH+ neurons decreased after three (up to 40%) and five (up to 50%) months post-infusion in the

 α -syn oligomers-infused SNpc as compared with the contralateral SNpc and with the vehicle-infused SNpc (p<0.001 vs all others groups; Fig.3).

As shown in Fig.4. the dopaminergic cell loss was significantly higher three months postinfusion as compared with one month post-infusion. Moreover, the dopaminergic loss was significantly higher five months post-infusion as compared with one and three months, suggesting that the neurodegenerative process was progressive (p<0.001 vs all others groups of the same time point; Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. The *a*-syn oligomers infusion induced dopaminergic loss in SNpc. Representative images of the TH IR in the vehicle- or α -syn oligomers-injected SNpc; magnification 5X (A). Total number of TH+ cells/mm³ measured by stereological counting one, three and five months after the α -syn oligomers infusion (B). Values represent the mean \pm SEM. p<0.001 vs all other groups of the same time point by Tukey's post-hoc test (n=8).



Fig. 4. The dopaminergic loss increased progressively. Scatter plots showing the total number of TH+ cells/mm3 measured by stereological counting in the vehicle- or α -syn oligomers-injected SNpc one, three and five months after the α -syn oligomers infusion. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. *p<0.001 vs 1 month post-infusion, ^p<0.001 vs 3 months post-infusion by Tukey's post-hoc test (n=8).

1.3 The infusion of α-syn oligomers in SNpc caused a decrease in striatal dopamine content.

HPLC measurement of striatal dopamine levels was performed three months post-infusion and showed a significant reduction in the striatum homolateral to the oligomer-infusion as compared with the contralateral side as well as with the striatum of vehicle-infused rats (p<0.05 vs all other groups, Fig. 5).



Striatal Dopamine

Fig. 5. Dopamine content decreased in the Str homolateral to the α -syn oligomers infusion. The graph shows levels of striatal dopamine three months after α -syn oligomer infusion, expressed as pg/mg of tissue. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. *p<0.05 vs all other groups by Tukey post-hoc test.

1.4 The infusion of α -syn oligomers in SNpc induced prolonged microglial reactivity and increase of TNF- α in the SNpc.

Iba-1 IR. Our results showed that one month post-infusion of α -syn oligomers Iba-1 IR was significantly higher in the injected SNpc as compared with the uninjected SNpc (#p<0.05 by Tukey's post-hoc test; Fig. 6C). In contrast, a slight but not significant increase in Iba-1 IR occurred in the vehicle-injected SNpc as compared to the contralateral SNpc. Three months post-infusion of α -syn oligomers the Iba-1 IR was further increased with respect to Iba-1 levels measured 1 month post-oligomers infusion (^p<0.0001 vs oligomer-injected side by Tukey's post-hoc test, Fig. 6C).



Fig. 6 The α -syn oligomers infusion induced an increase in Iba-1 IR one month post-infusion which was further exacerbated three months post-infusion. Representative images of Iba-1 (red) and colocalized TNF- α (yellow) IR in SNpc one month (A) and three months (B) post-infusion. Magnification 63X. Iba-1 IR levels in SNpc are expressed as % vs Vehicle one and three months post-infusion. #p<0.05 vs uninjected sides; * p<0.0001 vs all other groups of the same time point; ^p<0.0001 vs oligomer-injected side by Tukey post-hoc test (Fig. 6C).

TNF- α **IR.** Infusion of the α -syn oligomers into the SNpc induced an increase of TNF- α levels colocalized with Iba-1-positive cells as compared to controls, that was already significant after 1 month, and remained stable 3 months after the oligomers infusion (*p<0.001 vs all other groups).



Fig. 7 The α -syn oligomers infusion in SNpc induced an increase of TNF- α colocalized with Iba-1 positive cells in the SNpc. Representative images of TNF- α (yellow) colocalized with Iba-1 positive cells (red) in SNpc one month (A) and three months (B) post-infusion. Magnification 63X. Volume of colocalized TNF- α with Iba-1 expressed as % vs Vehicle one and three months post-infusion. Values represent the mean ± SEM. *p<0.001 vs all other groups at the same time point (C).

1.5 Microglial cells in the oligomer-injected SNpc were positive for phosphorylated α -synuclein.

Pathologic p- α syn was almost absent in control groups (Uninjected and Injected Vehicle, Uninjected Oligomer, Fig.8). Conversely, 1 month post- infusion of α syn oligomers microglial cells displayed few and small deposits of p- α syn. Moreover, microglia exhibited an activated morphology with enlarged cell body and numerous ramified processes. Three and five months post-infusion of α syn oligomers, Iba-1 positive cells displayed large deposits of p- α syn inside the cell body, and microgliaacquired a round-shaped phagocytic morphology (Fig.8).



Fig. 8 Iba-1 positive cells showed p- α syn deposits inside the cell body. Representative confocal images of p- α syn (yellow) colocalized with Iba-1 positive cells (red) in SNpc. Magnification 63X.

1.6 Pre-exposure to α-syn oligomers reduced the phagocytic activity of microglia *in vitro*.

Since a main function of microglia is the clearance of harmful molecules from the microenvironment, we evaluated whether the infusion of α -syn oligomers caused any alteration of the phagocytic function of cultured microglia. The fluorescent beads phagocytosis assay showed that the phagocytic activity of MMGT12 microglia was unchanged after exposure to α -syn oligomers for 6 hours. Conversely, exposure of microglia to α -syn oligomers for 24 and 48 hours significantly decreased the phagocytosis of fluorescent beads as compared to unexposed microglia (Fig. 9).





B

Fig. 9 The exposure to α -syn oligomers decreased the phagocytosis of fluorescent latex beads by MMGT12. Representative flow-cytometry dot-plots (green fluorescence vs side-scatter (SSC-A)) of MMGT12 cells pre-exposed for 6, 24 and 48 hrs to α -syn oligomers. After incubation with α -syn oligomers microglia were incubated with green-fluorescent latex beads (A). The graph shows the percentage of phagocytosis after exposure to α -syn oligomers. Data are expressed as absolute % phagocytosis. Values represent the mean \pm SD. *p<0.001 vs Control group by t-test.

2. Results II

Recent studies have shown an involvement of neuroinflammation not only in the neurophatology of PD, ma also in the physiopathology of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. Based on these evidence, we addressed the ability of immunomodulatory drugs TLD and DTT to counteract the development of L-DOPA-induced AIMs and neuroinflammation in the 6-OHDA PD model.

2.1 Motor responses

Our results showed that L-DOPA treatment induced a gradual development of limb and axial AIMs, whereas rats treated with TLD and DTT exhibited a significantly lower dyskinetic response to L- DOPA (Fig. 10B). Two-way ANOVA revealed a main treatment effect (F2,21 = 16.206, P < 0.0001), a main time effect (F8,168 = 26.478, P < 0.0001), and a significant treatment/time interaction (F16,168 = 3.743, P < 0.0001). The antidyskinetic effect of IMiDs was confirmed by linear regression analysis, which revealed a significant difference between the L-DOPA and TLD/DTT slopes, indicating a different propensity to develop a sensitized behavioral response (F = 4.446, P < 0.01; Fig. 10B). TLD and DTT significantly attenuated the severity of limb and axial AIMs in response to L- DOPA within the 120 minutes of recording, while not changing the duration of L- DOPA effect (P < 0.01; Fig. 10C). Importantly, TLD and DTT did not affect the severity of contralateral turning, suggesting that IMiDs did not affect L- DOPA therapeutic efficacy (Fig. 10D). Total limb (F3,21 = 23,353, P < 0.0001) and axial (F3,21 = 15,758, P < 0.0001) AIMs measured for the whole treatment were reduced by IMiDs, whereas the total turning response was unaffected (Fig. 10E, F). Interestingly, TLD was more efficient in reducing axial AIM (P < 0.001), whereas DTT was more effective in limb AIM (P < 0.001; Fig. 10E). Neither TLD nor DTT administered alone induced a motor response (data not shown). In contrast, when TLD was administered to rats with established AIMs, it failed to reduce AIMs severity (Fig.11).



Fig. 10. TLD and DTT reduced the development of LID in hemiparkinsonian rats. Representative image of the 6-OHDA-infused SNc. (A) Development of AIMs during 10 days of treatment, score is shown as total seconds spent in AIMs in daily session, and linear regression of AIM development during 10 days of treatment (S, slope). (B) Development of AIMs (C) and contralateral turning (D) post-L-DOPA injection during daily sessions (days 5 and 9); total limb and axial AIM score (E) and contralateral turns (F) in the whole treatment. Values represent the mean \pm SEM. #P < 0.0001 for main treatment effect (B); *P < 0.05 versus V + dopa (B, D, F, I); ^P < 0.01 vs TLD + dopa (F).



Fig. 11. Development of AIMs and contralateral turning behavior during 10 days L-DOPA treatment and last 5 days TLD co-administration, showing that TLD did not modify LID expression. Total AIMs score is shown as the sum of total seconds spent in limb and axial AIMs in each day session of 120 minutes, F(4,32)=0,86, p=0,50 (A); contralateral turning score is shown as number of turns per session, F(4,32)=0,02, p=0,99 (B); limb AIM score is shown as total second spent in limb AIM in each session, F(4,32)=0,90 p=0,47 (C); axial AIM score is shown as total second spent in axial AIM in each session, F(4,32)=0,97 p=0,43 (D); Values represent the mean ± SEM. N=5 for each group. Two-way ANOVA for repeated measures was done for the 5 days of TLD and L-DOPA of co-administration.

2.2 Neuroinflammation

The generation of LID was associated with a marked proinflammatory response in microglia in the lesioned dorsolateral striatum (Str) and SNpr, which was significantly attenuated by treatment with IMiDs.

OX-42 IR. OX-42 was analyzed as a classical marker of reactive microglia in the Str and SNpr. The 6-OHDA lesion induced an increase of OX-42 IR that was significant in the Str only (P < 0.0001), and that was exacerbated by the chronic L-DOPA treatment in both areas (P < 0.0001; Fig. 12B ,C). Both TLD and DTT significantly reduced the OX-42 IR (P < 0.0001) induced by L-DOPA, restoring control levels in the Str and SNpr (Fig. 12B, C). In the unlesioned contralateral Str, L-DOPA induced a nonsignificant increase in OX-42 IR, whereas TLD and DTT significantly reduced OX-42 IR (Fig. 12C). We also analyzed levels of the proinflammatory cytokine TNF-α and the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, colocalized with

OX-42, to investigate changes in microglial phenotype. L-DOPA caused an imbalance in the microglial content of both cytokines that was restored by both IMiDs (Figs. 12 and 13).

TNF-*a***.** Dopamine depletion induced a slight, but not significant rise of TNF- α IR colocalized with OX-42 in both Str and SNpr, whereas chronic L-DOPA caused a large increase in TNF- α (P < 0.0001), indicating the augmentation of proinflammatory microglia (Fig. 12B, C). A slight but significant increase in TNF- α was induced by L-DOPA in the unlesioned Str (Fig. 12C). The coadministration of TLD or DTT with L-DOPA fully restored TNF- α /OX-42 colocalization to control values, in agreement with their mechanism of action and indicating a reduction of proinflammatory microglia (Fig. B, C).







08.42





Fig.12. TLD and DTT reduced L-DOPA-induced microgliosis and microglial TNF- α content in the dopamine-depleted Str and SNpr. Representative confocal images showing TNF- α (yellow) in OX-42 (red)-positive cells in the Str (A); total volume occupied by OX-42 and colocalized with TNF- α (red columns) in the Str (unlesioned and lesioned sides) and SNpr (C). Values represent the mean \pm SEM. *P < 0.001; #P < 0.05; ^P < 0.001 versus unlesioned; °P < 0.05 versus Veh (One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD post hoc test).

IL-10. In contrast to TNF- α , the 6-OHDA lesion significantly reduced levels of the antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 in microglia compared with the unlesioned Str (Fig. 13B, C; P < 0.0001). Moreover, chronic L-DOPA administration further reduced IL-10/OX-42 colocalization below 6-OHDA levels (P < 0.0001; Fig. 13B), whereas the coadministration of either TLD or DTT restored IL-10 to 6-OHDA values (Fig. 13B). Therefore, repeated L-DOPA treatment dampened anti-inflammatory microglia, whereas both IMiDs significantly attenuated such effect.

Results shown in Figure 13C compare the % volume of striatal OX-42-positive cells colocalized with TNF- α or IL-10, and the related proportion is shown as a ratio to highlight overall imbalance in the microglia phenotype. Under physiological conditions microglia containing IL-10 prevailed over microglia containing TNF- α , whereas dopamine depletion inverted this ratio from 0.33 to 3.57. L-DOPA further exacerbated this imbalance by elevating the ratio to 121.95, inducing a dramatic increase in proinflammatory microglia over anti-inflammatory. Of note, both IMiDs restored the ratio to near control values (9.62 and 1.78 for TLD and DTT, respectively); however, DTT was more effective than TLD, a feature in agreement with the drug's greater potency in lowering TNF- α levels (Fig. 13C).



Fig. 13. TLD and DTT reverted L-dopa-induced decrease of IL-10 content in the dopaminedepleted Str. Representative confocal images showing IL-10 (yellow) in OX-42 (red)-positive cells (A); volume of OX-42 colocalized with IL-10 (B). Total OX-42-occupied volume is shown in Figure 2. TNF- α /IL-10 volume ratio expressed as % versus OX-42 volume (C). Values represent the mean SEM.^*P < 0.0001; °P < .0001 versus Veh. DL, dorsolateral striatum.

In a separate experiment we extended the investigation of inflammatory markers by multiplex ELISA, and found that several cytokines were expressed at higher levels in L-DOPA-treated rats compared with the unlesioned side of vehicle-treated rats (IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-5, CXCL1, IL-10), whereas TLD reduced IL-6 and IL-1 β levels compared with unlesioned-treated rats (Table 1).

		Str	SN
IL-6	Unlesioned VEH	451,7±39,5	354,4±76,6
	VEH	537,9±78,2	290,2±21,0
	VEH-DOPA	707,7±48,4 *	618,11±37,5* ^
	TLD+DOPA	392,8±57,4 [@]	445,78±34,0 [@]
IL-1β	Unlesioned VEH	47,9±2,4	42,7±5,5
	VEH	66,1±2,6	36,8±2,4
	VEH-DOPA	77,4±6,4*	49,4±3,2
	TLD+DOPA	49,5±3,9 [@]	46,5±1,9
IL-4	Unlesioned VEH	0,59±0,1	0,51±0,1
	VEH	0,54±0,01	0,31±0,1
	VEH-DOPA	0,50±0,1	0,50±0,1
	TLD+DOPA	0,55±0,03	0,48±0,04
IL-5	Unlesioned VEH	8,2±0,5	7,4±0,7
	VEH	9,4±0,1	7,1±0,3
	VEH-DOPA	10,1±0,4*	8,1±0,3
	TLD+DOPA	10,1±0,5*	8,6±0,4
IL-13	Unlesioned VEH	0,81±0,1	0,62±0,1
	VEH	0,99±0,11	0,69±0,1
	VEH-DOPA	0,98±0,1	0,84±0,1
	TLD+DOPA	0,86±0,05	0,84±0,02
INF-γ	Unlesioned VEH	25,0±2,1	23,8±2,6
	VEH	27,0±1,4	23,9±2,4
	VEH-DOPA	23,0±1,7	20,9±2,1
	TLD+DOPA	24,7±1,1	27,9±2,1
CXCL1	Unlesioned VEH	0,76±3,2	0,99±0,02
	VEH	1,6±0.1*	1,33±0,1
	VEH-DOPA	1,13±0,1*	1,57±0,2*
	TLD+DOPA	1,15±0,05*	1,69±0,1*
TNF-α	Unlesioned VEH	0,42±0,01	0,45±0,02
	VEH	0,50±0,1	0,49±0,1
	VEH-DOPA	0,48±0,1	0,48±0,1
	TLD+DOPA	0,68±0,1	0,61±0,1
IL-10	Unlesioned VEH	3,20±0,4	3,1±0,5
	I	I	62

VEH	5,4±0,5*	3,7±0,4
VEH-DOPA	5,7±0,8*	4,6±0,8
TLD+DOPA	5,6±0,4*	4,9±0,3

Tab 1. Cytokine changes in the Str and SN of dopamine-depleted rats after 10 days treatment with vehicle, L-DOPA or co-administration of TLD and L-DOPA. The levels of cytokines were analyzed by multiplex ELISA. Unlesioned VEH refers to the unlesioned side of unilaterally-lesioned rats treated with vehicle. * p < 0.05 vs unlesioned vehicle; ^ p < 0.05 vs vehicle; @ p < 0.05 vs VEH-DOPA.

2.3 Angiogenesis

As elevations in TNF- α protein and angiogenesis are coupled, and as the development of dyskinesia is linked with abnormal angiogenesis occurring mainly within the SNpr (Distler et al 2003, Janelidze et al 2015, Lerner et al 2017, Ohlin et al 2012), we investigated new vessel formation in this area and in the Str by analyzing vimentin and VEGF as markers of angiogenesis (Lai et al 2013). The astroglial marker GFAP showed that astrocytes enwrapped vessels expressing different levels of vimentin and VEGF, depending whether they were preexisting or newly formed vessels (arrows in Fig. 14A and Fig. 15A, respectively). We found a slight, not significant increase in both vimentin and VEGF expression after the 6-OHDA lesion, compared with the unlesioned hemisphere, which was in line with the changes observed in TNF- α protein (Fig. 14 and 15). Chronic L-DOPA dramatically increased the formation of new vessels, as clearly shown by the increased vimentin and VEGF expression in Figure 14 and 15 (P < 0.0001). DTT prevented L-DOPA-induced angiogenesis, in line with the restoration of physiological TNF- α protein levels and with the significant attenuation of AIMs (Fig. 14 and 15; P < 0.0001).


Fig. 14. DTT prevented L-DOPA-induced increase of vimentin IR in the SNpr and Str. Representative confocal images showing GFAP (red) and vimentin (green, A) in the SNpr, and total volume occupied by vimentin and in SNpr and Str (B). Values represent the mean SEM. *P < 0.0001.



Fig. 15. DTT prevented L-DOPA-induced VEGF increase in the SNpr. Representative confocal images showing GFAP (red) and VEGF (yellow, A) in the SNpr, and total volume occupied by VEGF colocalized with GFAP in SNpr (B). Values represent the mean \pm SEM. *P < 0.0001.

2.4 Striatal GLUR1 Protein Levels

Changes in GLUR1 protein levels were investigated in the Str as a postsynaptic neuronal event that is under TNF- α regulation. The confocal analysis showed that GLUR1 IR remained unchanged after the 6-OHDA lesion (Fig. 16A, B). Moreover, L-DOPA induced a significant increase in striatal GLUR1 protein, whereas the administration of DTT in association with L-DOPA restored control levels (P < 0.001; Fig. 16A, B). DTT administered alone did not change striatal GLUR1 levels.



Fig. 16. DTT restored control levels of GluR1 in Str. Representative confocal images of GLUR1 protein expression in the dopamine-depleted Str (A) and GLUR1 levels expressed as % of the analyzed volume (B).

DISCUSSION

In the present studies we aimed at investigating the involvement of neuroinflammation in the α -syn-induced neuropathology of PD as well as its involvement in the physiopathology of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia.

Discussion I

In order to investigate the first issue, i.e. the interrelationship between α -syn and neuroinflammatory response in PD, we exploited α -syn oligomers whose neurotoxicity has been recently demonstrated *in vitro* (Fusco et al 2017). Several studies have indicated that the most pathologically relevant form of α -syn are oligomeric soluble aggregates (Fortuna et al 2017, Fusco et al 2017). Moreover, previous studies have demonstrated that α -syn oligomers holding different tertiary structure induced different toxicities, suggesting a structure-based toxicity (Fusco et al., 2017). We therefore infused such α -syn oligomers in the rat SNpc, in order to evaluate whether they may model neuropathological traits of PD *in vivo* first, and then investigate the interaction with microglia through *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments. Our results demonstrated that particularly structured α -syn oligomers can reproduce features of PD *in vivo*, included motor impairment, cell loss, neuroinflammatory response with microgliosis and p- α -syn deposits in the SNpc. Moreover, we found that α -syn-oligomers impaired the phagocytic function of microglia *in vitro*.

The dose-finding experiment indicated that 0.5 mg/ml was the optimal dose for the aim of our experiment. In fact, this dose did not induce any mechanic damage to the tissue, did not cause the immediate deposition of the α -syn oligomers or their diffusion along the injector-trace.

Once established the optimal dose, we injected the α -syn oligomers in the rat SNpc and we performed behavioral and immunohistochemical analysis at progressive time points. The behavioral assessment revealed that α -syn oligomer-induced motor deficits were still absent at one month post-infusion, while were detected three months and worsened five months post-infusion. According to the behavioral results, stereological analysis of TH in SNpc showed that one month post-infusion no detectable dopaminergic loss was present in the oligomer-injected SNpc, while three and five months-post infusion a consistent and progressive decrease in the

density of TH+ neurons was measured. The reduction in the density of dopaminergic neurons was associated with a decrease in the striatal dopamine content.

Previous studies have tested the toxicity of different α-syn forms when overexpressed or directly injected into the brain. Overexpressed WT or mutant α -syn caused progressive dopaminergic neurodegeneration accompanied by α -syn inclusions and aggregates within neurons and motor symptoms, which well reproduced the progressive disease stages observed in PD patients (Decressac et al 2012, Kirik et al 2002). However, a massive overexpression of α -syn, about four- to five fold above the normal and much higher than in human disease, was necessary to obtain substantial degeneration in the AAV-based models (Decressac et al 2012, Thakur et al 2017). Interestingly, AAV-mediated expression of human α -syn closer to that seen in PD patients, combined with a low no toxic dose α -syn PFF injected 4 weeks apart from AAV, induced a progressive dopaminergic degeneration (Thakur et al 2017). The striatal infusion of PFFs induced a progressive α-syn neuropathology with nigrostriatal degeneration and mild motor deficits which became consistent six months post-infusion (Luk et al 2012a, Paumier et al 2015, Peelaerts et al 2015, Thakur et al 2017). Another study showed that the intracerebroventricular infusion of α -syn oligomers induced non-motor symptoms and late motor symptoms accompanied by dopaminergic loss in mice (Fortuna et al 2017). In our study the infusion of α syn oligomers induced a neurodegenerative process which was detectable as early as three months after the infusion. Notably, the dopaminergic loss was homogeneous and similar among the animals, suggesting an elevated degree of reproducibility. The α -syn oligomers used in the present study have been well-characterized for their ability to induce neuronal toxicity based on their structural properties, where an exposed N-terminal and a rigid core enriched in β -sheet structures confer the ability to insert and damage the lipidic bilayers (Fusco et al 2017). Such structure related-toxicity has been further confirmed by studies showing that blocking the binding of α-syn oligomers to lipidic membranes by aminosterol molecules (Perni et al 2018, Perni et al 2017) or by an antibody against the N-terminal region (Cascella et al 2019), reduced the α -syn oligometric toxicity in primary cortical neurons, neuroblastoma cells and C. Elegans. All together, these evidences confirm that α -syn toxicity is strictly dependent upon its form, with oligomers being the most toxic species, but also on the secondary structure of the oligomer itself, in which confer toxic properties to the protein.

Interestingly, the analysis of inflammatory markers showed that the α -syn oligomers infusion triggered a pro-inflammatory process mediated by microglia which preceded frank neurodegeneration. Hence, one month post-infusion increased levels of Iba-1 and TNF- α were detected in the oligomer-injected SNpc in the absence of dopaminergic loss. Three months post-infusion, Iba-1 levels further increased in the SNpc while TNF- α levels remained stable. These results are in line with the early and persistent inflammatory response detected in other PD models, where the inflammatory response preceded and then accompanied the dopaminergic degeneration (Maia et al 2012, Su et al 2008, Walsh et al 2011, Watson et al 2012). Moreover, the infusion of α -syn oligomers in our study induced a severe and persistent inflammatory response after AAV-based α -syn overexpression, further suggesting that structural properties mediate the toxic effects of α -syn species and may differently affect their interaction with microglia (Chung et al 2009, Sanchez-Guajardo et al 2010, Thakur et al 2017, Theodore et al 2008).

Morphological evaluation of microglia indicated that one month post-infusion cells in the SNpc displayed an activated pro-inflammatory morphology with highly ramified processes and high levels of TNF- α . Three months post-infusion most microglia displayed an ameboid or round-shaped phagocytic morphology but still high levels of TNF- α . These observations suggest that microglia with mixed phenotypes coexisted in the SN after α -syn oligomers infusion, with some cells displaying a pro-inflammatory phenotype while others a clear phagocytic morphology. According with our observation, previous studies demonstrated the activation of TLRs by α -syn (Kim et al 2013, Stefanova et al 2011). TLRs are involved in the activation of both the proinflammatory and the phagocytosis-activator pathways in microglia. Notably, confocal analysis revealed the presence of pathologic p- α syn following to the infusion of the α -syn oligomers. While one month post-infusion, increasingly bigger p- α syn deposits were present in microglia, three and five months post-infusion, increasingly bigger p- α syn deposits were present inside cells, indicating that the pathologic p- α syn was up-taken from the extracellular milieu.

Altogether, results showed that motor impairments, dopaminergic loss, neuroinflammatory responses and deposition of pathologic p- α syn were of increasing severity at progressive time points, reproducing the progressive neuropathology of PD.

Hence, particularly structured toxic α -syn oligomers reproduced the cardinal neuropathological traits of PD after one single unilateral infusion into the SNpc, offering an interesting advantage in respect of complex protocols requiring multiple surgeries or use of viral vectors.

Microglial cells are the main phagocytic cells of the brain and they are in charge of clearing the extracellular α -syn in the brain (Ferreira & Romero-Ramos 2018, Lee et al 2008b). In PD, the contribution of phagocytosis to disease progression and the interaction between α -syn and phagocytic cells remains unclear (Janda et al 2018). In our study, the presence of p- α syn deposits inside microglia *in vivo* suggest an active phagocytosis of pathologic α -syn from the extracellular space. Moreover, when we measured the effect of α -syn oligomers on cultured microglia by a functional phagocytosis assay, we found that the short-term exposure to α -syn oligomers did not alter the phagocytic activity of microglial cells, while a prolonged exposure to α -syn oligomers inhibited the phagocytic process.

Previous *in vitro* studies aimed to investigate the effect of α -syn variants on microglia-mediated phagocytosis led to contrasting results, but suggest that changes in phagocytic activity depend upon the α -syn species and conformations (Park et al 2008, Rojanathammanee et al 2011, Roodveldt et al 2010). Hence, WT and A53T α -syn promoted phagocytosis in microglial cells, while the A30P and E46K α -syn induced the opposite effect (Roodveldt et al 2010). Furthermore, in one study oligomeric α -syn inhibited both basal and LPS-stimulated phagocytosis, while in another study all forms of α -syn, including fibrils increased the phagocytosis of fluorescent beads (Fellner et al 2013, Park et al 2008). Altogether, our *in vivo* and *in vitro* results suggest that the pathological α -syn may be efficiently up-taken in early disease stages by microglia, which however lose their phagocytic ability after prolonged exposure to α -syn oligomers.

Previous studies suggested that microglia in PD lose the ability to self-regulate leading to a disbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes (Carta et al 2011, Hirsch & Hunot 2009). For instance, the exposure to soluble or fibrillar α -syn induced an increased microglial phagocytic activity together with increased production of ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokines, confirming that mixed microglial phenotypes may coexist in pathological conditions (Fellner et al 2013).

Our findings support an aberrant activation of microglial cells as a mechanism of α -synuclein oligomers-induced-neurotoxicity. In fact, while previous studies demonstrated a direct toxic action of α -synuclein oligomers on neurons by disrupting membrane integrity (Fusco et al 2017, Winner et al 2011), our study also shows that α -syn oligomers activated microglia in their pro-inflammatory phenotype, which lead to the release of pro-inflammatory mediators and contribute to neuronal damage. Damaged and dying neurons in turn may release pathological p- α syn in the extracellular space, which is cleared by phagocytic microglia until this process fails. We suggest that microglia are not able to efficiently process the large amount of pathological α -syn, which accumulates inside the cells leading to the engulfment of the phagocytic machinery and to phagocytosis impairment. A mixed reactive phenotype, with concurrent pro-inflammatory microglia and poorly-efficient phagocytic microglia may represent a dangerous milieu for nearby neurons which favors neurotoxicity, posing microglia as a key player in α -syn-mediated neurodegeneration in PD.

In conclusion, the α -syn oligomers administration reproduced neuropathological features of PD, including motor deficits, neurodegeneration, α -syn pathology and microgliosis, and might represent a valid and useful model of PD to investigate mechanisms of α -syn-induced toxicity and to test protective strategies.

Discussion II

To further investigate the role of neuroinflammation in PD, we tested the possibility to target neuroinflammatory responses in order to alleviate L-DOPA-induced dyskinetic movements. To this aim, we assessed the efficacy of the immunomodulatory drug TLD and its analogue DTT in attenuating the L-DOPA-induced neuroinflammatory response and LID in the 6-OHDA rat model of PD. Previous studies supported an active role of L-DOPA induced striatal inflammation in the development of LID (Barnum et al 2008, Bortolanza et al 2015a, Mulas et al 2016). Our study showed for the first time that the immunomodulatory drugs TLD and its analogue DTT significantly reduced the severity of LIDs in the 6-OHDA model of PD. Moreover, both IMiDs dramatically diminished the neuroinflammatory response induced by L-DOPA in the Str and the SNpr. As DTT possesses a more potent TNF-α inhibitory profile than TLD (Zhu et al 2003), we broadened our investigation to characterize altered GLUR1 protein levels in the underlying antidyskinetic mechanism of DTT treatment and found that DTT reduced L-DOPA-induced increases in GLUR1 protein. We also found that DTT strongly attenuated L-DOPA-induced angiogenesis. These findings are of clinical relevance for PD, because TLD and several close analogues are FDA-approved drugs, currently in clinical trials for several central nervous system disorders (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00140452, NCT00231140, NCT01094340, NCT02415153 and NCT01553149). Both TLD and DTT reduced the AIM score during the whole treatment. This effect resulted from the induction of less intense AIMs when L-DOPA was administered in association with IMiDs, whereas the duration of the pharmacological effect was not affected. This effect was further highlighted by the linear regression analysis showing that both IMiDs reduced the development of AIMs response upon repeated L-DOPA injections and suggesting a dampening of striatal mechanisms underlying sensitization (Carta et al 2008). Of note, treatment with IMiDs did not affect the severity of contralateral turning behavior in L-DOPA-treated animals, suggesting that these drugs did not interfere with L-DOPA therapeutic efficacy. TLD induced a slightly more intense turning behavior than did L-DOPA, likely a consequence of the dramatic suppression of axial AIMs, which mostly impede motor responses. Interestingly, DTT effects were similar to those of TLD, albeit that DTT was used at a lower dose. This is in line with the 10- to 30-fold higher potency of DTT against TNF-α synthesis compared with TLD (Tweedie et al 2009). We also found that DTT inhibited the striatal overexpression of GLUR1 induced by repeated L-DOPA treatments. The GLUR1 subunit confers Ca++-permeability to the AMPA channel and is highly expressed in the striatum. Several reports suggest that the AMPA receptor plays a role in dyskinesia (Calon et al 2003, Konitsiotis et al 2000, Ouattara et al 2010). An increase of PKA dependent phosphorylation of GLUR1 and alterations in alternative splicing of AMPA receptor subunits were associated with LIDs in rats (Ba et al 2006, Kobylecki et al 2013), whereas the inhibition of the Ca++-permeable AMPA receptor was associated with antidyskinetic effects (Kobylecki et al 2010, Konitsiotis et al 2000). Of note, TNF- α has been shown to increase the cell surface expression of GLUR1 protein (Kobylecki et al 2013). Therefore, results show that increased TNF- α levels induced postsynaptic neuronal changes in the striatum, suggesting a functional link between neuroinflammation and altered neuronal activity. As previously reported, L-DOPA induced an intense microgliosis and increased TNF- α levels in microglia in the dopamine-depleted striatum, whereas in the intact striatum the drug only induced a mild inflammatory response. This suggests that the preexisting inflammatory milieu, related to the neurodegenerative process dramatically amplified an otherwise mild inflammatory response to L-DOPA. Moreover, a similar inflammatory reaction extended to the SNpr, the output basal ganglia structure that also mediates motor effects and LIDs (De Deurwaerdere et al 2017, Navailles & De Deurwaerdere 2012). The microglial overproduction of TNF-a was associated with decreased levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 in the same cell type. When the cytokine profile was evaluated by multiplex ELISA, we found an increase of inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-1 β , and of CXCL1 and IL-10, whereas several other cytokines were unaltered by L-DOPA, including TNF-a. Moreover, TLD reversed IL-6 and IL-1^β levels. Therefore, ELISA results suggest that the L-DOPA and TLD effect extended to additional inflammatory cytokines. Interestingly, the ELISA assay also produced some mismatching results when compared with IHC data. This was not surprising because ELISA could not discriminate different cell types, and it was performed in the whole substantia nigra, including the pars compacta, where the neuroinflammatory environment was profoundly affected by the 6-OHDA lesion, in contrast to the focused analysis in single cell types performed by IHC. Moreover, in the ELISA assay the TNF- α levels were in the very low range of detection, whereas IL-6 and IL1- β levels were easily measured. Altogether the results suggest that repeated L-DOPA treatment induced a chronic imbalance in the microglial phenotype, with a prevalence of pro-inflammatory over anti-inflammatory microglial phenotypes. This phenomenon thus provides a solid scientific rationale for using IMiDs in the treatment of LIDs. Accordingly, TLD

and DTT were able to reduce the microgliosis and restore the cytokine imbalance induced by L-DOPA to near control levels, indicating that these drugs drove the activity of microglial cells to that of an anti-inflammatory phenotype. TLD and DTT rapidly inhibit TNF-α protein production at the posttranscriptional level via key elements within the 30 untranslated regions (Moreira et al 1993), as well as transcriptionally by downregulating NF-kB and myeloid differentiation factor88 (Majumder et al 2012). TNF- α is a key inflammatory cytokine that is rapidly upregulated and released by microglial cells on receiving inflammatory stimuli. If this response is not restored to normal levels in a timely manner, TNF- α can trigger a cascade of events that generate a chronic pro-inflammatory microenvironment and affect the activity of neurons driving neuronal dysfunction. Moreover, TNF- α is a master regulator of the inflammatory response inducing the expression of other cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (John et al 2003). IL-10, in turn, is constitutively present in the brain microenvironment, holding a pivotal role in maintaining homeostasis in microglial cells; moreover, it is an important contributor to remission of inflammation, downregulating the expression and secretion of TNF- α and other proinflammatory cytokines and growth factors (Frei et al 1994, John et al 2003). Whereas L-DOPA disrupted the complex cross talk between cytokines promoting the proliferation of inflammatory microglia, IMiDs restored the balance to dampen neuroinflammation, breaking the self-fueling circle instigated by L-DOPA. Again, the lower dose of DTT used here reduced TNF-a levels to an extent similar to TLD, in accordance with DTT's higher potency as a TNF- α inhibitor. In this regard, DTT displays a greater potency (10- to 30-fold increased activity at lowering TNF-a protein compared with TLD, reaffirming that TNF- α inhibition is the pharmacological target of these IMiDs for LID attenuation (Baratz et al 2011, Tweedie et al 2009, Zhu et al 2003). The doses used in our present study compare favorably with prior preclinical research (Baratz et al 2011, Russo et al 2012, Tweedie et al 2012), and are in line with translational doses used in humans in which up to 1200 mg singly and 1000 mg daily of TLD have been administered (Rehman et al 2011). More routine in humans is a daily TLD dose on the order of 200 to 400 mg, and this dose proved to be poorly tolerated and inefficacious in a recent clinical trial in Alzheimer's disease (Decourt et al 2017). Common TLD-related adverse events reported in oncologic patients are hematologic such as mild neutropenia, peripheral sensory neuropathy, constipation, and infection. These adverse effects may represent a concern for a possible drug repurposing of TLD, and safety/tolerability of the drug should be scrutinized in the parkinsonian

population yet reiterating the need for well-tolerated and more potent analogues. Several studies have provided convincing evidence for a neuroinflammatory component in LID neuropathology (Carta et al 2017). Initial explorative studies showed an intensified inflammatory environment in the striatum of L-DOPA treated dyskinetic rats (Barnum et al 2008, Bortolanza et al 2015a), which was associated with a dramatic increase in the microglial production of TNF- α (Mulas et al 2016). In turn, dyskinesia was exacerbated by an inflammatory stimulus (Mulas et al 2016). Of note, striatal neuroinflammation was linked with the dyskinetic outcome of L-DOPA, because the continuous nondyskinetic treatment was devoid of inflammatory effects (Mulas et al 2016). Interestingly, previous studies have shown that LIDs were more intense in aged than in young rats (Bez et al 2016), which may relate to the physiological presence of senescent reactive-like microglia in the elderly brain (von Bernhardi et al 2010). Moreover, a recent study showed that rats overexpressing brain derived neurotrophic factor, a TNF-a-induced growth factor, were more prone to develop LIDs (Tronci et al 2017). As shown by seminal studies by Picconi et al, LIDs are associated with impaired synaptic plasticity at corticostriatal synapses that become unable to undergo depotentiation (Picconi et al 2003). Of note, TNF- α has a critical neuromodulatory function, and increased TNF- α levels have been related to synaptic deficits and altered synaptic plasticity associated with neurodegeneration (Cavanagh et al 2016, Lewitus et al 2014, Santello & Volterra 2012, Vezzani & Viviani 2015, Wu et al 2015). In line with a TNF-α neuromodulatory role, in the present study excessive production of this soluble cytokine in dyskinetic animals may have contributed to impaired synaptic plasticity at corticostriatal synapses. In addition to immune functions, TNF- α is a potent proangiogenic cytokine acting via the NF-kB transcription factor to stimulate VEGF production and new blood vessel formation (Leibovich et al 1987, Naldini & Carraro 2005, Szade et al 2015). Using vimentin and VEGF as markers of angiogenesis, we report that L-DOPA was highly proangiogenic, and inhibition of TNF- α production by IMiDs completely prevented such an effect. The contribution of angiogenesis in the development of dyskinesia has been elegantly demonstrated in several studies. Elevated angiogenesis was reported in the basal ganglia of dyskinetic PD patients compared with nondyskinetic patients undergoing L-DOPA treatment (Lerner et al 2017, Lindgren et al 2009, Ohlin et al 2011). Moreover, preclinical studies have shown that L-DOPA dose-dependently induced angiogenesis, whereas LIDs were attenuated by VEGF inhibition with vandetanib and candesartan (Hirano et al 2008, Lindgren et al 2009, Munoz et al 2014, Ohlin et

al 2011). Here, we have demonstrated a causal relationship between angiogenesis and L-DOPA induced inflammation and suggest that contrasting the latter by inhibiting TNF- α with IMiDs may be a useful tool to diminish both angiogenesis and dyskinesia. In line with our results, the inhibition of nitric oxide, another proangiogenic product that is potently lowered by IMiDs (Majumder et al 2009), reduced the severity of LID in the 6-OHDA rat model (Bortolanza et al 2015a). Vimentin was analyzed as a marker of mesenchymal cells in newly forming endothelial tissue (Lai et al 2013). Interestingly, vimentin has been described as part of the epithelial-mesenchymal transition process associated with chronic inflammation, a sophisticated pathway enrolled in growing of tissue under inflammatory stresses (Kalluri & Weinberg 2009). Moreover, factors released from degenerating neurons such as lactate dehydrogenase A induce brain angiogenesis through an increase of VEGF in a vimentin dependent manner (Lin et al 2018), confirming the role of vimentin in the pathological central nervous system angiogenesis.

Hence, this study showed that TLD and its analogue DTT attenuated the severity of dyskinesia by breaking the chronic inflammatory cycle induced by L-DOPA and restoring the cytokines to near physiological levels. Mechanistically, the alleviation of dyskinesia by IMiDs may occur at multiple levels, involving inhibition of angiogenesis as well as removal of L-DOPA-induced postsynaptic changes in striatal neurons. TLD and the more recently synthetized analogues are FDA-approved drugs for several chronic inflammatory treatments. In addition, both TLD and derivatives display good BBB permeability and have shown beneficial effects in models of neurological diseases. Taken together, these data suggest that these compounds may be clinically repurposed as an effective therapeutic treatment approach to clinical LIDs in PD.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the present work demonstrates the involvement of neuroinflammation in the α -syninduced neuropathology of PD as well as in the physiopathology of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. A detrimental interaction between toxic forms of α -syn and microglia was found as a mechanism of toxicity in the neuropathological process of the disease. Moreover, the exacerbation of such pre-existing inflammatory environment by chronic L-DOPA contribute to the development of LID, which may be efficiently targeted by IMiDs.

REFERENCES

- Abdelmotilib H, Maltbie T, Delic V, Liu Z, Hu X, et al. 2017. alpha-Synuclein fibril-induced inclusion spread in rats and mice correlates with dopaminergic Neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol Dis* 105: 84-98
- Abeliovich A, Schmitz Y, Farinas I, Choi-Lundberg D, Ho WH, et al. 2000. Mice lacking alphasynuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25: 239-52
- Abounit S, Bousset L, Loria F, Zhu S, de Chaumont F, et al. 2016a. Tunneling nanotubes spread fibrillar alpha-synuclein by intercellular trafficking of lysosomes. *EMBO J* 35: 2120-38
- Abounit S, Wu JW, Duff K, Victoria GS, Zurzolo C. 2016b. Tunneling nanotubes: A possible highway in the spreading of tau and other prion-like proteins in neurodegenerative diseases. *Prion* 10: 344-51
- Abounit S, Zurzolo C. 2012. Wiring through tunneling nanotubes--from electrical signals to organelle transfer. *J Cell Sci* 125: 1089-98
- Ahn KJ, Paik SR, Chung KC, Kim J. 2006. Amino acid sequence motifs and mechanistic features of the membrane translocation of alpha-synuclein. *J Neurochem* 97: 265-79
- Alam P, Bousset L, Melki R, Otzen DE. 2019. alpha-synuclein oligomers and fibrils: a spectrum of species, a spectrum of toxicities. *J Neurochem* 150: 522-34
- Alberio T, Lopiano L, Fasano M. 2012. Cellular models to investigate biochemical pathways in Parkinson's disease. *FEBS J* 279: 1146-55
- Alliot F, Godin I, Pessac B. 1999. Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain. *Brain research. Developmental brain research* 117: 145-52
- Anderson JP, Walker DE, Goldstein JM, de Laat R, Banducci K, et al. 2006. Phosphorylation of Ser-129 is the dominant pathological modification of alpha-synuclein in familial and sporadic Lewy body disease. *J Biol Chem* 281: 29739-52
- Angelova PR, Ludtmann MH, Horrocks MH, Negoda A, Cremades N, et al. 2016. Ca2+ is a key factor in alpha-synuclein-induced neurotoxicity. *J Cell Sci* 129: 1792-801
- Angot E, Steiner JA, Lema Tome CM, Ekstrom P, Mattsson B, et al. 2012. Alpha-synuclein cellto-cell transfer and seeding in grafted dopaminergic neurons in vivo. *PLoS One* 7: e39465
- Appel-Cresswell S, Vilarino-Guell C, Encarnacion M, Sherman H, Yu I, et al. 2013. Alphasynuclein p.H50Q, a novel pathogenic mutation for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* 28: 811-3
- Aprile FA, Arosio P, Fusco G, Chen SW, Kumita JR, et al. 2017. Inhibition of alpha-Synuclein Fibril Elongation by Hsp70 Is Governed by a Kinetic Binding Competition between alpha-Synuclein Species. *Biochemistry* 56: 1177-80
- Arai H, Furuya T, Yasuda T, Miura M, Mizuno Y, Mochizuki H. 2004. Neurotoxic effects of lipopolysaccharide on nigral dopaminergic neurons are mediated by microglial activation, interleukin-1beta, and expression of caspase-11 in mice. *J Biol Chem* 279: 51647-53
- Armentero MT, Levandis G, Nappi G, Bazzini E, Blandini F. 2006. Peripheral inflammation and neuroprotection: systemic pretreatment with complete Freund's adjuvant reduces 6hydroxydopamine toxicity in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 24: 492-505

- Astashkina A, Mann B, Grainger DW. 2012. A critical evaluation of in vitro cell culture models for high-throughput drug screening and toxicity. *Pharmacol Ther* 134: 82-106
- Austin SA, Floden AM, Murphy EJ, Combs CK. 2006. Alpha-synuclein expression modulates microglial activation phenotype. *J Neurosci* 26: 10558-63
- Ba M, Kong M, Yang H, Ma G, Lu G, et al. 2006. Changes in subcellular distribution and phosphorylation of GluR1 in lesioned striatum of 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned and l-dopa-treated rats. *Neurochem Res* 31: 1337-47
- Baba M, Nakajo S, Tu PH, Tomita T, Nakaya K, et al. 1998. Aggregation of alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies of sporadic Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *The American journal of pathology* 152: 879-84
- Baiguera C, Alghisi M, Pinna A, Bellucci A, De Luca MA, et al. 2012. Late-onset Parkinsonism in NFkappaB/c-Rel-deficient mice. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 135: 2750-65
- Balosso S, Ravizza T, Perego C, Peschon J, Campbell IL, et al. 2005. Tumor necrosis factoralpha inhibits seizures in mice via p75 receptors. *Annals of neurology* 57: 804-12
- Balosso S, Ravizza T, Pierucci M, Calcagno E, Invernizzi R, et al. 2009. Molecular and functional interactions between tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptors and the glutamatergic system in the mouse hippocampus: implications for seizure susceptibility. *Neuroscience* 161: 293-300
- Baptista MJ, O'Farrell C, Daya S, Ahmad R, Miller DW, et al. 2003. Co-ordinate transcriptional regulation of dopamine synthesis genes by alpha-synuclein in human neuroblastoma cell lines. *J Neurochem* 85: 957-68
- Baratz R, Tweedie D, Rubovitch V, Luo W, Yoon JS, et al. 2011. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha synthesis inhibitor, 3,6'-dithiothalidomide, reverses behavioral impairments induced by minimal traumatic brain injury in mice. *J Neurochem* 118: 1032-42
- Barcia C, Ros CM, Annese V, Gomez A, Ros-Bernal F, et al. 2011. IFN-gamma signaling, with the synergistic contribution of TNF-alpha, mediates cell specific microglial and astroglial activation in experimental models of Parkinson's disease. *Cell Death Dis* 2: e142
- Barkholt P, Sanchez-Guajardo V, Kirik D, Romero-Ramos M. 2012. Long-term polarization of microglia upon alpha-synuclein overexpression in nonhuman primates. *Neuroscience* 208: 85-96
- Barnum CJ, Eskow KL, Dupre K, Blandino P, Jr., Deak T, Bishop C. 2008. Exogenous corticosterone reduces L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in the hemi-parkinsonian rat: role for interleukin-1beta. *Neuroscience* 156: 30-41
- Barrett PJ, Timothy Greenamyre J. 2015. Post-translational modification of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Brain research* 1628: 247-53
- Bartels T, Choi JG, Selkoe DJ. 2011. alpha-Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. *Nature* 477: 107-10
- Bates DO, Hillman NJ, Williams B, Neal CR, Pocock TM. 2002. Regulation of microvascular permeability by vascular endothelial growth factors. *J Anat* 200: 581-97
- Beattie EC, Stellwagen D, Morishita W, Bresnahan JC, Ha BK, et al. 2002. Control of synaptic strength by glial TNFalpha. *Science* 295: 2282-5
- Belarbi K, Jopson T, Tweedie D, Arellano C, Luo W, et al. 2012. TNF-alpha protein synthesis inhibitor restores neuronal function and reverses cognitive deficits induced by chronic neuroinflammation. *J Neuroinflammation* 9: 23
- Bendor JT, Logan TP, Edwards RH. 2013. The function of alpha-synuclein. Neuron 79: 1044-66

- Bengoa-Vergniory N, Roberts RF, Wade-Martins R, Alegre-Abarrategui J. 2017. Alphasynuclein oligomers: a new hope. *Acta Neuropathol* 134: 819-38
- Bessis A, Bechade C, Bernard D, Roumier A. 2007. Microglial control of neuronal death and synaptic properties. *Glia* 55: 233-8
- Bez F, Francardo V, Cenci MA. 2016. Dramatic differences in susceptibility to 1-DOPA-induced dyskinesia between mice that are aged before or after a nigrostriatal dopamine lesion. *Neurobiol Dis* 94: 213-25
- Bialas AR, Stevens B. 2013. TGF-beta signaling regulates neuronal C1q expression and developmental synaptic refinement. *Nat Neurosci* 16: 1773-82
- Bian MJ, Li LM, Yu M, Fei J, Huang F. 2009. Elevated interleukin-1beta induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine aggravating dopaminergic neurodegeneration in old male mice. *Brain research* 1302: 256-64
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. 2010. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nature immunology* 11: 889-96
- Blank T, Prinz M. 2013. Microglia as modulators of cognition and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Glia* 61: 62-70
- Bliederhaeuser C, Grozdanov V, Speidel A, Zondler L, Ruf WP, et al. 2016. Age-dependent defects of alpha-synuclein oligomer uptake in microglia and monocytes. *Acta Neuropathol* 131: 379-91
- Bortolanza M, Cavalcanti-Kiwiatkoski R, Padovan-Neto FE, da-Silva CA, Mitkovski M, et al. 2015a. Glial activation is associated with 1-DOPA induced dyskinesia and blocked by a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 73: 377-87
- Bortolanza M, Padovan-Neto FE, Cavalcanti-Kiwiatkoski R, Dos Santos-Pereira M, Mitkovski M, et al. 2015b. Are cyclooxygenase-2 and nitric oxide involved in the dyskinesia of Parkinson's disease induced by L-DOPA? *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 370
- Braak H, Del Tredici K, Rub U, de Vos RA, Jansen Steur EN, Braak E. 2003. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of aging* 24: 197-211
- Breitkreutz I, Lokhorst HM, Raab MS, Holt B, Cremer FW, et al. 2007. Thalidomide in newly diagnosed multiple myeloma: influence of thalidomide treatment on peripheral blood stem cell collection yield. *Leukemia* 21: 1294-9
- Breydo L, Wu JW, Uversky VN. 2012. Alpha-synuclein misfolding and Parkinson's disease. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1822: 261-85
- Bucciantini M, Giannoni E, Chiti F, Baroni F, Formigli L, et al. 2002. Inherent toxicity of aggregates implies a common mechanism for protein misfolding diseases. *Nature* 416: 507-11
- Buell AK, Galvagnion C, Gaspar R, Sparr E, Vendruscolo M, et al. 2014. Solution conditions determine the relative importance of nucleation and growth processes in alpha-synuclein aggregation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111: 7671-6
- Burre J, Sharma M, Sudhof TC. 2012. Systematic mutagenesis of alpha-synuclein reveals distinct sequence requirements for physiological and pathological activities. *J Neurosci* 32: 15227-42
- Burre J, Sharma M, Tsetsenis T, Buchman V, Etherton MR, Sudhof TC. 2010. Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science* 329: 1663-7

- Burre J, Vivona S, Diao J, Sharma M, Brunger AT, Sudhof TC. 2013. Properties of native brain alpha-synuclein. *Nature* 498: E4-6; discussion E6-7
- Butler B, Saha K, Rana T, Becker JP, Sambo D, et al. 2015. Dopamine Transporter Activity Is Modulated by alpha-Synuclein. *J Biol Chem* 290: 29542-54
- Calabresi P, Di Filippo M, Ghiglieri V, Tambasco N, Picconi B. 2010. Levodopa-induced dyskinesias in patients with Parkinson's disease: filling the bench-to-bedside gap. *The Lancet. Neurology* 9: 1106-17
- Calon F, Rajput AH, Hornykiewicz O, Bedard PJ, Di Paolo T. 2003. Levodopa-induced motor complications are associated with alterations of glutamate receptors in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 14: 404-16
- Carlsson A, Lindqvist M, Magnusson T. 1957. 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine and 5hydroxytryptophan as reserpine antagonists. *Nature* 180: 1200
- Carta AR, Frau L, Pisanu A, Wardas J, Spiga S, Carboni E. 2011. Rosiglitazone decreases peroxisome proliferator receptor-gamma levels in microglia and inhibits TNF-alpha production: new evidences on neuroprotection in a progressive Parkinson's disease model. *Neuroscience* 194: 250-61
- Carta AR, Frau L, Pontis S, Pinna A, Morelli M. 2008. Direct and indirect striatal efferent pathways are differentially influenced by low and high dyskinetic drugs: behavioural and biochemical evidence. *Parkinsonism & related disorders* 14 Suppl 2: S165-8
- Carta AR, Mulas G, Bortolanza M, Duarte T, Pillai E, et al. 2017. I-DOPA-induced dyskinesia and neuroinflammation: do microglia and astrocytes play a role? *The European journal of neuroscience* 45: 73-91
- Carta M, Bezard E. 2011. Contribution of pre-synaptic mechanisms to L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Neuroscience* 198: 245-51
- Cascella R, Perni M, Chen SW, Fusco G, Cecchi C, et al. 2019. Probing the Origin of the Toxicity of Oligomeric Aggregates of alpha-Synuclein with Antibodies. *ACS Chem Biol* 14: 1352-62
- Castano A, Herrera AJ, Cano J, Machado A. 1998. Lipopolysaccharide intranigral injection induces inflammatory reaction and damage in nigrostriatal dopaminergic system. J Neurochem 70: 1584-92
- Cavanagh C, Tse YC, Nguyen HB, Krantic S, Breitner JC, et al. 2016. Inhibiting tumor necrosis factor-alpha before amyloidosis prevents synaptic deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Neurobiology of aging* 47: 41-49
- Cebrian C, Zucca FA, Mauri P, Steinbeck JA, Studer L, et al. 2014. MHC-I expression renders catecholaminergic neurons susceptible to T-cell-mediated degeneration. *Nature communications* 5: 3633
- Centonze D, Muzio L, Rossi S, Furlan R, Bernardi G, Martino G. 2010. The link between inflammation, synaptic transmission and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Cell Death Differ* 17: 1083-91
- Chadchankar H, Ihalainen J, Tanila H, Yavich L. 2011. Decreased reuptake of dopamine in the dorsal striatum in the absence of alpha-synuclein. *Brain research* 1382: 37-44
- Chandra S, Chen X, Rizo J, Jahn R, Sudhof TC. 2003. A broken alpha -helix in folded alpha -Synuclein. *J Biol Chem* 278: 15313-8
- Chandra S, Gallardo G, Fernandez-Chacon R, Schluter OM, Sudhof TC. 2005. Alpha-synuclein cooperates with CSPalpha in preventing neurodegeneration. *Cell* 123: 383-96

- Chaudhary H, Iyer A, Subramaniam V, Claessens MM. 2016. alpha-Synuclein Oligomers Stabilize Pre-Existing Defects in Supported Bilayers and Propagate Membrane Damage in a Fractal-Like Pattern. *Langmuir* 32: 11827-36
- Chaudhuri KR, Odin P. 2010. The challenge of non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Progress in brain research 184: 325-41
- Chaudhuri KR, Schapira AH. 2009. Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: dopaminergic pathophysiology and treatment. *The Lancet. Neurology* 8: 464-74
- Chen H, Jacobs E, Schwarzschild MA, McCullough ML, Calle EE, et al. 2005. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use and the risk for Parkinson's disease. *Annals of neurology* 58: 963-7
- Chen H, O'Reilly EJ, Schwarzschild MA, Ascherio A. 2008. Peripheral inflammatory biomarkers and risk of Parkinson's disease. *American journal of epidemiology* 167: 90-5
- Chen H, Zhang SM, Hernan MA, Schwarzschild MA, Willett WC, et al. 2003. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and the risk of Parkinson disease. *Archives of neurology* 60: 1059-64
- Chen L, Jin J, Davis J, Zhou Y, Wang Y, et al. 2007. Oligomeric alpha-synuclein inhibits tubulin polymerization. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 356: 548-53
- Chen L, Xie Z, Turkson S, Zhuang X. 2015a. A53T human alpha-synuclein overexpression in transgenic mice induces pervasive mitochondria macroautophagy defects preceding dopamine neuron degeneration. *J Neurosci* 35: 890-905
- Chen SW, Drakulic S, Deas E, Ouberai M, Aprile FA, et al. 2015b. Structural characterization of toxic oligomers that are kinetically trapped during alpha-synuclein fibril formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 112: E1994-2003
- Cho BP, Song DY, Sugama S, Shin DH, Shimizu Y, et al. 2006. Pathological dynamics of activated microglia following medial forebrain bundle transection. *Glia* 53: 92-102
- Choi BK, Choi MG, Kim JY, Yang Y, Lai Y, et al. 2013. Large alpha-synuclein oligomers inhibit neuronal SNARE-mediated vesicle docking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 110: 4087-92
- Chu Y, Dodiya H, Aebischer P, Olanow CW, Kordower JH. 2009. Alterations in lysosomal and proteasomal markers in Parkinson's disease: relationship to alpha-synuclein inclusions. *Neurobiol Dis* 35: 385-98
- Chung CY, Koprich JB, Siddiqi H, Isacson O. 2009. Dynamic changes in presynaptic and axonal transport proteins combined with striatal neuroinflammation precede dopaminergic neuronal loss in a rat model of AAV alpha-synucleinopathy. *J Neurosci* 29: 3365-73
- Clark AK, Gruber-Schoffnegger D, Drdla-Schutting R, Gerhold KJ, Malcangio M, Sandkuhler J. 2015. Selective activation of microglia facilitates synaptic strength. *J Neurosci* 35: 4552-70
- Clark J, Clore EL, Zheng K, Adame A, Masliah E, Simon DK. 2010. Oral N-acetyl-cysteine attenuates loss of dopaminergic terminals in alpha-synuclein overexpressing mice. *PLoS One* 5: e12333
- Colla E, Jensen PH, Pletnikova O, Troncoso JC, Glabe C, Lee MK. 2012. Accumulation of toxic alpha-synuclein oligomer within endoplasmic reticulum occurs in alpha-synucleinopathy in vivo. *J Neurosci* 32: 3301-5
- Colosimo C, Hughes AJ, Kilford L, Lees AJ. 2003. Lewy body cortical involvement may not always predict dementia in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 74: 852-6

- Cookson MR, Hardy J, Lewis PA. 2008. Genetic neuropathology of Parkinson's disease. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 1: 217-31
- Cooper AA, Gitler AD, Cashikar A, Haynes CM, Hill KJ, et al. 2006. Alpha-synuclein blocks ER-Golgi traffic and Rab1 rescues neuron loss in Parkinson's models. *Science* 313: 324-8
- Cremades N, Cohen SI, Deas E, Abramov AY, Chen AY, et al. 2012. Direct observation of the interconversion of normal and toxic forms of alpha-synuclein. *Cell* 149: 1048-59
- Croisier E, Moran LB, Dexter DT, Pearce RK, Graeber MB. 2005. Microglial inflammation in the parkinsonian substantia nigra: relationship to alpha-synuclein deposition. *J Neuroinflammation* 2: 14
- Cuervo AM, Stefanis L, Fredenburg R, Lansbury PT, Sulzer D. 2004. Impaired degradation of mutant alpha-synuclein by chaperone-mediated autophagy. *Science* 305: 1292-5
- Czlonkowska A, Kohutnicka M, Kurkowska-Jastrzebska I, Czlonkowski A. 1996. Microglial reaction in MPTP (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine) induced Parkinson's disease mice model. *Neurodegeneration : a journal for neurodegenerative disorders, neuroprotection, and neuroregeneration* 5: 137-43
- D'Amato RJ, Loughnan MS, Flynn E, Folkman J. 1994. Thalidomide is an inhibitor of angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91: 4082-5
- da Costa CA, Ancolio K, Checler F. 2000. Wild-type but not Parkinson's disease-related ala-53 --> Thr mutant alpha -synuclein protects neuronal cells from apoptotic stimuli. *J Biol Chem* 275: 24065-9
- Daher JP, Volpicelli-Daley LA, Blackburn JP, Moehle MS, West AB. 2014. Abrogation of alpha-synuclein-mediated dopaminergic neurodegeneration in LRRK2-deficient rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111: 9289-94
- Daher JP, Ying M, Banerjee R, McDonald RS, Hahn MD, et al. 2009. Conditional transgenic mice expressing C-terminally truncated human alpha-synuclein (alphaSyn119) exhibit reduced striatal dopamine without loss of nigrostriatal pathway dopaminergic neurons. *Molecular neurodegeneration* 4: 34
- Daniele SG, Beraud D, Davenport C, Cheng K, Yin H, Maguire-Zeiss KA. 2015. Activation of MyD88-dependent TLR1/2 signaling by misfolded alpha-synuclein, a protein linked to neurodegenerative disorders. *Science signaling* 8: ra45
- Danzer KM, Haasen D, Karow AR, Moussaud S, Habeck M, et al. 2007. Different species of alpha-synuclein oligomers induce calcium influx and seeding. *J Neurosci* 27: 9220-32
- Danzer KM, Kranich LR, Ruf WP, Cagsal-Getkin O, Winslow AR, et al. 2012. Exosomal cellto-cell transmission of alpha synuclein oligomers. *Molecular neurodegeneration* 7: 42
- Danzer KM, Krebs SK, Wolff M, Birk G, Hengerer B. 2009. Seeding induced by alphasynuclein oligomers provides evidence for spreading of alpha-synuclein pathology. J Neurochem 111: 192-203
- Dauer W, Przedborski S. 2003. Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. *Neuron* 39: 889-909
- Davalos D, Grutzendler J, Yang G, Kim JV, Zuo Y, et al. 2005. ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. *Nat Neurosci* 8: 752-8
- Davidson WS, Jonas A, Clayton DF, George JM. 1998. Stabilization of alpha-synuclein secondary structure upon binding to synthetic membranes. *J Biol Chem* 273: 9443-9
- Davies LC, Jenkins SJ, Allen JE, Taylor PR. 2013. Tissue-resident macrophages. *Nature immunology* 14: 986-95

- De Biase LM, Schuebel KE, Fusfeld ZH, Jair K, Hawes IA, et al. 2017. Local Cues Establish and Maintain Region-Specific Phenotypes of Basal Ganglia Microglia. *Neuron* 95: 341-56.e6
- De Deurwaerdere P, Di Giovanni G, Millan MJ. 2017. Expanding the repertoire of L-DOPA's actions: A comprehensive review of its functional neurochemistry. *Prog Neurobiol* 151: 57-100
- de Haas AH, Boddeke HW, Biber K. 2008. Region-specific expression of immunoregulatory proteins on microglia in the healthy CNS. *Glia* 56: 888-94
- Deas E, Cremades N, Angelova PR, Ludtmann MH, Yao Z, et al. 2016. Alpha-Synuclein Oligomers Interact with Metal Ions to Induce Oxidative Stress and Neuronal Death in Parkinson's Disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 24: 376-91
- Decourt B, Drumm-Gurnee D, Wilson J, Jacobson S, Belden C, et al. 2017. Poor Safety and Tolerability Hamper Reaching a Potentially Therapeutic Dose in the Use of Thalidomide for Alzheimer's Disease: Results from a Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Current Alzheimer research* 14: 403-11
- Decressac M, Mattsson B, Lundblad M, Weikop P, Bjorklund A. 2012. Progressive neurodegenerative and behavioural changes induced by AAV-mediated overexpression of alpha-synuclein in midbrain dopamine neurons. *Neurobiol Dis* 45: 939-53
- Dehay B, Bove J, Rodriguez-Muela N, Perier C, Recasens A, et al. 2010. Pathogenic lysosomal depletion in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurosci* 30: 12535-44
- Dehay B, Vila M, Bezard E, Brundin P, Kordower JH. 2016. Alpha-synuclein propagation: New insights from animal models. *Mov Disord* 31: 161-8
- Deng X, Zhang J, Zhang J, Huang F. 2013. Thalidomide reduces recurrence of ankylosing spondylitis in patients following discontinuation of etanercept. *Rheumatol Int* 33: 1409-13
- Desplats P, Lee HJ, Bae EJ, Patrick C, Rockenstein E, et al. 2009. Inclusion formation and neuronal cell death through neuron-to-neuron transmission of alpha-synuclein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 13010-5
- Devi L, Raghavendran V, Prabhu BM, Avadhani NG, Anandatheerthavarada HK. 2008. Mitochondrial import and accumulation of alpha-synuclein impair complex I in human dopaminergic neuronal cultures and Parkinson disease brain. *J Biol Chem* 283: 9089-100
- Devine MJ, Ryten M, Vodicka P, Thomson AJ, Burdon T, et al. 2011. Parkinson's disease induced pluripotent stem cells with triplication of the alpha-synuclein locus. *Nature communications* 2: 440
- Di Maio R, Barrett PJ, Hoffman EK, Barrett CW, Zharikov A, et al. 2016. alpha-Synuclein binds to TOM20 and inhibits mitochondrial protein import in Parkinson's disease. *Sci Transl Med* 8: 342ra78
- Diao J, Burre J, Vivona S, Cipriano DJ, Sharma M, et al. 2013. Native alpha-synuclein induces clustering of synaptic-vesicle mimics via binding to phospholipids and synaptobrevin-2/VAMP2. *Elife* 2: e00592
- Dieriks BV, Park TI, Fourie C, Faull RL, Dragunow M, Curtis MA. 2017. alpha-synuclein transfer through tunneling nanotubes occurs in SH-SY5Y cells and primary brain pericytes from Parkinson's disease patients. *Scientific reports* 7: 42984
- Diogenes MJ, Dias RB, Rombo DM, Vicente Miranda H, Maiolino F, et al. 2012. Extracellular alpha-synuclein oligomers modulate synaptic transmission and impair LTP via NMDA-receptor activation. *J Neurosci* 32: 11750-62

- Distler JH, Hirth A, Kurowska-Stolarska M, Gay RE, Gay S, Distler O. 2003. Angiogenic and angiostatic factors in the molecular control of angiogenesis. *The quarterly journal of nuclear medicine : official publication of the Italian Association of Nuclear Medicine (AIMN) [and] the International Association of Radiopharmacology (IAR)* 47: 149-61
- Doorn KJ, Breve JJ, Drukarch B, Boddeke HW, Huitinga I, et al. 2015. Brain region-specific gene expression profiles in freshly isolated rat microglia. *Front Cell Neurosci* 9: 84
- Doorn KJ, Moors T, Drukarch B, van de Berg W, Lucassen PJ, van Dam AM. 2014. Microglial phenotypes and toll-like receptor 2 in the substantia nigra and hippocampus of incidental Lewy body disease cases and Parkinson's disease patients. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* 2: 90
- Drouin-Ouellet J, St-Amour I, Saint-Pierre M, Lamontagne-Proulx J, Kriz J, et al. 2014. Toll-like receptor expression in the blood and brain of patients and a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 18
- Drucker-Colin R, Garcia-Hernandez F. 1991. A new motor test sensitive to aging and dopaminergic function. *Journal of neuroscience methods* 39: 153-61
- Duke DC, Moran LB, Pearce RK, Graeber MB. 2007. The medial and lateral substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease: mRNA profiles associated with higher brain tissue vulnerability. *Neurogenetics* 8: 83-94
- Dutta G, Zhang P, Liu B. 2008. The lipopolysaccharide Parkinson's disease animal model: mechanistic studies and drug discovery. *Fundamental & clinical pharmacology* 22: 453-64
- Edison P, Ahmed I, Fan Z, Hinz R, Gelosa G, et al. 2013. Microglia, amyloid, and glucose metabolism in Parkinson's disease with and without dementia. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* 38: 938-49
- Edwards JP, Zhang X, Frauwirth KA, Mosser DM. 2006. Biochemical and functional characterization of three activated macrophage populations. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 80: 1298-307
- Emmanouilidou E, Melachroinou K, Roumeliotis T, Garbis SD, Ntzouni M, et al. 2010a. Cellproduced alpha-synuclein is secreted in a calcium-dependent manner by exosomes and impacts neuronal survival. *J Neurosci* 30: 6838-51
- Emmanouilidou E, Minakaki G, Keramioti MV, Xylaki M, Balafas E, et al. 2016. GABA transmission via ATP-dependent K+ channels regulates alpha-synuclein secretion in mouse striatum. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 139: 871-90
- Emmanouilidou E, Stefanis L, Vekrellis K. 2010b. Cell-produced alpha-synuclein oligomers are targeted to, and impair, the 26S proteasome. *Neurobiology of aging* 31: 953-68
- Emmer KL, Waxman EA, Covy JP, Giasson BI. 2011. E46K human alpha-synuclein transgenic mice develop Lewy-like and tau pathology associated with age-dependent, detrimental motor impairment. *J Biol Chem* 286: 35104-18
- Erkkinen MG, Kim MO, Geschwind MD. 2018. Clinical Neurology and Epidemiology of the Major Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 10
- Espa E, Clemensson EKH, Luk KC, Heuer A, Bjorklund T, Cenci MA. 2019. Seeding of protein aggregation causes cognitive impairment in rat model of cortical synucleinopathy. *Mov Disord*
- Fasano S, Bezard E, D'Antoni A, Francardo V, Indrigo M, et al. 2010. Inhibition of Ras-guanine nucleotide-releasing factor 1 (Ras-GRF1) signaling in the striatum reverts motor

symptoms associated with L-dopa-induced dyskinesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 21824-9

- Fauvet B, Mbefo MK, Fares MB, Desobry C, Michael S, et al. 2012. alpha-Synuclein in central nervous system and from erythrocytes, mammalian cells, and Escherichia coli exists predominantly as disordered monomer. *J Biol Chem* 287: 15345-64
- Fellner L, Irschick R, Schanda K, Reindl M, Klimaschewski L, et al. 2013. Toll-like receptor 4 is required for alpha-synuclein dependent activation of microglia and astroglia. Glia 61: 349-60
- Fenu S, Espa E, Pisanu A, Di Chiara G. 2016. In vivo dopamine agonist properties of rotigotine: Role of D1 and D2 receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* 788: 183-91
- Ferrari CC, Pott Godoy MC, Tarelli R, Chertoff M, Depino AM, Pitossi FJ. 2006. Progressive neurodegeneration and motor disabilities induced by chronic expression of IL-1beta in the substantia nigra. *Neurobiol Dis* 24: 183-93
- Ferreira SA, Romero-Ramos M. 2018. Microglia Response During Parkinson's Disease: Alpha-Synuclein Intervention. *Front Cell Neurosci* 12: 247
- Ferrini F, De Koninck Y. 2013. Microglia control neuronal network excitability via BDNF signalling. *Neural plasticity* 2013: 429815
- Feyder M, Bonito-Oliva A, Fisone G. 2011. L-DOPA-Induced Dyskinesia and Abnormal Signaling in Striatal Medium Spiny Neurons: Focus on Dopamine D1 Receptor-Mediated Transmission. *Front Behav Neurosci* 5: 71
- Flavin WP, Bousset L, Green ZC, Chu Y, Skarpathiotis S, et al. 2017. Endocytic vesicle rupture is a conserved mechanism of cellular invasion by amyloid proteins. *Acta Neuropathol* 134: 629-53
- Fleming SM, Salcedo J, Fernagut PO, Rockenstein E, Masliah E, et al. 2004. Early and progressive sensorimotor anomalies in mice overexpressing wild-type human alphasynuclein. *J Neurosci* 24: 9434-40
- Fortuna JTS, Gralle M, Beckman D, Neves FS, Diniz LP, et al. 2017. Brain infusion of alphasynuclein oligomers induces motor and non-motor Parkinson's disease-like symptoms in mice. *Behav Brain Res* 333: 150-60
- Fox SH, Katzenschlager R, Lim SY, Ravina B, Seppi K, et al. 2011. The Movement Disorder Society Evidence-Based Medicine Review Update: Treatments for the motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* 26 Suppl 3: S2-41
- Frankola KA, Greig NH, Luo W, Tweedie D. 2011. Targeting TNF-alpha to elucidate and ameliorate neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. *CNS & neurological disorders drug targets* 10: 391-403
- Franks ME, Macpherson GR, Figg WD. 2004. Thalidomide. Lancet (London, England) 363: 1802-11
- Freeman D, Cedillos R, Choyke S, Lukic Z, McGuire K, et al. 2013. Alpha-synuclein induces lysosomal rupture and cathepsin dependent reactive oxygen species following endocytosis. *PLoS One* 8: e62143
- Frei K, Lins H, Schwerdel C, Fontana A. 1994. Antigen presentation in the central nervous system. The inhibitory effect of IL-10 on MHC class II expression and production of cytokines depends on the inducing signals and the type of cell analyzed. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 152: 2720-8

- Freichel C, Neumann M, Ballard T, Muller V, Woolley M, et al. 2007. Age-dependent cognitive decline and amygdala pathology in alpha-synuclein transgenic mice. *Neurobiology of aging* 28: 1421-35
- Frigerio R, Fujishiro H, Ahn TB, Josephs KA, Maraganore DM, et al. 2011. Incidental Lewy body disease: do some cases represent a preclinical stage of dementia with Lewy bodies? *Neurobiology of aging* 32: 857-63
- Fujiwara H, Hasegawa M, Dohmae N, Kawashima A, Masliah E, et al. 2002. alpha-Synuclein is phosphorylated in synucleinopathy lesions. *Nat Cell Biol* 4: 160-4
- Furukawa Y, Vigouroux S, Wong H, Guttman M, Rajput AH, et al. 2002. Brain proteasomal function in sporadic Parkinson's disease and related disorders. Annals of neurology 51: 779-82
- Fusco G, Chen SW, Williamson PTF, Cascella R, Perni M, et al. 2017. Structural basis of membrane disruption and cellular toxicity by alpha-synuclein oligomers. *Science* 358: 1440-43
- Gabbita SP, Srivastava MK, Eslami P, Johnson MF, Kobritz NK, et al. 2012. Early intervention with a small molecule inhibitor for tumor necrosis factor-alpha prevents cognitive deficits in a triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* 9: 99
- Gaig C, Marti MJ, Ezquerra M, Rey MJ, Cardozo A, Tolosa E. 2007. G2019S LRRK2 mutation causing Parkinson's disease without Lewy bodies. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 78: 626-8
- Gao HM, Jiang J, Wilson B, Zhang W, Hong JS, Liu B. 2002. Microglial activation-mediated delayed and progressive degeneration of rat nigral dopaminergic neurons: relevance to Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* 81: 1285-97
- Gao HM, Zhang F, Zhou H, Kam W, Wilson B, Hong JS. 2011a. Neuroinflammation and alphasynuclein dysfunction potentiate each other, driving chronic progression of neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Environmental health perspectives* 119: 807-14
- Gao X, Chen H, Schwarzschild MA, Ascherio A. 2011b. Use of ibuprofen and risk of Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 76: 863-9
- Gardoni F, Picconi B, Ghiglieri V, Polli F, Bagetta V, et al. 2006. A critical interaction between NR2B and MAGUK in L-DOPA induced dyskinesia. *J Neurosci* 26: 2914-22
- Gayle DA, Ling Z, Tong C, Landers T, Lipton JW, Carvey PM. 2002. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced dopamine cell loss in culture: roles of tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1beta, and nitric oxide. *Brain research. Developmental brain research* 133: 27-35
- Gerhard A, Pavese N, Hotton G, Turkheimer F, Es M, et al. 2006. In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 21: 404-12
- Ghosh A, Roy A, Liu X, Kordower JH, Mufson EJ, et al. 2007. Selective inhibition of NFkappaB activation prevents dopaminergic neuronal loss in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104: 18754-9
- Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, et al. 2010. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science* 330: 841-5
- Ginhoux F, Prinz M. 2015. Origin of microglia: current concepts and past controversies. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* 7: a020537

- Gispert S, Del Turco D, Garrett L, Chen A, Bernard DJ, et al. 2003. Transgenic mice expressing mutant A53T human alpha-synuclein show neuronal dysfunction in the absence of aggregate formation. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* 24: 419-29
- Goldmann T, Prinz M. 2013. Role of microglia in CNS autoimmunity. *Clinical & developmental immunology* 2013: 208093
- Gomez-Isla T, Irizarry MC, Mariash A, Cheung B, Soto O, et al. 2003. Motor dysfunction and gliosis with preserved dopaminergic markers in human alpha-synuclein A30P transgenic mice. *Neurobiology of aging* 24: 245-58
- Goncalves S, Outeiro TF. 2013. Assessing the subcellular dynamics of alpha-synuclein using photoactivation microscopy. *Molecular neurobiology* 47: 1081-92
- Gorbatyuk OS, Li S, Nguyen FN, Manfredsson FP, Kondrikova G, et al. 2010. alpha-Synuclein expression in rat substantia nigra suppresses phospholipase D2 toxicity and nigral neurodegeneration. *Mol Ther* 18: 1758-68
- Grabert K, Michoel T, Karavolos MH, Clohisey S, Baillie JK, et al. 2016. Microglial brain region-dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. *Nat Neurosci* 19: 504-16
- Greter M, Merad M. 2013. Regulation of microglia development and homeostasis. *Glia* 61: 121-7
- Grinberg-Bleyer Y, Dainichi T, Oh H, Heise N, Klein U, et al. 2015. Cutting edge: NF-kappaB p65 and c-Rel control epidermal development and immune homeostasis in the skin. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 194: 2472-6
- Grozdanov V, Danzer KM. 2018. Release and uptake of pathologic alpha-synuclein. *Cell Tissue Res* 373: 175-82
- Guo JL, Covell DJ, Daniels JP, Iba M, Stieber A, et al. 2013. Distinct alpha-synuclein strains differentially promote tau inclusions in neurons. *Cell* 154: 103-17
- Guo JT, Chen AQ, Kong Q, Zhu H, Ma CM, Qin C. 2008. Inhibition of vesicular monoamine transporter-2 activity in alpha-synuclein stably transfected SH-SY5Y cells. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* 28: 35-47
- Hancock DB, Martin ER, Stajich JM, Jewett R, Stacy MA, et al. 2007. Smoking, caffeine, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in families with Parkinson disease. *Archives of neurology* 64: 576-80
- Hanisch UK, Kettenmann H. 2007. Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. *Nat Neurosci* 10: 1387-94
- Hansen C, Angot E, Bergstrom AL, Steiner JA, Pieri L, et al. 2011. alpha-Synuclein propagates from mouse brain to grafted dopaminergic neurons and seeds aggregation in cultured human cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 121: 715-25
- Hansen C, Bjorklund T, Petit GH, Lundblad M, Murmu RP, et al. 2013. A novel alphasynuclein-GFP mouse model displays progressive motor impairment, olfactory dysfunction and accumulation of alpha-synuclein-GFP. *Neurobiol Dis* 56: 145-55
- Harms AS, Barnum CJ, Ruhn KA, Varghese S, Trevino I, et al. 2011. Delayed dominantnegative TNF gene therapy halts progressive loss of nigral dopaminergic neurons in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Mol Ther* 19: 46-52
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. 2004. Signaling to NF-kappaB. Genes Dev 18: 2195-224
- He Y, Appel S, Le W. 2001. Minocycline inhibits microglial activation and protects nigral cells after 6-hydroxydopamine injection into mouse striatum. *Brain research* 909: 187-93

- Healy DG, Falchi M, O'Sullivan SS, Bonifati V, Durr A, et al. 2008. Phenotype, genotype, and worldwide genetic penetrance of LRRK2-associated Parkinson's disease: a case-control study. *The Lancet. Neurology* 7: 583-90
- Hernan MA, Logroscino G, Garcia Rodriguez LA. 2006. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the incidence of Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 66: 1097-9
- Herrera AJ, Castano A, Venero JL, Cano J, Machado A. 2000. The single intranigral injection of LPS as a new model for studying the selective effects of inflammatory reactions on dopaminergic system. *Neurobiol Dis* 7: 429-47
- Hirano S, Asanuma K, Ma Y, Tang C, Feigin A, et al. 2008. Dissociation of metabolic and neurovascular responses to levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurosci* 28: 4201-9
- Hirsch EC, Hunot S. 2009. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: a target for neuroprotection? *The Lancet. Neurology* 8: 382-97
- Hong S, Dissing-Olesen L, Stevens B. 2016. New insights on the role of microglia in synaptic pruning in health and disease. *Current opinion in neurobiology* 36: 128-34
- Hoogerheide DP, Gurnev PA, Rostovtseva TK, Bezrukov SM. 2017. Mechanism of alphasynuclein translocation through a VDAC nanopore revealed by energy landscape modeling of escape time distributions. *Nanoscale* 9: 183-92
- Hughes V. 2012. Microglia: The constant gardeners. *Nature* 485: 570-2
- Hunot S, Brugg B, Ricard D, Michel PP, Muriel MP, et al. 1997. Nuclear translocation of NFkappaB is increased in dopaminergic neurons of patients with parkinson disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94: 7531-6
- Hunot S, Dugas N, Faucheux B, Hartmann A, Tardieu M, et al. 1999. FcepsilonRII/CD23 is expressed in Parkinson's disease and induces, in vitro, production of nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in glial cells. *J Neurosci* 19: 3440-7
- Hunot S, Hirsch EC. 2003. Neuroinflammatory processes in Parkinson's disease. Annals of neurology 53 Suppl 3: S49-58; discussion S58-60
- Hurley SD, O'Banion MK, Song DD, Arana FS, Olschowka JA, Haber SN. 2003. Microglial response is poorly correlated with neurodegeneration following chronic, low-dose MPTP administration in monkeys. *Exp Neurol* 184: 659-68
- Invernizzi G, Papaleo E, Sabate R, Ventura S. 2012. Protein aggregation: mechanisms and functional consequences. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* 44: 1541-54
- Iwata A, Maruyama M, Kanazawa I, Nukina N. 2001. alpha-Synuclein affects the MAPK pathway and accelerates cell death. *J Biol Chem* 276: 45320-9
- Jakes R, Spillantini MG, Goedert M. 1994. Identification of two distinct synucleins from human brain. *FEBS letters* 345: 27-32
- Janda E, Boi L, Carta AR. 2018. Microglial Phagocytosis and Its Regulation: A Therapeutic Target in Parkinson's Disease? *Front Mol Neurosci* 11: 144
- Janelidze S, Lindqvist D, Francardo V, Hall S, Zetterberg H, et al. 2015. Increased CSF biomarkers of angiogenesis in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 85: 1834-42
- Janezic S, Threlfell S, Dodson PD, Dowie MJ, Taylor TN, et al. 2013. Deficits in dopaminergic transmission precede neuron loss and dysfunction in a new Parkinson model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 110: E4016-25
- Jankovic J, Aguilar LG. 2008. Current approaches to the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* 4: 743-57

- Jenco JM, Rawlingson A, Daniels B, Morris AJ. 1998. Regulation of phospholipase D2: selective inhibition of mammalian phospholipase D isoenzymes by alpha- and beta-synucleins. *Biochemistry* 37: 4901-9
- Jing X, Wei X, Ren M, Wang L, Zhang X, Lou H. 2016. Neuroprotective Effects of Tanshinone I Against 6-OHDA-Induced Oxidative Stress in Cellular and Mouse Model of Parkinson's Disease Through Upregulating Nrf2. *Neurochem Res* 41: 779-86
- Joers V, Tansey MG, Mulas G, Carta AR. 2017. Microglial phenotypes in Parkinson's disease and animal models of the disease. *Prog Neurobiol* 155: 57-75
- John GR, Lee SC, Brosnan CF. 2003. Cytokines: powerful regulators of glial cell activation. *The Neuroscientist : a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry* 9: 10-22
- Johnston TH, Lacoste AMB, Visanji NP, Lang AE, Fox SH, Brotchie JM. 2018. Repurposing drugs to treat l-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease. *Neuropharmacology*
- Jyothi HJ, Vidyadhara DJ, Mahadevan A, Philip M, Parmar SK, et al. 2015. Aging causes morphological alterations in astrocytes and microglia in human substantia nigra pars compacta. *Neurobiology of aging* 36: 3321-33
- Kahle PJ, Neumann M, Ozmen L, Muller V, Jacobsen H, et al. 2002. Hyperphosphorylation and insolubility of alpha-synuclein in transgenic mouse oligodendrocytes. *EMBO reports* 3: 583-8
- Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. 2009. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 119: 1420-8
- Kanda S, Bishop JF, Eglitis MA, Yang Y, Mouradian MM. 2000. Enhanced vulnerability to oxidative stress by alpha-synuclein mutations and C-terminal truncation. *Neuroscience* 97: 279-84
- Karpinar DP, Balija MB, Kugler S, Opazo F, Rezaei-Ghaleh N, et al. 2009. Pre-fibrillar alphasynuclein variants with impaired beta-structure increase neurotoxicity in Parkinson's disease models. *EMBO J* 28: 3256-68
- Kaufmann TJ, Harrison PM, Richardson MJ, Pinheiro TJ, Wall MJ. 2016. Intracellular soluble alpha-synuclein oligomers reduce pyramidal cell excitability. *J Physiol* 594: 2751-72
- Kim B, Yang MS, Choi D, Kim JH, Kim HS, et al. 2012. Impaired inflammatory responses in murine Lrrk2-knockdown brain microglia. *PLoS One* 7: e34693
- Kim C, Ho DH, Suk JE, You S, Michael S, et al. 2013. Neuron-released oligomeric alphasynuclein is an endogenous agonist of TLR2 for paracrine activation of microglia. *Nature communications* 4: 1562
- Kim C, Rockenstein E, Spencer B, Kim HK, Adame A, et al. 2015. Antagonizing Neuronal Tolllike Receptor 2 Prevents Synucleinopathy by Activating Autophagy. *Cell reports* 13: 771-82
- Kim S, Cho SH, Kim KY, Shin KY, Kim HS, et al. 2009. Alpha-synuclein induces migration of BV-2 microglial cells by up-regulation of CD44 and MT1-MMP. J Neurochem 109: 1483-96
- Kirik D, Rosenblad C, Burger C, Lundberg C, Johansen TE, et al. 2002. Parkinson-like neurodegeneration induced by targeted overexpression of alpha-synuclein in the nigrostriatal system. *J Neurosci* 22: 2780-91
- Klegeris A, Pelech S, Giasson BI, Maguire J, Zhang H, et al. 2008. Alpha-synuclein activates stress signaling protein kinases in THP-1 cells and microglia. *Neurobiology of aging* 29: 739-52

- Kobylecki C, Cenci MA, Crossman AR, Ravenscroft P. 2010. Calcium-permeable AMPA receptors are involved in the induction and expression of 1-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* 114: 499-511
- Kobylecki C, Crossman AR, Ravenscroft P. 2013. Alternative splicing of AMPA receptor subunits in the 6-OHDA-lesioned rat model of Parkinson's disease and L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Exp Neurol* 247: 476-84
- Kohutnicka M, Lewandowska E, Kurkowska-Jastrzebska I, Czlonkowski A, Czlonkowska A. 1998. Microglial and astrocytic involvement in a murine model of Parkinson's disease induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP). *Immunopharmacology* 39: 167-80
- Konitsiotis S, Blanchet PJ, Verhagen L, Lamers E, Chase TN. 2000. AMPA receptor blockade improves levodopa-induced dyskinesia in MPTP monkeys. *Neurology* 54: 1589-95
- Konradi C, Westin JE, Carta M, Eaton ME, Kuter K, et al. 2004. Transcriptome analysis in a rat model of L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Neurobiol Dis* 17: 219-36
- Kontopoulos E, Parvin JD, Feany MB. 2006. Alpha-synuclein acts in the nucleus to inhibit histone acetylation and promote neurotoxicity. *Human molecular genetics* 15: 3012-23
- Koprich JB, Kalia LV, Brotchie JM. 2017. Animal models of alpha-synucleinopathy for Parkinson disease drug development. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 18: 515-29
- Kordower JH, Chu Y, Hauser RA, Freeman TB, Olanow CW. 2008. Lewy body-like pathology in long-term embryonic nigral transplants in Parkinson's disease. *Nature medicine* 14: 504-6
- Kropff M, Baylon HG, Hillengass J, Robak T, Hajek R, et al. 2012. Thalidomide versus dexamethasone for the treatment of relapsed and/or refractory multiple myeloma: results from OPTIMUM, a randomized trial. *Haematologica* 97: 784-91
- Kruger R, Kuhn W, Muller T, Woitalla D, Graeber M, et al. 1998. Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nature genetics* 18: 106-8
- Kurkowska-Jastrzebska I, Wronska A, Kohutnicka M, Czlonkowski A, Czlonkowska A. 1999. The inflammatory reaction following 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3, 6-tetrahydropyridine intoxication in mouse. *Exp Neurol* 156: 50-61
- Kurz A, Double KL, Lastres-Becker I, Tozzi A, Tantucci M, et al. 2010. A53T-alpha-synuclein overexpression impairs dopamine signaling and striatal synaptic plasticity in old mice. *PLoS One* 5: e11464
- Lai S, Piras F, Spiga S, Perra MT, Minerba L, et al. 2013. Nestin and vimentin colocalization affects the subcellular location of glucocorticoid receptor in cutaneous melanoma. *Histopathology* 62: 487-98
- Langston JW, Forno LS, Tetrud J, Reeves AG, Kaplan JA, Karluk D. 1999. Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine exposure. *Annals of neurology* 46: 598-605
- Larsen KE, Schmitz Y, Troyer MD, Mosharov E, Dietrich P, et al. 2006. Alpha-synuclein overexpression in PC12 and chromaffin cells impairs catecholamine release by interfering with a late step in exocytosis. *J Neurosci* 26: 11915-22
- Lashuel HA, Petre BM, Wall J, Simon M, Nowak RJ, et al. 2002. Alpha-synuclein, especially the Parkinson's disease-associated mutants, forms pore-like annular and tubular protofibrils. *Journal of molecular biology* 322: 1089-102
- Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Dri P, Gordon S. 1990. Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* 39: 151-70

- Lecca D, Janda E, Mulas G, Diana A, Martino C, et al. 2018. Boosting phagocytosis and antiinflammatory phenotype in microglia mediates neuroprotection by PPARgamma agonist MDG548 in Parkinson's disease models. *British journal of pharmacology* 175: 3298-314
- Lecca D, Nevin DK, Mulas G, Casu MA, Diana A, et al. 2015. Neuroprotective and antiinflammatory properties of a novel non-thiazolidinedione PPARgamma agonist in vitro and in MPTP-treated mice. *Neuroscience* 302: 23-35
- Lee EJ, Woo MS, Moon PG, Baek MC, Choi IY, et al. 2010. Alpha-synuclein activates microglia by inducing the expressions of matrix metalloproteinases and the subsequent activation of protease-activated receptor-1. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 185: 615-23
- Lee HJ, Patel S, Lee SJ. 2005. Intravesicular localization and exocytosis of alpha-synuclein and its aggregates. *J Neurosci* 25: 6016-24
- Lee HJ, Suk JE, Bae EJ, Lee JH, Paik SR, Lee SJ. 2008a. Assembly-dependent endocytosis and clearance of extracellular alpha-synuclein. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* 40: 1835-49
- Lee HJ, Suk JE, Bae EJ, Lee SJ. 2008b. Clearance and deposition of extracellular alphasynuclein aggregates in microglia. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 372: 423-8
- Lee JK, Tran T, Tansey MG. 2009. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 4: 419-29
- Lees AJ, Hardy J, Revesz T. 2009. Parkinson's disease. Lancet (London, England) 373: 2055-66
- Lehnardt S. 2010. Innate immunity and neuroinflammation in the CNS: the role of microglia in Toll-like receptor-mediated neuronal injury. *Glia* 58: 253-63
- Leibovich SJ, Polverini PJ, Shepard HM, Wiseman DM, Shively V, Nuseir N. 1987. Macrophage-induced angiogenesis is mediated by tumour necrosis factor-alpha. *Nature* 329: 630-2
- Leonoudakis D, Braithwaite SP, Beattie MS, Beattie EC. 2004. TNFalpha-induced AMPAreceptor trafficking in CNS neurons; relevance to excitotoxicity? *Neuron Glia Biol* 1: 263-73
- Lerner RP, Francardo V, Fujita K, Bimpisidis Z, Jourdain VA, et al. 2017. Levodopa-induced abnormal involuntary movements correlate with altered permeability of the blood-brainbarrier in the basal ganglia. *Scientific reports* 7: 16005
- Lesage S, Anheim M, Letournel F, Bousset L, Honore A, et al. 2013. G51D alpha-synuclein mutation causes a novel parkinsonian-pyramidal syndrome. *Annals of neurology* 73: 459-71
- Lewitus GM, Konefal SC, Greenhalgh AD, Pribiag H, Augereau K, Stellwagen D. 2016. Microglial TNF-alpha Suppresses Cocaine-Induced Plasticity and Behavioral Sensitization. *Neuron* 90: 483-91
- Lewitus GM, Pribiag H, Duseja R, St-Hilaire M, Stellwagen D. 2014. An adaptive role of TNFalpha in the regulation of striatal synapses. *J Neurosci* 34: 6146-55
- Li JY, Englund E, Holton JL, Soulet D, Hagell P, et al. 2008. Lewy bodies in grafted neurons in subjects with Parkinson's disease suggest host-to-graft disease propagation. *Nature medicine* 14: 501-3
- Li Q, Barres BA. 2018. Microglia and macrophages in brain homeostasis and disease. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 18: 225-42
- Li WW, Yang R, Guo JC, Ren HM, Zha XL, et al. 2007. Localization of alpha-synuclein to mitochondria within midbrain of mice. *Neuroreport* 18: 1543-6

- Liberatore GT, Jackson-Lewis V, Vukosavic S, Mandir AS, Vila M, et al. 1999. Inducible nitric oxide synthase stimulates dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the MPTP model of Parkinson disease. *Nature medicine* 5: 1403-9
- Lin H, Muramatsu R, Maedera N, Tsunematsu H, Hamaguchi M, et al. 2018. Extracellular Lactate Dehydrogenase A Release From Damaged Neurons Drives Central Nervous System Angiogenesis. *EBioMedicine* 27: 71-85
- Lin X, Parisiadou L, Gu XL, Wang L, Shim H, et al. 2009. Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 regulates the progression of neuropathology induced by Parkinson's-disease-related mutant alphasynuclein. *Neuron* 64: 807-27
- Lindersson E, Beedholm R, Hojrup P, Moos T, Gai W, et al. 2004. Proteasomal inhibition by alpha-synuclein filaments and oligomers. *J Biol Chem* 279: 12924-34
- Lindgren HS, Ohlin KE, Cenci MA. 2009. Differential involvement of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in L-DOPA-induced angiogenic activity in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* 34: 2477-88
- Lindstrom V, Gustafsson G, Sanders LH, Howlett EH, Sigvardson J, et al. 2017. Extensive uptake of alpha-synuclein oligomers in astrocytes results in sustained intracellular deposits and mitochondrial damage. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences* 82: 143-56
- Lo Bianco C, Ridet JL, Schneider BL, Deglon N, Aebischer P. 2002. alpha -Synucleinopathy and selective dopaminergic neuron loss in a rat lentiviral-based model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99: 10813-8
- Loeffler DA, Camp DM, Conant SB. 2006. Complement activation in the Parkinson's disease substantia nigra: an immunocytochemical study. *J Neuroinflammation* 3: 29
- Lofrumento DD, Saponaro C, Cianciulli A, De Nuccio F, Mitolo V, et al. 2011. MPTP-induced neuroinflammation increases the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and their receptors in mouse brain. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 18: 79-88
- Lopez Gonzalez I, Garcia-Esparcia P, Llorens F, Ferrer I. 2016. Genetic and Transcriptomic Profiles of Inflammation in Neurodegenerative Diseases: Alzheimer, Parkinson, Creutzfeldt-Jakob and Tauopathies. *International journal of molecular sciences* 17: 206
- Low K, Aebischer P. 2012. Use of viral vectors to create animal models for Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 48: 189-201
- Ludtmann MH, Angelova PR, Ninkina NN, Gandhi S, Buchman VL, Abramov AY. 2016. Monomeric Alpha-Synuclein Exerts a Physiological Role on Brain ATP Synthase. J Neurosci 36: 10510-21
- Luk KC, Kehm V, Carroll J, Zhang B, O'Brien P, et al. 2012a. Pathological alpha-synuclein transmission initiates Parkinson-like neurodegeneration in nontransgenic mice. *Science* 338: 949-53
- Luk KC, Kehm VM, Zhang B, O'Brien P, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM. 2012b. Intracerebral inoculation of pathological alpha-synuclein initiates a rapidly progressive neurodegenerative alpha-synucleinopathy in mice. *J Exp Med* 209: 975-86
- Lundblad M, Andersson M, Winkler C, Kirik D, Wierup N, Cenci MA. 2002. Pharmacological validation of behavioural measures of akinesia and dyskinesia in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *The European journal of neuroscience* 15: 120-32
- Mackaness GB. 1962. Cellular resistance to infection. J Exp Med 116: 381-406

- Maia S, Arlicot N, Vierron E, Bodard S, Vergote J, et al. 2012. Longitudinal and parallel monitoring of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in a 6-hydroxydopamine rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)* 66: 573-83
- Majbour NK, Vaikath NN, Eusebi P, Chiasserini D, Ardah M, et al. 2016. Longitudinal changes in CSF alpha-synuclein species reflect Parkinson's disease progression. *Mov Disord* 31: 1535-42
- Majumder S, Rajaram M, Muley A, Reddy HS, Tamilarasan KP, et al. 2009. Thalidomide attenuates nitric oxide-driven angiogenesis by interacting with soluble guanylyl cyclase. *British journal of pharmacology* 158: 1720-34
- Majumder S, Sreedhara SR, Banerjee S, Chatterjee S. 2012. TNF alpha signaling beholds thalidomide saga: a review of mechanistic role of TNF-alpha signaling under thalidomide. *Current topics in medicinal chemistry* 12: 1456-67
- Manning-Bog AB, McCormack AL, Purisai MG, Bolin LM, Di Monte DA. 2003. Alphasynuclein overexpression protects against paraquat-induced neurodegeneration. J Neurosci 23: 3095-9
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. 2004. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends in immunology* 25: 677-86
- Mao X, Ou MT, Karuppagounder SS, Kam TI, Yin X, et al. 2016. Pathological alpha-synuclein transmission initiated by binding lymphocyte-activation gene 3. *Science* 353
- Marin I, Kipnis J. 2013. Learning and memory ... and the immune system. Learn Mem 20: 601-6
- Marinova-Mutafchieva L, Sadeghian M, Broom L, Davis JB, Medhurst AD, Dexter DT. 2009. Relationship between microglial activation and dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra: a time course study in a 6-hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 110: 966-75
- Marker DF, Puccini JM, Mockus TE, Barbieri J, Lu SM, Gelbard HA. 2012. LRRK2 kinase inhibition prevents pathological microglial phagocytosis in response to HIV-1 Tat protein. *J Neuroinflammation* 9: 261
- Maroteaux L, Campanelli JT, Scheller RH. 1988. Synuclein: a neuron-specific protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J Neurosci* 8: 2804-15
- Martinez AA, Morgese MG, Pisanu A, Macheda T, Paquette MA, et al. 2015. Activation of PPAR gamma receptors reduces levodopa-induced dyskinesias in 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. *Neurobiol Dis* 74: 295-304
- Martinez B, Peplow PV. 2018. Neuroprotection by immunomodulatory agents in animal models of Parkinson's disease. *Neural Regen Res* 13: 1493-506
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. 2014. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000prime reports* 6: 13
- Martinez FO, Gordon S, Locati M, Mantovani A. 2006. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 177: 7303-11
- Masuda-Suzukake M, Nonaka T, Hosokawa M, Oikawa T, Arai T, et al. 2013. Prion-like spreading of pathological alpha-synuclein in brain. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 136: 1128-38
- Matsuoka Y, Vila M, Lincoln S, McCormack A, Picciano M, et al. 2001. Lack of nigral pathology in transgenic mice expressing human alpha-synuclein driven by the tyrosine hydroxylase promoter. *Neurobiol Dis* 8: 535-9

- McCoy MK, Martinez TN, Ruhn KA, Szymkowski DE, Smith CG, et al. 2006. Blocking soluble tumor necrosis factor signaling with dominant-negative tumor necrosis factor inhibitor attenuates loss of dopaminergic neurons in models of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurosci* 26: 9365-75
- McCoy MK, Tansey MG. 2008. TNF signaling inhibition in the CNS: implications for normal brain function and neurodegenerative disease. *J Neuroinflammation* 5: 45
- McGeer PL, Itagaki S, Boyes BE, McGeer EG. 1988. Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology* 38: 1285-91
- McGeer PL, McGeer EG. 1998. Glial cell reactions in neurodegenerative diseases: pathophysiology and therapeutic interventions. *Alzheimer disease and associated disorders* 12 Suppl 2: S1-6
- McLean PJ, Kawamata H, Ribich S, Hyman BT. 2000. Membrane association and protein conformation of alpha-synuclein in intact neurons. Effect of Parkinson's disease-linked mutations. *J Biol Chem* 275: 8812-6
- McNaught KS, Jenner P. 2001. Proteasomal function is impaired in substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci Lett* 297: 191-4
- McNaught KS, Mytilineou C, Jnobaptiste R, Yabut J, Shashidharan P, et al. 2002. Impairment of the ubiquitin-proteasome system causes dopaminergic cell death and inclusion body formation in ventral mesencephalic cultures. *J Neurochem* 81: 301-6
- Melief J, Koning N, Schuurman KG, Van De Garde MD, Smolders J, et al. 2012. Phenotyping primary human microglia: tight regulation of LPS responsiveness. *Glia* 60: 1506-17
- Menges S, Minakaki G, Schaefer PM, Meixner H, Prots I, et al. 2017. Alpha-synuclein prevents the formation of spherical mitochondria and apoptosis under oxidative stress. *Scientific reports* 7: 42942
- Menza M, Dobkin RD, Marin H, Mark MH, Gara M, et al. 2010. The role of inflammatory cytokines in cognition and other non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease. *Psychosomatics* 51: 474-9
- Mercurio A, Adriani G, Catalano A, Carocci A, Rao L, et al. 2017. A Mini-Review on Thalidomide: Chemistry, Mechanisms of Action, Therapeutic Potential and Anti-Angiogenic Properties in Multiple Myeloma. *Current medicinal chemistry* 24: 2736-44
- Miller RM, Kiser GL, Kaysser-Kranich T, Casaceli C, Colla E, et al. 2007. Wild-type and mutant alpha-synuclein induce a multi-component gene expression profile consistent with shared pathophysiology in different transgenic mouse models of PD. *Exp Neurol* 204: 421-32
- Millrine D, Kishimoto T. 2017. A Brighter Side to Thalidomide: Its Potential Use in Immunological Disorders. *Trends in molecular medicine* 23: 348-61
- Mills CD, Kincaid K, Alt JM, Heilman MJ, Hill AM. 2000. M-1/M-2 macrophages and the Th1/Th2 paradigm. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 164: 6166-73
- Minghetti L, Levi G. 1998. Microglia as effector cells in brain damage and repair: focus on prostanoids and nitric oxide. *Prog Neurobiol* 54: 99-125
- Mittelbronn M, Dietz K, Schluesener HJ, Meyermann R. 2001. Local distribution of microglia in the normal adult human central nervous system differs by up to one order of magnitude. *Acta Neuropathol* 101: 249-55
- Mizutani M, Pino PA, Saederup N, Charo IF, Ransohoff RM, Cardona AE. 2012. The fractalkine receptor but not CCR2 is present on microglia from embryonic development throughout adulthood. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 188: 29-36

- Moehle MS, Webber PJ, Tse T, Sukar N, Standaert DG, et al. 2012. LRRK2 inhibition attenuates microglial inflammatory responses. *J Neurosci* 32: 1602-11
- Mogi M, Kondo T, Mizuno Y, Nagatsu T. 2007. p53 protein, interferon-gamma, and NF-kappaB levels are elevated in the parkinsonian brain. *Neurosci Lett* 414: 94-7
- Mogi M, Togari A, Kondo T, Mizuno Y, Komure O, et al. 2000. Caspase activities and tumor necrosis factor receptor R1 (p55) level are elevated in the substantia nigra from parkinsonian brain. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)* 107: 335-41
- Mondal S, Roy A, Jana A, Ghosh S, Kordower JH, Pahan K. 2012. Testing NF-kappaB-based therapy in hemiparkinsonian monkeys. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 7: 544-56
- Monnier Y, Zaric J, Ruegg C. 2005. Inhibition of angiogenesis by non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs: from the bench to the bedside and back. *Current drug targets*. *Inflammation and allergy* 4: 31-8
- Moreira AL, Sampaio EP, Zmuidzinas A, Frindt P, Smith KA, Kaplan G. 1993. Thalidomide exerts its inhibitory action on tumor necrosis factor alpha by enhancing mRNA degradation. *J Exp Med* 177: 1675-80
- Mori F, Tanji K, Yoshimoto M, Takahashi H, Wakabayashi K. 2002. Immunohistochemical comparison of alpha- and beta-synuclein in adult rat central nervous system. *Brain research* 941: 118-26
- Mougenot AL, Bencsik A, Nicot S, Vulin J, Morignat E, et al. 2011. Transmission of prion strains in a transgenic mouse model overexpressing human A53T mutated alpha-synuclein. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 70: 377-85
- Mouton PR, Gokhale AM, Ward NL, West MJ. 2002. Stereological length estimation using spherical probes. J Microsc 206: 54-64
- Muchowski PJ. 2002. Protein misfolding, amyloid formation, and neurodegeneration: a critical role for molecular chaperones? *Neuron* 35: 9-12
- Mulas G, Espa E, Fenu S, Spiga S, Cossu G, et al. 2016. Differential induction of dyskinesia and neuroinflammation by pulsatile versus continuous 1-DOPA delivery in the 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol* 286: 83-92
- Muller WA. 2014. How endothelial cells regulate transmigration of leukocytes in the inflammatory response. *The American journal of pathology* 184: 886-96
- Munoz A, Garrido-Gil P, Dominguez-Meijide A, Labandeira-Garcia JL. 2014. Angiotensin type 1 receptor blockage reduces 1-dopa-induced dyskinesia in the 6-OHDA model of Parkinson's disease. Involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor and interleukin-1beta. *Exp Neurol* 261: 720-32
- Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, et al. 2014. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. *Immunity* 41: 14-20
- Nagatsu T, Mogi M, Ichinose H, Togari A. 2000. Cytokines in Parkinson's disease. Journal of neural transmission. Supplementum: 143-51
- Nakamura K. 2013. alpha-Synuclein and mitochondria: partners in crime? *Neurotherapeutics : the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics* 10: 391-9
- Nakamura K, Nemani VM, Azarbal F, Skibinski G, Levy JM, et al. 2011. Direct membrane association drives mitochondrial fission by the Parkinson disease-associated protein alpha-synuclein. *J Biol Chem* 286: 20710-26
- Naldini A, Carraro F. 2005. Role of inflammatory mediators in angiogenesis. *Current drug* targets. Inflammation and allergy 4: 3-8

- Nalls MA, Pankratz N, Lill CM, Do CB, Hernandez DG, et al. 2014. Large-scale meta-analysis of genome-wide association data identifies six new risk loci for Parkinson's disease. *Nature genetics* 46: 989-93
- Nasstrom T, Fagerqvist T, Barbu M, Karlsson M, Nikolajeff F, et al. 2011. The lipid peroxidation products 4-oxo-2-nonenal and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal promote the formation of alpha-synuclein oligomers with distinct biochemical, morphological, and functional properties. *Free radical biology & medicine* 50: 428-37
- Nau GJ, Richmond JF, Schlesinger A, Jennings EG, Lander ES, Young RA. 2002. Human macrophage activation programs induced by bacterial pathogens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 99: 1503-8
- Navailles S, De Deurwaerdere P. 2012. Imbalanced Dopaminergic Transmission Mediated by Serotonergic Neurons in L-DOPA-Induced Dyskinesia. *Parkinsons Dis* 2012: 323686
- Nemani VM, Lu W, Berge V, Nakamura K, Onoa B, et al. 2010. Increased expression of alphasynuclein reduces neurotransmitter release by inhibiting synaptic vesicle reclustering after endocytosis. *Neuron* 65: 66-79
- Nimmerjahn A, Kirchhoff F, Helmchen F. 2005. Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308: 1314-8
- Nishie M, Mori F, Fujiwara H, Hasegawa M, Yoshimoto M, et al. 2004. Accumulation of phosphorylated alpha-synuclein in the brain and peripheral ganglia of patients with multiple system atrophy. *Acta Neuropathol* 107: 292-8
- Nuber S, Harmuth F, Kohl Z, Adame A, Trejo M, et al. 2013. A progressive dopaminergic phenotype associated with neurotoxic conversion of alpha-synuclein in BAC-transgenic rats. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 136: 412-32
- O'Neill LA, Kaltschmidt C. 1997. NF-kappa B: a crucial transcription factor for glial and neuronal cell function. *Trends Neurosci* 20: 252-8
- Ohlin KE, Francardo V, Lindgren HS, Sillivan SE, O'Sullivan SS, et al. 2011. Vascular endothelial growth factor is upregulated by L-dopa in the parkinsonian brain: implications for the development of dyskinesia. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 134: 2339-57
- Ohlin KE, Sebastianutto I, Adkins CE, Lundblad C, Lockman PR, Cenci MA. 2012. Impact of L-DOPA treatment on regional cerebral blood flow and metabolism in the basal ganglia in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *NeuroImage* 61: 228-39
- Olah M, Biber K, Vinet J, Boddeke HW. 2011. Microglia phenotype diversity. CNS & neurological disorders drug targets 10: 108-18
- Olanow CW, Prusiner SB. 2009. Is Parkinson's disease a prion disorder? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 106: 12571-2
- Ostrerova N, Petrucelli L, Farrer M, Mehta N, Choi P, et al. 1999. alpha-Synuclein shares physical and functional homology with 14-3-3 proteins. *J Neurosci* 19: 5782-91
- Ouattara B, Hoyer D, Gregoire L, Morissette M, Gasparini F, et al. 2010. Changes of AMPA receptors in MPTP monkeys with levodopa-induced dyskinesias. *Neuroscience* 167: 1160-7
- Ouchi Y, Yagi S, Yokokura M, Sakamoto M. 2009. Neuroinflammation in the living brain of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & related disorders* 15 Suppl 3: S200-4
- Oueslati A, Fournier M, Lashuel HA. 2010. Role of post-translational modifications in modulating the structure, function and toxicity of alpha-synuclein: implications for Parkinson's disease pathogenesis and therapies. *Progress in brain research* 183: 115-45
- Outeiro TF, Lindquist S. 2003. Yeast cells provide insight into alpha-synuclein biology and pathobiology. *Science* 302: 1772-5
- Paiva I, Pinho R, Pavlou MA, Hennion M, Wales P, et al. 2017. Sodium butyrate rescues dopaminergic cells from alpha-synuclein-induced transcriptional deregulation and DNA damage. *Human molecular genetics* 26: 2231-46
- Paleologou KE, Oueslati A, Shakked G, Rospigliosi CC, Kim HY, et al. 2010. Phosphorylation at S87 is enhanced in synucleinopathies, inhibits alpha-synuclein oligomerization, and influences synuclein-membrane interactions. *J Neurosci* 30: 3184-98
- Pan KM, Baldwin M, Nguyen J, Gasset M, Serban A, et al. 1993. Conversion of alpha-helices into beta-sheets features in the formation of the scrapie prion proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90: 10962-6
- Paolicelli RC, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Maggi L, Scianni M, et al. 2011. Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* 333: 1456-8
- Parihar MS, Parihar A, Fujita M, Hashimoto M, Ghafourifar P. 2009. Alpha-synuclein overexpression and aggregation exacerbates impairment of mitochondrial functions by augmenting oxidative stress in human neuroblastoma cells. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology* 41: 2015-24
- Park JY, Paik SR, Jou I, Park SM. 2008. Microglial phagocytosis is enhanced by monomeric alpha-synuclein, not aggregated alpha-synuclein: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Glia* 56: 1215-23
- Parkhurst CN, Yang G, Ninan I, Savas JN, Yates JR, 3rd, et al. 2013. Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Cell* 155: 1596-609
- Parkinson J. 2002. An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. *The Journal of neuropsychiatry and clinical neurosciences* 14: 223-36; discussion 22
- Parkkinen L, Pirttila T, Alafuzoff I. 2008. Applicability of current staging/categorization of alpha-synuclein pathology and their clinical relevance. *Acta Neuropathol* 115: 399-407
- Parkkinen L, Pirttila T, Tervahauta M, Alafuzoff I. 2005. Widespread and abundant alphasynuclein pathology in a neurologically unimpaired subject. *Neuropathology* 25: 304-14
- Pasanen P, Myllykangas L, Siitonen M, Raunio A, Kaakkola S, et al. 2014. Novel alphasynuclein mutation A53E associated with atypical multiple system atrophy and Parkinson's disease-type pathology. *Neurobiology of aging* 35: 2180.e1-5
- Pattarini R, Smeyne RJ, Morgan JI. 2007. Temporal mRNA profiles of inflammatory mediators in the murine 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyrimidine model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience* 145: 654-68
- Paumier KL, Luk KC, Manfredsson FP, Kanaan NM, Lipton JW, et al. 2015. Intrastriatal injection of pre-formed mouse alpha-synuclein fibrils into rats triggers alpha-synuclein pathology and bilateral nigrostriatal degeneration. *Neurobiol Dis* 82: 185-99
- Payton JE, Perrin RJ, Woods WS, George JM. 2004. Structural determinants of PLD2 inhibition by alpha-synuclein. *Journal of molecular biology* 337: 1001-9
- Peelaerts W, Bousset L, Van der Perren A, Moskalyuk A, Pulizzi R, et al. 2015. alpha-Synuclein strains cause distinct synucleinopathies after local and systemic administration. *Nature* 522: 340-4
- Perez RG, Waymire JC, Lin E, Liu JJ, Guo F, Zigmond MJ. 2002. A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. *J Neurosci* 22: 3090-9

- Perni M, Flagmeier P, Limbocker R, Cascella R, Aprile FA, et al. 2018. Multistep Inhibition of alpha-Synuclein Aggregation and Toxicity in Vitro and in Vivo by Trodusquemine. ACS Chem Biol 13: 2308-19
- Perni M, Galvagnion C, Maltsev A, Meisl G, Muller MB, et al. 2017. A natural product inhibits the initiation of alpha-synuclein aggregation and suppresses its toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114: E1009-E17
- Perry VH. 1998. A revised view of the central nervous system microenvironment and major histocompatibility complex class II antigen presentation. *Journal of neuroimmunology* 90: 113-21
- Perry VH, Cunningham C, Holmes C. 2007. Systemic infections and inflammation affect chronic neurodegeneration. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 7: 161-7
- Perry VH, O'Connor V. 2010. The role of microglia in synaptic stripping and synaptic degeneration: a revised perspective. *ASN neuro* 2: e00047
- Picconi B, Centonze D, Hakansson K, Bernardi G, Greengard P, et al. 2003. Loss of bidirectional striatal synaptic plasticity in L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *Nat Neurosci* 6: 501-6
- Pieri L, Madiona K, Melki R. 2016. Structural and functional properties of prefibrillar alphasynuclein oligomers. *Scientific reports* 6: 24526
- Pisanu A, Lecca D, Mulas G, Wardas J, Simbula G, et al. 2014. Dynamic changes in pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in microglia after PPAR-gamma agonist neuroprotective treatment in the MPTPp mouse model of progressive Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 71: 280-91
- Plotegher N, Gratton E, Bubacco L. 2014. Number and Brightness analysis of alpha-synuclein oligomerization and the associated mitochondrial morphology alterations in live cells. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1840: 2014-24
- Pocock JM, Kettenmann H. 2007. Neurotransmitter receptors on microglia. *Trends Neurosci* 30: 527-35
- Polymeropoulos MH, Lavedan C, Leroy E, Ide SE, Dehejia A, et al. 1997. Mutation in the alphasynuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276: 2045-7
- Prots I, Grosch J, Brazdis RM, Simmnacher K, Veber V, et al. 2018. alpha-Synuclein oligomers induce early axonal dysfunction in human iPSC-based models of synucleinopathies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 115: 7813-18
- Proukakis C, Houlden H, Schapira AH. 2013. Somatic alpha-synuclein mutations in Parkinson's disease: hypothesis and preliminary data. *Mov Disord* 28: 705-12
- Rajput AH, Rajput A, Lang AE, Kumar R, Uitti RJ, Galvez-Jimenez N. 1998. New use for an old drug: amantadine benefits levodopa-induced dyskinesia. *Mov Disord* 13: 851
- Ransohoff RM, Perry VH. 2009. Microglial physiology: unique stimuli, specialized responses. Annual review of immunology 27: 119-45
- Rappley I, Gitler AD, Selvy PE, LaVoie MJ, Levy BD, et al. 2009. Evidence that alphasynuclein does not inhibit phospholipase D. *Biochemistry* 48: 1077-83
- Rascol O. 2000. Medical treatment of levodopa-induced dyskinesias. *Annals of neurology* 47: S179-88
- Rascol O, Perez-Lloret S, Ferreira JJ. 2015. New treatments for levodopa-induced motor complications. *Mov Disord* 30: 1451-60
- Rehman W, Arfons LM, Lazarus HM. 2011. The rise, fall and subsequent triumph of thalidomide: lessons learned in drug development. *Therapeutic advances in hematology* 2: 291-308

- Reyes JF, Rey NL, Bousset L, Melki R, Brundin P, Angot E. 2014. Alpha-synuclein transfers from neurons to oligodendrocytes. *Glia* 62: 387-98
- Richfield EK, Thiruchelvam MJ, Cory-Slechta DA, Wuertzer C, Gainetdinov RR, et al. 2002. Behavioral and neurochemical effects of wild-type and mutated human alpha-synuclein in transgenic mice. *Exp Neurol* 175: 35-48
- Rieker C, Dev KK, Lehnhoff K, Barbieri S, Ksiazek I, et al. 2011. Neuropathology in mice expressing mouse alpha-synuclein. *PLoS One* 6: e24834
- Rockenstein E, Nuber S, Overk CR, Ubhi K, Mante M, et al. 2014. Accumulation of oligomerprone alpha-synuclein exacerbates synaptic and neuronal degeneration in vivo. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 137: 1496-513
- Rodriguez M, Alvarez-Erviti L, Blesa FJ, Rodriguez-Oroz MC, Arina A, et al. 2007. Bonemarrow-derived cell differentiation into microglia: a study in a progressive mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 28: 316-25
- Rojanathammanee L, Murphy EJ, Combs CK. 2011. Expression of mutant alpha-synuclein modulates microglial phenotype in vitro. *J Neuroinflammation* 8: 44
- Rojo AI, Innamorato NG, Martin-Moreno AM, De Ceballos ML, Yamamoto M, Cuadrado A. 2010. Nrf2 regulates microglial dynamics and neuroinflammation in experimental Parkinson's disease. *Glia* 58: 588-98
- Roodveldt C, Labrador-Garrido A, Gonzalez-Rey E, Fernandez-Montesinos R, Caro M, et al. 2010. Glial innate immunity generated by non-aggregated alpha-synuclein in mouse: differences between wild-type and Parkinson's disease-linked mutants. *PLoS One* 5: e13481
- Rossi S, Furlan R, De Chiara V, Motta C, Studer V, et al. 2012a. Interleukin-1beta causes synaptic hyperexcitability in multiple sclerosis. *Annals of neurology* 71: 76-83
- Rossi S, Studer V, Motta C, De Chiara V, Barbieri F, et al. 2012b. Inflammation inhibits GABA transmission in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* 18: 1633-5
- Russo I, Caracciolo L, Tweedie D, Choi SH, Greig NH, et al. 2012. 3,6'-Dithiothalidomide, a new TNF-alpha synthesis inhibitor, attenuates the effect of Abeta1-42 intracerebroventricular injection on hippocampal neurogenesis and memory deficit. *J* Neurochem 122: 1181-92
- Ryan BJ, Hoek S, Fon EA, Wade-Martins R. 2015. Mitochondrial dysfunction and mitophagy in Parkinson's: from familial to sporadic disease. *Trends Biochem Sci* 40: 200-10
- Saiki M, Baker A, Williams-Gray CH, Foltynie T, Goodman RS, et al. 2010. Association of the human leucocyte antigen region with susceptibility to Parkinson's disease. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry* 81: 890-1
- Saito Y, Kawashima A, Ruberu NN, Fujiwara H, Koyama S, et al. 2003. Accumulation of phosphorylated alpha-synuclein in aging human brain. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 62: 644-54
- Salter MW, Beggs S. 2014. Sublime microglia: expanding roles for the guardians of the CNS. *Cell* 158: 15-24
- Samii A, Etminan M, Wiens MO, Jafari S. 2009. NSAID use and the risk of Parkinson's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Drugs & aging* 26: 769-79
- Sampaio EP, Sarno EN, Galilly R, Cohn ZA, Kaplan G. 1991. Thalidomide selectively inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha production by stimulated human monocytes. *J Exp Med* 173: 699-703

- Sanchez-Guajardo V, Barnum CJ, Tansey MG, Romero-Ramos M. 2013. Neuroimmunological processes in Parkinson's disease and their relation to alpha-synuclein: microglia as the referee between neuronal processes and peripheral immunity. *ASN neuro* 5: 113-39
- Sanchez-Guajardo V, Febbraro F, Kirik D, Romero-Ramos M. 2010. Microglia acquire distinct activation profiles depending on the degree of alpha-synuclein neuropathology in a rAAV based model of Parkinson's disease. *PLoS One* 5: e8784
- Sanchez-Pernaute R, Ferree A, Cooper O, Yu M, Brownell AL, Isacson O. 2004. Selective COX-2 inhibition prevents progressive dopamine neuron degeneration in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* 1: 6
- Santello M, Volterra A. 2012. TNFalpha in synaptic function: switching gears. *Trends Neurosci* 35: 638-47
- Santini E, Alcacer C, Cacciatore S, Heiman M, Herve D, et al. 2009. L-DOPA activates ERK signaling and phosphorylates histone H3 in the striatonigral medium spiny neurons of hemiparkinsonian mice. *J Neurochem* 108: 621-33
- Santini E, Valjent E, Usiello A, Carta M, Borgkvist A, et al. 2007. Critical involvement of cAMP/DARPP-32 and extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase signaling in L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia. *J Neurosci* 27: 6995-7005
- Sarafian TA, Ryan CM, Souda P, Masliah E, Kar UK, et al. 2013. Impairment of mitochondria in adult mouse brain overexpressing predominantly full-length, N-terminally acetylated human alpha-synuclein. *PLoS One* 8: e63557
- Sawada M, Imamura K, Nagatsu T. 2006. Role of cytokines in inflammatory process in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of neural transmission. Supplementum*: 373-81
- Schafer DP, Lehrman EK, Stevens B. 2013. The "quad-partite" synapse: microglia-synapse interactions in the developing and mature CNS. *Glia* 61: 24-36
- Scheffold A, Holtman IR, Dieni S, Brouwer N, Katz SF, et al. 2016. Telomere shortening leads to an acceleration of synucleinopathy and impaired microglia response in a genetic mouse model. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* 4: 87
- Schintu N, Frau L, Ibba M, Garau A, Carboni E, Carta AR. 2009. Progressive dopaminergic degeneration in the chronic MPTPp mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurotoxicity research* 16: 127-39
- Sekiyama K, Sugama S, Fujita M, Sekigawa A, Takamatsu Y, et al. 2012. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's Disease and Related Disorders: A Lesson from Genetically Manipulated Mouse Models of alpha-Synucleinopathies. *Parkinsons Dis* 2012: 271732
- Sharaf A, Krieglstein K, Spittau B. 2013. Distribution of microglia in the postnatal murine nigrostriatal system. *Cell Tissue Res* 351: 373-82
- Sharon R, Bar-Joseph I, Frosch MP, Walsh DM, Hamilton JA, Selkoe DJ. 2003. The formation of highly soluble oligomers of alpha-synuclein is regulated by fatty acids and enhanced in Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 37: 583-95
- Shen J, Du T, Wang X, Duan C, Gao G, et al. 2014. alpha-Synuclein amino terminus regulates mitochondrial membrane permeability. *Brain research* 1591: 14-26
- Shibasaki Y, Baillie DA, St Clair D, Brookes AJ. 1995. High-resolution mapping of SNCA encoding alpha-synuclein, the non-A beta component of Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor, to human chromosome 4q21.3-->q22 by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Cytogenetics and cell genetics* 71: 54-5

- Shin Y, Klucken J, Patterson C, Hyman BT, McLean PJ. 2005. The co-chaperone carboxyl terminus of Hsp70-interacting protein (CHIP) mediates alpha-synuclein degradation decisions between proteasomal and lysosomal pathways. *J Biol Chem* 280: 23727-34
- Siddiqui A, Chinta SJ, Mallajosyula JK, Rajagopolan S, Hanson I, et al. 2012. Selective binding of nuclear alpha-synuclein to the PGC1alpha promoter under conditions of oxidative stress may contribute to losses in mitochondrial function: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Free radical biology & medicine* 53: 993-1003
- Sierra A, Abiega O, Shahraz A, Neumann H. 2013. Janus-faced microglia: beneficial and detrimental consequences of microglial phagocytosis. *Front Cell Neurosci* 7: 6
- Silverdale MA, Kobylecki C, Hallett PJ, Li Q, Dunah AW, et al. 2010. Synaptic recruitment of AMPA glutamate receptor subunits in levodopa-induced dyskinesia in the MPTP-lesioned nonhuman primate. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)* 64: 177-80
- Singleton AB, Farrer M, Johnson J, Singleton A, Hague S, et al. 2003. alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302: 841
- Sipe GO, Lowery RL, Tremblay ME, Kelly EA, Lamantia CE, Majewska AK. 2016. Microglial P2Y12 is necessary for synaptic plasticity in mouse visual cortex. *Nature communications* 7: 10905
- Smith WW, Margolis RL, Li X, Troncoso JC, Lee MK, et al. 2005. Alpha-synuclein phosphorylation enhances eosinophilic cytoplasmic inclusion formation in SH-SY5Y cells. *J Neurosci* 25: 5544-52
- Snyder H, Mensah K, Theisler C, Lee J, Matouschek A, Wolozin B. 2003. Aggregated and monomeric alpha-synuclein bind to the S6' proteasomal protein and inhibit proteasomal function. *J Biol Chem* 278: 11753-9
- Soto C, Estrada LD. 2008. Protein misfolding and neurodegeneration. *Archives of neurology* 65: 184-9
- Spillantini MG, Schmidt ML, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Jakes R, Goedert M. 1997. Alphasynuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature* 388: 839-40
- Squarzoni P, Oller G, Hoeffel G, Pont-Lezica L, Rostaing P, et al. 2014. Microglia modulate wiring of the embryonic forebrain. *Cell reports* 8: 1271-9
- Stefanis L, Larsen KE, Rideout HJ, Sulzer D, Greene LA. 2001. Expression of A53T mutant but not wild-type alpha-synuclein in PC12 cells induces alterations of the ubiquitindependent degradation system, loss of dopamine release, and autophagic cell death. J Neurosci 21: 9549-60
- Stefanova N, Fellner L, Reindl M, Masliah E, Poewe W, Wenning GK. 2011. Toll-like receptor 4 promotes alpha-synuclein clearance and survival of nigral dopaminergic neurons. *The American journal of pathology* 179: 954-63
- Stellwagen D, Beattie EC, Seo JY, Malenka RC. 2005. Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Neurosci* 25: 3219-28
- Stellwagen D, Malenka RC. 2006. Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNF-alpha. *Nature* 440: 1054-9
- Stockl M, Claessens MM, Subramaniam V. 2012. Kinetic measurements give new insights into lipid membrane permeabilization by alpha-synuclein oligomers. *Mol Biosyst* 8: 338-45
- Stockl MT, Zijlstra N, Subramaniam V. 2013. alpha-Synuclein oligomers: an amyloid pore? Insights into mechanisms of alpha-synuclein oligomer-lipid interactions. *Molecular neurobiology* 47: 613-21

- Stout RD, Jiang C, Matta B, Tietzel I, Watkins SK, Suttles J. 2005. Macrophages sequentially change their functional phenotype in response to changes in microenvironmental influences. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 175: 342-9
- Streit WJ. 2002. Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS. *Glia* 40: 133-9
- Su X, Federoff HJ, Maguire-Zeiss KA. 2009. Mutant alpha-synuclein overexpression mediates early proinflammatory activity. *Neurotoxicity research* 16: 238-54
- Su X, Maguire-Zeiss KA, Giuliano R, Prifti L, Venkatesh K, Federoff HJ. 2008. Synuclein activates microglia in a model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of aging* 29: 1690-701
- Sugeno N, Takeda A, Hasegawa T, Kobayashi M, Kikuchi A, et al. 2008. Serine 129 phosphorylation of alpha-synuclein induces unfolded protein response-mediated cell death. *J Biol Chem* 283: 23179-88
- Sunderkotter C, Steinbrink K, Goebeler M, Bhardwaj R, Sorg C. 1994. Macrophages and angiogenesis. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 55: 410-22
- Sung JY, Kim J, Paik SR, Park JH, Ahn YS, Chung KC. 2001. Induction of neuronal cell death by Rab5A-dependent endocytosis of alpha-synuclein. *J Biol Chem* 276: 27441-8
- Swain RA, Harris AB, Wiener EC, Dutka MV, Morris HD, et al. 2003. Prolonged exercise induces angiogenesis and increases cerebral blood volume in primary motor cortex of the rat. *Neuroscience* 117: 1037-46
- Swant J, Goodwin JS, North A, Ali AA, Gamble-George J, et al. 2011. alpha-Synuclein stimulates a dopamine transporter-dependent chloride current and modulates the activity of the transporter. *J Biol Chem* 286: 43933-43
- Szade A, Grochot-Przeczek A, Florczyk U, Jozkowicz A, Dulak J. 2015. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of inflammation-induced angiogenesis. *IUBMB life* 67: 145-59
- Tanaka S, Ishii A, Ohtaki H, Shioda S, Yoshida T, Numazawa S. 2013. Activation of microglia induces symptoms of Parkinson's disease in wild-type, but not in IL-1 knockout mice. *J Neuroinflammation* 10: 143
- Tanaka Y, Engelender S, Igarashi S, Rao RK, Wanner T, et al. 2001. Inducible expression of mutant alpha-synuclein decreases proteasome activity and increases sensitivity to mitochondria-dependent apoptosis. *Human molecular genetics* 10: 919-26
- Tanik SA, Schultheiss CE, Volpicelli-Daley LA, Brunden KR, Lee VM. 2013. Lewy body-like alpha-synuclein aggregates resist degradation and impair macroautophagy. *J Biol Chem* 288: 15194-210
- Tansey MG, Goldberg MS. 2010. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: its role in neuronal death and implications for therapeutic intervention. *Neurobiol Dis* 37: 510-8
- Teema AM, Zaitone SA, Moustafa YM. 2016. Ibuprofen or piroxicam protects nigral neurons and delays the development of 1-dopa induced dyskinesia in rats with experimental Parkinsonism: Influence on angiogenesis. *Neuropharmacology* 107: 432-50
- Teismann P, Vila M, Choi DK, Tieu K, Wu DC, et al. 2003. COX-2 and neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 991: 272-7
- Tenreiro S, Eckermann K, Outeiro TF. 2014. Protein phosphorylation in neurodegeneration: friend or foe? *Front Mol Neurosci* 7: 42
- Thakur P, Breger LS, Lundblad M, Wan OW, Mattsson B, et al. 2017. Modeling Parkinson's disease pathology by combination of fibril seeds and alpha-synuclein overexpression in the rat brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 114: E8284-E93

- Thayanidhi N, Helm JR, Nycz DC, Bentley M, Liang Y, Hay JC. 2010. Alpha-synuclein delays endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-to-Golgi transport in mammalian cells by antagonizing ER/Golgi SNAREs. *Molecular biology of the cell* 21: 1850-63
- Theillet FX, Binolfi A, Bekei B, Martorana A, Rose HM, et al. 2016. Structural disorder of monomeric alpha-synuclein persists in mammalian cells. *Nature* 530: 45-50
- Theodore S, Cao S, McLean PJ, Standaert DG. 2008. Targeted overexpression of human alphasynuclein triggers microglial activation and an adaptive immune response in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 67: 1149-58
- Tofaris GK, Garcia Reitbock P, Humby T, Lambourne SL, O'Connell M, et al. 2006. Pathological changes in dopaminergic nerve cells of the substantia nigra and olfactory bulb in mice transgenic for truncated human alpha-synuclein(1-120): implications for Lewy body disorders. *J Neurosci* 26: 3942-50
- Tofaris GK, Razzaq A, Ghetti B, Lilley KS, Spillantini MG. 2003. Ubiquitination of alphasynuclein in Lewy bodies is a pathological event not associated with impairment of proteasome function. *J Biol Chem* 278: 44405-11
- Tokuda T, Qureshi MM, Ardah MT, Varghese S, Shehab SA, et al. 2010. Detection of elevated levels of alpha-synuclein oligomers in CSF from patients with Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 75: 1766-72
- Tosatto L, Andrighetti AO, Plotegher N, Antonini V, Tessari I, et al. 2012. Alpha-synuclein pore forming activity upon membrane association. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1818: 2876-83
- Tremblay ME, Lowery RL, Majewska AK. 2010. Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. *PLoS biology* 8: e1000527
- Tronci E, Napolitano F, Munoz A, Fidalgo C, Rossi F, et al. 2017. BDNF over-expression induces striatal serotonin fiber sprouting and increases the susceptibility to 1-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. *Exp Neurol* 297: 73-81
- Tweedie D, Ferguson RA, Fishman K, Frankola KA, Van Praag H, et al. 2012. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha synthesis inhibitor 3,6'-dithiothalidomide attenuates markers of inflammation, Alzheimer pathology and behavioral deficits in animal models of neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroinflammation* 9: 106
- Tweedie D, Frankola KA, Luo W, Li Y, Greig NH. 2011. Thalidomide Analogues Suppress Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Synthesis of TNF-alpha and Nitrite, an Intermediate of Nitric Oxide, in a Cellular Model of Inflammation. *Open Biochem J* 5: 37-44
- Tweedie D, Luo W, Short RG, Brossi A, Holloway HW, et al. 2009. A cellular model of inflammation for identifying TNF-alpha synthesis inhibitors. *Journal of neuroscience methods* 183: 182-7
- Ulusoy A, Decressac M, Kirik D, Bjorklund A. 2010. Viral vector-mediated overexpression of alpha-synuclein as a progressive model of Parkinson's disease. *Progress in brain research* 184: 89-111
- Uversky VN, Li J, Fink AL. 2001. Metal-triggered structural transformations, aggregation, and fibrillation of human alpha-synuclein. A possible molecular NK between Parkinson's disease and heavy metal exposure. *J Biol Chem* 276: 44284-96
- Vamvaca K, Volles MJ, Lansbury PT, Jr. 2009. The first N-terminal amino acids of alphasynuclein are essential for alpha-helical structure formation in vitro and membrane binding in yeast. *Journal of molecular biology* 389: 413-24

- van Rooijen BD, Claessens MM, Subramaniam V. 2010. Membrane interactions of oligomeric alpha-synuclein: potential role in Parkinson's disease. *Curr Protein Pept Sci* 11: 334-42
- Vargas KJ, Makani S, Davis T, Westphal CH, Castillo PE, Chandra SS. 2014. Synucleins regulate the kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *J Neurosci* 34: 9364-76
- Vasili E, Dominguez-Meijide A, Outeiro TF. 2019. Spreading of alpha-Synuclein and Tau: A Systematic Comparison of the Mechanisms Involved. *Front Mol Neurosci* 12: 107
- Vazquez-Claverie M, Garrido-Gil P, San Sebastian W, Izal-Azcarate A, Belzunegui S, et al. 2009. Acute and chronic 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine administrations elicit similar microglial activation in the substantia nigra of monkeys. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 68: 977-84
- Verhagen Metman L, Del Dotto P, van den Munckhof P, Fang J, Mouradian MM, Chase TN. 1998. Amantadine as treatment for dyskinesias and motor fluctuations in Parkinson's disease. *Neurology* 50: 1323-6
- Verreck FA, de Boer T, Langenberg DM, Hoeve MA, Kramer M, et al. 2004. Human IL-23producing type 1 macrophages promote but IL-10-producing type 2 macrophages subvert immunity to (myco)bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 4560-5
- Vezzani A, Viviani B. 2015. Neuromodulatory properties of inflammatory cytokines and their impact on neuronal excitability. *Neuropharmacology* 96: 70-82
- Villar-Pique A, Lopes da Fonseca T, Outeiro TF. 2016. Structure, function and toxicity of alphasynuclein: the Bermuda triangle in synucleinopathies. *J Neurochem* 139 Suppl 1: 240-55
- Volles MJ, Lansbury PT, Jr. 2002. Vesicle permeabilization by protofibrillar alpha-synuclein is sensitive to Parkinson's disease-linked mutations and occurs by a pore-like mechanism. *Biochemistry* 41: 4595-602
- Volles MJ, Lee SJ, Rochet JC, Shtilerman MD, Ding TT, et al. 2001. Vesicle permeabilization by protofibrillar alpha-synuclein: implications for the pathogenesis and treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Biochemistry* 40: 7812-9
- von Bernhardi R, Tichauer JE, Eugenin J. 2010. Aging-dependent changes of microglial cells and their relevance for neurodegenerative disorders. *J Neurochem* 112: 1099-114
- Wakamatsu M, Ishii A, Ukai Y, Sakagami J, Iwata S, et al. 2007. Accumulation of phosphorylated alpha-synuclein in dopaminergic neurons of transgenic mice that express human alpha-synuclein. *Journal of neuroscience research* 85: 1819-25
- Wakamatsu M, Iwata S, Funakoshi T, Yoshimoto M. 2008. Dopamine receptor agonists reverse behavioral abnormalities of alpha-synuclein transgenic mouse, a new model of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of neuroscience research* 86: 640-6
- Walsh S, Finn DP, Dowd E. 2011. Time-course of nigrostriatal neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation in the 6-hydroxydopamine-induced axonal and terminal lesion models of Parkinson's disease in the rat. *Neuroscience* 175: 251-61
- Wang S, Jing H, Yang H, Liu Z, Guo H, et al. 2015. Tanshinone I selectively suppresses proinflammatory genes expression in activated microglia and prevents nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. J Ethnopharmacol 164: 247-55
- Wang W, Perovic I, Chittuluru J, Kaganovich A, Nguyen LT, et al. 2011. A soluble alphasynuclein construct forms a dynamic tetramer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 17797-802
- Watson MB, Richter F, Lee SK, Gabby L, Wu J, et al. 2012. Regionally-specific microglial activation in young mice over-expressing human wildtype alpha-synuclein. *Exp Neurol* 237: 318-34

- Waxman EA, Giasson BI. 2008. Specificity and regulation of casein kinase-mediated phosphorylation of alpha-synuclein. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 67: 402-16
- Wegrzynowicz M, Bar-On D, Calo L, Anichtchik O, Iovino M, et al. 2019. Depopulation of dense alpha-synuclein aggregates is associated with rescue of dopamine neuron dysfunction and death in a new Parkinson's disease model. *Acta Neuropathol*
- Weinreb PH, Zhen W, Poon AW, Conway KA, Lansbury PT, Jr. 1996. NACP, a protein implicated in Alzheimer's disease and learning, is natively unfolded. *Biochemistry* 35: 13709-15
- Wersinger C, Rusnak M, Sidhu A. 2006. Modulation of the trafficking of the human serotonin transporter by human alpha-synuclein. *The European journal of neuroscience* 24: 55-64
- Westin JE, Lindgren HS, Gardi J, Nyengaard JR, Brundin P, et al. 2006. Endothelial proliferation and increased blood-brain barrier permeability in the basal ganglia in a rat model of 3,4-dihydroxyphenyl-L-alanine-induced dyskinesia. *J Neurosci* 26: 9448-61
- Williams-Gray CH, Wijeyekoon R, Yarnall AJ, Lawson RA, Breen DP, et al. 2016. Serum immune markers and disease progression in an incident Parkinson's disease cohort (ICICLE-PD). *Mov Disord* 31: 995-1003
- Wilms H, Rosenstiel P, Romero-Ramos M, Arlt A, Schafer H, et al. 2009. Suppression of MAP kinases inhibits microglial activation and attenuates neuronal cell death induced by alpha-synuclein protofibrils. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* 22: 897-909
- Winner B, Jappelli R, Maji SK, Desplats PA, Boyer L, et al. 2011. In vivo demonstration that alpha-synuclein oligomers are toxic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108: 4194-9
- Winslow AR, Chen CW, Corrochano S, Acevedo-Arozena A, Gordon DE, et al. 2010. alpha-Synuclein impairs macroautophagy: implications for Parkinson's disease. *J Cell Biol* 190: 1023-37
- Wolf SA, Boddeke HW, Kettenmann H. 2017. Microglia in Physiology and Disease. *Annual* review of physiology 79: 619-43
- Wood SJ, Wypych J, Steavenson S, Louis JC, Citron M, Biere AL. 1999. alpha-synuclein fibrillogenesis is nucleation-dependent. Implications for the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *J Biol Chem* 274: 19509-12
- Woods WS, Boettcher JM, Zhou DH, Kloepper KD, Hartman KL, et al. 2007. Conformationspecific binding of alpha-synuclein to novel protein partners detected by phage display and NMR spectroscopy. *J Biol Chem* 282: 34555-67
- Wrasidlo W, Tsigelny IF, Price DL, Dutta G, Rockenstein E, et al. 2016. A de novo compound targeting alpha-synuclein improves deficits in models of Parkinson's disease. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 139: 3217-36
- Wu DC, Jackson-Lewis V, Vila M, Tieu K, Teismann P, et al. 2002. Blockade of microglial activation is neuroprotective in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson disease. J Neurosci 22: 1763-71
- Wu Y, Dissing-Olesen L, MacVicar BA, Stevens B. 2015. Microglia: Dynamic Mediators of Synapse Development and Plasticity. *Trends in immunology* 36: 605-13
- Xia Q, Liao L, Cheng D, Duong DM, Gearing M, et al. 2008. Proteomic identification of novel proteins associated with Lewy bodies. *Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library* 13: 3850-6
- Xilouri M, Brekk OR, Stefanis L. 2013. alpha-Synuclein and protein degradation systems: a reciprocal relationship. *Molecular neurobiology* 47: 537-51

- Xilouri M, Vogiatzi T, Vekrellis K, Park D, Stefanis L. 2009. Abberant alpha-synuclein confers toxicity to neurons in part through inhibition of chaperone-mediated autophagy. *PLoS One* 4: e5515
- Xu L, Bhattacharya S, Thompson D. 2019. On the ubiquity of helical alpha-synuclein tetramers. *Phys Chem Chem Phys* 21: 12036-43
- Yamada K, Iwatsubo T. 2018. Extracellular alpha-synuclein levels are regulated by neuronal activity. *Molecular neurodegeneration* 13: 9
- Yang TT, Lin C, Hsu CT, Wang TF, Ke FY, Kuo YM. 2013. Differential distribution and activation of microglia in the brain of male C57BL/6J mice. *Brain Struct Funct* 218: 1051-60
- Yang Y, Qin M, Bao P, Xu W, Xu J. 2017. Secretory carrier membrane protein 5 is an autophagy inhibitor that promotes the secretion of alpha-synuclein via exosome. *PLoS One* 12: e0180892
- Yasuda Y, Shinagawa R, Yamada M, Mori T, Tateishi N, Fujita S. 2007. Long-lasting reactive changes observed in microglia in the striatal and substantia nigral of mice after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. *Brain research* 1138: 196-202
- Yavich L, Oksman M, Tanila H, Kerokoski P, Hiltunen M, et al. 2005. Locomotor activity and evoked dopamine release are reduced in mice overexpressing A30P-mutated human alpha-synuclein. *Neurobiol Dis* 20: 303-13
- Yonetani M, Nonaka T, Masuda M, Inukai Y, Oikawa T, et al. 2009. Conversion of wild-type alpha-synuclein into mutant-type fibrils and its propagation in the presence of A30P mutant. *J Biol Chem* 284: 7940-50
- Yoon JS, Lee JH, Tweedie D, Mughal MR, Chigurupati S, et al. 2013. 3,6'-dithiothalidomide improves experimental stroke outcome by suppressing neuroinflammation. *Journal of neuroscience research* 91: 671-80
- York EM, Bernier LP, MacVicar BA. 2018. Microglial modulation of neuronal activity in the healthy brain. *Developmental neurobiology* 78: 593-603
- Ysselstein D, Dehay B, Costantino IM, McCabe GP, Frosch MP, et al. 2017. Endosulfine-alpha inhibits membrane-induced alpha-synuclein aggregation and protects against alpha-synuclein neurotoxicity. *Acta Neuropathol Commun* 5: 3
- Yu S, Zuo X, Li Y, Zhang C, Zhou M, et al. 2004. Inhibition of tyrosine hydroxylase expression in alpha-synuclein-transfected dopaminergic neuronal cells. *Neurosci Lett* 367: 34-9
- Zarranz JJ, Alegre J, Gomez-Esteban JC, Lezcano E, Ros R, et al. 2004. The new mutation, E46K, of alpha-synuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Annals of neurology* 55: 164-73
- Zeiner PS, Preusse C, Blank AE, Zachskorn C, Baumgarten P, et al. 2015. MIF Receptor CD74 is Restricted to Microglia/Macrophages, Associated with a M1-Polarized Immune Milieu and Prolonged Patient Survival in Gliomas. *Brain pathology (Zurich, Switzerland)* 25: 491-504
- Zhang W, Wang T, Pei Z, Miller DS, Wu X, et al. 2005. Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J* 19: 533-42
- Zhao X, Wang J, Hu S, Wang R, Mao Y, Xie J. 2017. Neuroprotective effect of resveratrol on rotenone-treated C57BL/6 mice. *Neuroreport* 28: 498-505
- Zhu J, Paul WE. 2010. Heterogeneity and plasticity of T helper cells. Cell research 20: 4-12

- Zhu W, Chen W, Zou D, Wang L, Bao C, et al. 2018. Thalidomide Reduces Hemorrhage of Brain Arteriovenous Malformations in a Mouse Model. *Stroke* 49: 1232-40
- Zhu X, Giordano T, Yu QS, Holloway HW, Perry TA, et al. 2003. Thiothalidomides: novel isosteric analogues of thalidomide with enhanced TNF-alpha inhibitory activity. J Med Chem 46: 5222-9

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Laura Boi gratefully acknowledges Sardinia Regional Government for the financial support of her PhD scholarship (P.O.R. Sardegna F.S.E. Operational Programme of the Autonomous Region of Sardinia, European Social Fund 2014-2020).